Sex Differences in Opioid Prescribing Practices:

Do Differences Exist in Therapeutic Treatment Between Men and Women Presenting to the Emergency Department with Low Back Pain?

by

Alanna MacDonald

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada July 2023

Dalhousie University is located in Mi'kma'ki, the ancestral and unceded territory of the Mi'kmaq. We are all Treaty people.

© Copyright by Alanna MacDonald, 2023

# **DEDICATION**

My thesis is dedicated to the friends, family, and mentors, without whom this thesis would not have been possible. Thank you to my friends who have been a constant support. Thank you to my encouraging and loving family. Thank you to my patient and helpful committee.

## Contents

DEDICATION	ii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
ABSTRACT	viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II: BACKGROUND	
Identity, Sex and Gender	
The Role of One's Identity in the Healthcare system	
The Role of Sex and Gender in Health Research	
The Role of Sex in Chronic Pain and Pain Management	6
The Role of Sex in Substance Misuse and Abuse	
Opioids	9
Opioid Use in Canada	9
Opioid Harms in Canada	
Prescribing Practices	
Differences in Opioid Use by Men and Women	
Opioids and Emergency Care	
Low Back Pain	
Sex Differences in Low Back Pain	
Recommended Treatment of Low Back Pain	
Opioid Treatment of Low Back Pain	
Prevalence of Low Back Pain in the Emergency Care System	
Emergency Care in Nova Scotia	
Opioids, Low Back Pain, and the Emergency Care System	
Need for Research	
STUDY OBJECTIVES	
Objective of this Study	
CHAPTER III: METHODS	
Data	
Population of Study	21
Key Exposure	

Key Outcomes	22
Covariates/Other Measures	23
Missingness in the Data	24
DATA ANALYSES	24
Presentation (Question 1)	24
Diagnosis (Question 2)	25
Treatment in Emergency Care (Question 3)	25
Treatment Post Emergency Care (Question 4)	27
Sample Size and Power	27
Diagnosis (Question 2)	
Treatment in Emergency Care (Question 3)	
Treatment Post Emergency Care (Question 4)	29
Sensitivity Analyses	29
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	
Data Analysis	
Presentation (Question 1)	
Diagnosis (Question 2)	
Treatment in Emergency Care (Question 3)	
Treatment after Emergency Care (Question 4)	
Sensitivity Analyses	
Summary of Results	50
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	52
Statement of Principal Findings	52
Study Findings in Relation to Other studies	52
Strengths and weaknesses of the study	55
Meaning of the study: possible mechanisms and implications for clinicians or polic	cymakers 58
CHAPTER VI : CONCLUSION	63
STATEMENT	63
REFERENCES	64
APPENDICES	
Appendix A :Types of opioids as recommended in Canadian guideline for safe and use of opioids for chronic noncancer pain	effective 83
Appendix B : ICD Code classification taken from the previous study that collected t	this data84
Appendix C : Variables included in this study	

Apprendix D : Missingness in the both the full dataset and Pyxis dataset for QEII ED LBP patients attending from 2017-2020	88
Appendix E : DAG showing previously conceptualized relationships between sex and diagnosis of low back pain, and other variables	88
Appendix F : DAG showing previously conceptualized relationships between sex and receiving an opioid in the ED, and other variables	89
Appendix G : DAG showing previously conceptualized relationships between sex and filling an opioid after attending the ED, and other variables	90
Appendix H : Descriptive statistics (N, %, SD) for demographic and clinical differences between people who received a diagnosis of mechanical pain vs non-mechanical pain	91
Appendix I : Descriptive statistics (N, %, SD) for demographic and clinical differences between those who received an opioid in ED and those who did not who attended the QEII ED for LBP in the Pyxis Set	92
Appendix J : Descriptive statistics (N, %, SD) for demographic and clinical differences between those who filled a prescription after attending the QEII ED for LBP	93
Appendix K : Knowledge Translation	94
Appendix L : Funding	94

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Descriptive statistics (N, %, SD) for demographic and clinicaldifferences between men and women who attended the QEII ED for LBP
Table 2 Descriptive statistics (N, %, SD) for demographic and clinicaldifferences between men and women who attended the QEII ED for LBPin the Pyxis Set
Table 3 Drug Information on patients receiving multiple drugs whoattended the QEII ED for LBP
Table 4 Top five most common discharge diagnoses for men and womenwho attended the QEII ED for LBP between 2017 – 2020
Table 5 Unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression (OR and 95% CI)of mechanical pain diagnosis on patient sex and other covariates amongQEII ED LBP patients
Table 6 Unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression (OR and 95% CI)of receiving opioid in ED on patient sex and other covariates amongQEII ED LBP patients for Pyxis set
Table 7 Unadjusted and adjusted linear regression (Coefficient and95% CI) of opioid dose (MME) on patient sex and other covariatesamong QEII ED LBP patients in Pyxis set
Table 8 Unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression (OR and 95%CI) of filling an opioid prescription after attending the QEII ED forLBP on patient sex and other covariates
Table 9 Unadjusted and adjusted linear regression (Coefficient and95% CI) of opioid dose from pharmacy on patient sex and othercovariates among QEII ED LBP patients
Table 10 Unadjusted and adjusted linear regression (Coefficient and95% CI) of days' supply from pharmacy on patient sex and othercovariates among QEII ED LBP patients
Table 11 Summary table of relevant outcomes for men and women   from previous sections

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Patient flow chart showing exclusions due to study criteria	
and data checking. The figure shows the Non-Pyxis dataset as well	
as the Pyxis dataset, and their associated databases	30

### ABSTRACT

#### **Objectives**

The primary objective of this study was to investigate sex/gender differences in the experiences of patients seeking pain management from the healthcare system through the comparison of their presentation, diagnosis, and treatment in and after a discharge from the Emergency Department (ED). The focus was patients experiencing low back pain, a frequently occurring condition, with a high likelihood of pain management treatment through opioids.

#### Methods

This study was a retrospective cohort design using health administrative data. I used data from two existing datasets. I considered sex and gender as the exposure variable, using the concept of entanglement. For my outcomes, I examined differences in the nature of the diagnosis and treatment in and after urgent care between men and women. I conducted descriptive statistics of demographic and clinical differences in men and women attending the ED. I then performed inferential analyses including logistic and linear regression modelling with clustering of patients.

#### Results

A total of 4 027 men and women attended the ED and data was available for 548 of these participants whether a prescription was administered in ED or was not. Women had a longer average stay than men, while men were more likely to be diagnosed with mechanical back pain. There were no significant differences in the odds of receiving opioids in ED between men and women. An adjusted logistic regression model found that men were more likely to fill a prescription than women (aOR for women: 0.72 [0.59,0.88]). There were no significant differences in doses or the nature of the prescription between men and women.

#### Discussion

This study provides information on sex differences in treatment of low back pain. While men were found to be more likely to fill prescriptions, this may be due to two potential explanations: men were more likely to fill a prescription at the pharmacy, or men were more likely to receive prescriptions in the ED. Understanding sex differences in what opioids men and women receive may lead to a better understanding of sex differences in the risk of developing problematic use of opioids. This research may help to inform policy when creating sex-specific prescribing practices for opioids in urgent care.

viii

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- AIC Akaike information criterion
- BIC Bayesian information criterion
- CIMD Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation Atlantic
- CTAS Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale
- ED Emergency Department
- LBP Low back pain
- OR Odds ratio
- QEII Queen Elizabeth II
- QQ Plot Quantile-Quantile plot
- VIF Variance Inflation Factor

### **CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION**

A person's identity influences all facets of their life. Although many characteristics comprise a person's identity, sex is one aspect that is foundational. Sex has long influenced how a person experiences the world, and in particular, the healthcare system.<sup>1</sup> Sex alters anatomy, hormones, physiology, and many other characteristics of a person. Differing from sex, gender also influences how a person experiences and interacts with the healthcare system, although this manifests in other ways, such as expectations of adherence to gender roles, help seeking, and treatment decisions by healthcare workers. Sex and gender have the power to alter how patients behave and are treated.

Gender and sex are understudied in certain areas of healthcare, although they influence how one navigates the world. One area where there have been calls to increase research is in the effect of gender and sex on substance use and abuse.<sup>1–4</sup> Differences have been observed in use and abuse between men and women, as well as biological differences in effects and likelihood of developing dependence between males and females (in my study, I will use male and female when discussing the impact of sex, and men and women when acknowledging gender as well).<sup>4–6</sup> Opioids are one substance where differences between men and women have been observed, ranging across factors such as the source of their opioids, to their likelihood of developing dependence, to the chances of experiencing an overdose.<sup>7–9</sup>

The ongoing opioid crisis in Canada has resulted in significant growth in research into opioid prescribing, use, and related consequences. A key feature of the opioid crisis has been the significant rise in opioid overdoses, particularly in the past decade, with further increases being observed during the COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>10</sup> Although most of these overdoses involve illegal opioids, notably fentanyl, it is important to note the contribution of prescribed opioids to the opioid crisis. Opioids are frequently prescribed for acute pain, as well as chronic non-cancer and cancer pain. Although opioids are not recommended as the first line of treatment for most conditions, they can be an effective second line of treatment if optimized non-opioid treatment is not providing appropriate pain relief.<sup>11,12</sup> Opioids have notable side effects such as vomiting, constipation, depression, adverse reactions, or coma.<sup>7</sup> There is also a risk of dependence or addiction with opioids, where the Canadian Guideline for Opioid Therapy and

Chronic Non-Cancer Pain reported a 5.5% chance of developing an addiction to opioids if treatment was longer than 90 days.<sup>13</sup>

Low back pain (LBP) is a health issue where opioids are frequently prescribed.<sup>14–16</sup> LBP refers to a musculoskeletal condition and is now considered the global leading cause of disability as listed by the Global Burden of Disease study.<sup>17–19</sup> Most LBP is described as 'nonspecific LBP', where there is no diagnosed reason for the pain.<sup>20</sup> The majority of adults will experience an episode of LBP in their lifetime, and LBP was the fourth most common reason for presentation at the emergency department (ED) in Canada in 2019 and third most common reason in 2020.<sup>21–23</sup> Although other treatments are recommended before opioids, including other drugs such as acetaminophen or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS), opioids are often prescribed to patients presenting to the ED with LBP.<sup>20,24,25</sup> These can range from weaker opioids, such as tramadol or codeine, to stronger opioids, such as morphine or hydromorphone.

As LBP is one of the most common reasons for presentations to the ED and one of the conditions where opioids are frequently prescribed, LBP is an appropriate avenue to investigate sex differences in opioid prescribing.<sup>15,22</sup> Differences between the sexes may exist navigating the healthcare system in an attempt to receive treatment for pain management. Men and women may present to the ED at different rates, either through a different prevalence of LBP or differences in the likelihood of help-seeking behaviours. There may be discrepancies in how physicians and other healthcare providers decide to treat men and women, including the choice of treatment (non-pharmaceutical or pharmaceutical treatments), the use of non-opioid based medicines or differences in opioid prescription regarding type of opioid, dose, or supply.

Chapter II of this thesis provides background about relevant subjects for this thesis. The first section explores the role of sex in health care, notably pain management and substance use. Next, I provide information on opioids, opioid harms, and prescribing practices. Then, I review evidence about the epidemiology and treatment of LBP. A background on emergency care is also supplied.

In Chapter III and IV, I describe the methods and results for my thesis, which aims to answer the question: do differences exist in therapeutic opioid treatment between men and women presenting to the ED with LBP? I used two health administrative datasets, which

contain information on ED presentations for LBP at the Queen Elizabeth II (QEII) Health Sciences Centre in Halifax, Nova Scotia during 2016-2020. To compare sex differences at presentation, I explore clinical and demographic differences in men and women that present to the ED. Second, I look at differences in the nature of the diagnoses received by men and women after seeking emergency care for LBP, such as the presence of non-specific vs. specific diagnoses. Third, I compare sex differences in treatment while in emergency care. Fourth, I examine sex differences in recommended treatment for LBP post emergency care. Last, I discuss the strengths, limitations, and importance of this study in Chapter V.

## **CHAPTER II: BACKGROUND**

#### Identity, Sex and Gender

The Role of One's Identity in the Healthcare system

A person's identity, through factors such as sex, race, class, disability, influences all aspects of their life. In school, employment, life opportunities and other areas, identity plays a central role in how people experience the world. The healthcare system is no different. Identity plays a role in how people are treated within the healthcare system. Class is also social determinant of health, and this is frequently tied to education, wealth and poverty, where worse health can result through less access to resources, living in poorer and more dangerous environments, and worse working conditions.<sup>26,27</sup> Race also influences experiences within the Canadian healthcare system, where people of colour, notably those who are indigenous or African-Canadian, can receive poorer quality treatment as well as experiencing systemic racism or even outright bigotry from healthcare workers.<sup>28–30</sup> It can be difficult to assess differences in health and healthcare treatment due to a lack of race-based data in Canadian healthcare administrative data. Disability can also impact experiences, through inadequate access to care or discriminatory treatment within the system.<sup>31</sup> Sex and gender are also notable determinants of health care.

#### The Role of Sex and Gender in Health Research

Sex and gender are two features of one's identity that can greatly influence a person's experiences within the healthcare system.<sup>1</sup> Sex refers to the biological characteristics of a person, such as hormones, physiology, genetics, or general anatomy.<sup>32</sup> Previously, most research has centred on the binary division of sex, where individuals with an XX chromosome are female and those with an XY chromosome are considered male.<sup>32</sup> This binary definition provides inadequate inclusion of individuals who are intersex, or who have alternate sex chromosomes, such as XXY, XYY, or XO (no second sex chromosome).<sup>32</sup> Depending on the definition of intersex used, estimates of the proportion of the population have fallen between 0.018 to 1.7% of the population, although this varies in whether those with chromosomal abnormalities are included in this statistic.<sup>33</sup> Sex affects health and subsequent healthcare on virtually every level. As frequently quoted, "every cell has a sex", which is used to emphasize that on the most fundamental biological level, there are sex differences in biological and

biochemical mechanisms.<sup>34</sup> Although differences in the reproductive system are thought of as the main difference between men and women, there are foundational differences in each cell due to the presence of the sex chromosomes, which lead to foundational differences even at the cellular level. It is imperative, then, to incorporate sex into studies on health.

In contrast, gender refers to the social and cultural identity of an individual rather than the biological identity.<sup>2,35</sup> This can include cultural expectations of behaviour and roles, as well as socializing of behaviours, thoughts, and opinions in individuals from infancy.<sup>2,35</sup> Gender roles, performance and expectations can also alter how people are perceived by others.<sup>35</sup> Gender affects health care in a different manner than sex: whereas sex affects health on a biological level, gender identity and gender roles can affect the behaviours and thoughts of those seeking health care and those providing it.<sup>1,2,36–38</sup>

In previous health research, the concepts of sex and gender have often been conflated.<sup>32,39</sup> They have been used synonymously, which is incorrect.<sup>32</sup> Separating the concepts entirely, however, also can cause issues.<sup>39</sup> For epidemiology, health administrative data frequently omits information on gender. This has led to sex being used as a variable in research, but not gender. But this does not mean that gender is not affecting differences between men and women. Springer et al. propose the concept of entanglement for sex and gender, where the two are distinct concepts, but are noticed to interact.<sup>39</sup> They further suggest that while sex is the predominantly studied variable, sex differences are often influenced by unmeasured aspects of gender.<sup>39</sup> Springer et al. give a useful example for understanding this concept.<sup>39</sup> They examined a difference historically attributed to sex, a difference in glucose metabolism in females and males that acts as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease and observed that difference in muscle mass has been found to explain differences in glucose metabolism more accurately than sex in previous studies. Then, they point to various social influences that affect men and women's difference in muscle mass - differential nutrition, aesthetic expectations and norms, type of employment, exercise habits – and state that these differences may contribute to differences in muscle mass, and so glucose metabolism is altered, which then becomes a risk factor for cardiovascular disease.<sup>39</sup> By using sex/gender as a variable, I can allow for the acknowledgment that many "sex differences" in health care may be attributed to both gender and sex. Unfortunately, transgendered and non-binary individuals can

not be accounted for using this concept. While non-binary and transgendered persons are important to acknowledge, they respectively comprise approximately 0.22% and 0.26% of the Nova Scotian population, which is difficult to study due to their small population size.<sup>40</sup>

One example of the intersection of sex and gender is in health care seeking behaviours. Women have been documented to access health care more frequently than men.<sup>37</sup> Several physical and cultural explanations have been offered as reasons for these differences. In terms of biology, women are more likely to experience chronic conditions, and chronic conditions significantly raise healthcare utilization.<sup>37,41</sup> When controlling for number of chronic conditions, however, women have reported better health than men.<sup>42</sup> Another study examining sex differences in healthcare expenditures found that although women had higher expenditures, 22% of women's healthcare expenditures were sex-based, such as pregnancy or childbirth, compared to only 3% of men's healthcare expenditures.<sup>43</sup> Women have also been observed to be more likely to be disabled, which is also associated with higher healthcare utilization.<sup>37,44</sup> Another proposed reason for women's higher rates of accessing health care is that women are more likely to engage in health care seeking behaviours than men due to gender roles and expectations. It has been previously reported that men feel that they are not supposed to complain or to report pain or issues that would be seen as a sign of weakness; whereas for women, help seeking is perceived as more acceptable.<sup>38</sup> Additionally, men have been documented to be more likely to leave against medical advice when seeking medical aid.<sup>45</sup> It is significant to mention, then, that issues of anatomy and physiology may intersect with gender roles and expectations to create sex/gender differences in health care, where it may not be easy to disentangle the two concepts. As such, moving forward, I will discuss sex, but this does not exclude the influence that gender may have.

#### The Role of Sex in Chronic Pain and Pain Management

One area of health care where sex can play an important role is in pain management, whether chronic or acute. Certain pain conditions are frequently more prevalent in one sex than the other: some conditions, such as migraines, LBP, or osteoarthritis, are more common in females, while conditions, such as duodenal ulcers, ankylosing spondylitis, or cluster headaches, are more common in males.<sup>46,47</sup> There are important biological differences between the sexes that impact how males and females feel pain, such as hormonal differences.

Hormonal differences in estrogen and testosterone have been reported to influence sex differences in experiences of pain, where testosterone may have a protective effect and changing levels in estrogen may impact females' pain levels.<sup>48–50</sup> Hormone cyclicity has been observed to also alter female reporting of pain, where depending on the point in their menstruation cycle, female patients may describe pain differently.<sup>47</sup> Other studies have reported higher pain sensitivity in females, as well as an increased risk for clinical pain and post operative pain.<sup>50</sup> Females have been observed to respond to pharmaceutical treatment differently than males, possibly due to hormonal fluctuations and or different receptivity of pain analgesic receptors, such as mu-opioid receptors, in the brain, which can affect treatment for pain.<sup>46,50</sup>

Gender can also alter how men and women report pain.<sup>51</sup> As previously mentioned, women have been documented to show more health-seeking behaviours. There is a cultural stereotype that women are more likely and willing to report pain than men, which has been supported by previous literature.<sup>51,52</sup> In a scoping literature review on gender bias in health care and gendered norms towards patients with chronic pain, men often reported that they avoided seeking health services, did not discuss pain or felt less masculine due to their chronic pain. Meanwhile, women were perceived as being more sensitive to pain, and women reported feeling mistrusted by health professionals.<sup>38</sup> One study in the United Kingdom found that health care providers were more likely to believe women were exaggerating their pain and believed that men had higher levels of pain.<sup>53</sup> That being said, women can also be perceived to have higher pain by physicians as they are more likely to report pain.<sup>54,55</sup> So, while women have been observed to report higher levels of pain, they may be susceptible to being perceived as dramatizing or overexaggerating.<sup>55</sup> Some researchers have also reported that women tend to catastrophize their pain.<sup>56</sup> Due to these psychosocial factors, gender may be affecting how men and women report their pain and may influence their willingness to seek help for pain management.

The sex and gender of the physician may also influence care in this area. One study in France found that of ED physicians, male physicians perceived women as being in less pain than men, compared to female physicians who perceived women and men similarly.<sup>57</sup> Men have been previously observed to be more hesitant to report symptoms to female physicians.<sup>58</sup>

Female physicians have been observed to spend more time with patients and to provide more follow up, although it has also been noted that they are more likely to treat women, who have more chronic conditions and tend to spend more time with physicians overall.<sup>59,60</sup> Male physicians were observed to spend more time on physical examinations and obtaining patient history during a visit.<sup>59</sup> Patients tend to prefer primary care physicians that are the same sex as themselves.<sup>61</sup> It has also been observed that gender concordant patient – doctor pairings are also more likely to have longer visits.<sup>59,62,63</sup>

#### The Role of Sex in Substance Misuse and Abuse

Substance use is an area of medicine that has been neglected for study and that calls for a sex analysis. Sex can alter how an individual experiences substance use, altering the quantity needed to be intoxicated or affected, and can also affect the likelihood of developing harmful or problem use.<sup>4–6</sup> In terms of the use of prescription medications, sex of the patient has also been observed to affect the likelihood of adherence to prescribing guidelines, as well as the likelihood of receiving a prescription that aligns with current guidelines.<sup>64</sup> Sex may also affect the quantity needed to damage the body or brain, or affect the chance of overdose.<sup>2,65</sup> There have been calls to increase the amount of research into the interaction of sex and gender with the use of substances and medications, and associated benefits and harms.<sup>2,66</sup>

Physician sex may also affect the substances available to patients and subsequent usage patterns. In a German study looking at prescriptions for congestive heart failure, male patients were equally likely to be prescribed medications and similar doses, regardless of physician sex, whereas female patients were prescribed medication less frequently and with lower doses when prescribed with a male physician, as compared to female patients treated by a female physician. The authors wrote that "A female patient was likely to receive the worst medical treatment from a male physician, whereas male patients were best treated by a female physician".<sup>67</sup> Female physicians have also been observed to be more conservative in prescribing practices, and more likely to prescribe lower than recommended dosages.<sup>68</sup> Female physicians are less likely to prescribe harmful or unnecessary treatments.<sup>69</sup> One previous study has found that female physicians are more likely to prescribe opioids as a first line treatment for LBP.<sup>70</sup> Male physicians, however, are more likely to discuss alcohol, cigarette and substance use than female physicians.<sup>59</sup>

#### Opioids

In this section, I will discuss opioids as one aspect where there are sex and gender differences in experiencing the healthcare system. This will include an overview of use, harms, prescribing practices, and previously observed sex differences in the literature.

#### Opioid Use in Canada

Pain management is a central feature of health care for patients due to acute injury, post-operative pain, chronic conditions such as LBP, or cancer. Opioids are a common analgesic prescribed to many Canadians to manage their pain. Opioids are usually categorized as either weak, such as codeine, tramadol, and buprenorphine, or strong, such as oxycodone, hydromorphone, morphine, or fentanyl.<sup>11,71–73</sup> The definition of strong and weak comes from comparing the opioid dosage to the equivalent in morphine by using the morphine milligram equivalent (MME), where the dosage of the opioid is multiplied by the morphine conversion factor for that specific opioid to convert the dosage of the given opioid to the dosage in MME.<sup>12</sup> This classification has been previously defined by examining whether the morphine conversion factor is 0.3 or less.<sup>73</sup> Appendix A presents the opioids recommended in the Canadian guideline for safe and effective use for chronic noncancer pain.<sup>11</sup> Opioids are typically prescribed to patients seeking pain management at age 15 and older.<sup>74</sup> Common reasons for opioid prescriptions include cancer pain, chronic noncancer pain, trauma, or surgery.<sup>75</sup> In a study using administrative health data in Ontario, Canada, 40% of patients with a recent cancer diagnosis had an opioid prescription that year, compared to 27% of patients without a cancer diagnosis.<sup>76</sup> A systematic review examining chronic non-cancer pain in various countries found a pooled estimate that approximately 31% of chronic non-cancer pain patients are prescribed opioids.<sup>77</sup> Trauma and surgery have been documented to have even higher rates of opioid prescription. In one study comparing opioid prescriptions after surgery in the United States, Sweden, and Canada, Canadian patients were the most likely to fill a prescription for opioids within 7 days of surgery with 79% of 84 653 patients filling an opioid prescription, although the dose in Canada was observed to be lower than the United States or in Sweden.<sup>78</sup> Another study examining opioid prescription after trauma in the United States military found that more than half of participants were prescribed opioids at discharge.<sup>79</sup> For the year ending June 2020, 'all type' opioid use prevalence in Canada was approximately 11.8%.<sup>7</sup> In the previous decade, Canada had the second highest level of prescription opioid use

globally, although this has been decreasing in recent years.<sup>80,81</sup> This prevalence varies by region; in Nova Scotia, use has been estimated to be 15% among adults.<sup>82</sup>

#### Opioid Harms in Canada

Unfortunately, potential complications can arise from opioid use. There are risks with short-term use, where opioids can cause vomiting and drowsiness at low doses, and can cause respiratory depression, adverse reactions, or coma at a higher doses.<sup>7</sup> Regular use of opioids during pregnancy increases the risk of premature birth and opioid withdrawal in the infant.<sup>7</sup> Other opioid harms include hospitalization for opioid use disorders.<sup>71</sup>

Prolonged opioid use has recently been identified as an important outcome in the study of opioid related harms, where patients are using opioids for a longer time than initially intended by the healthcare provider or by the patient. This is often difficult to capture in studies, however, as it is difficult and costly to monitor use, and prescription fills are often used as an indicator instead. Definitions may be based on patients receiving additional refills within a set time (e.g. 90 days) of the initial presentation to the health care provider.<sup>83–85</sup> Other investigators may use the length of prescription, for example, defined as longer than 90 or 120 days as sufficient for evidence of prolonged use.<sup>86–90</sup>

Due to their addictive risk, there is a high likelihood of developing problems when prolonged opioid use occurs. The Canadian Guideline for Opioid Therapy and Chronic Non-Cancer Pain found that there was a 5.5% chance of developing addiction or dependence to opioids with prolonged opioid therapy, if the treatment is longer than 90 days.<sup>13</sup> Martin and colleagues examined patients who were prescribed 90 days of opioids for non-cancer chronic pain, and they found that more than half were still taking opioids years later.<sup>91</sup> Another study in the United States of 478 981 opioid-naïve patients with newly diagnosed low back or lower extremity pain found that 4% of patients went on to have prolonged use.<sup>92</sup> Duration of opioid treatment is another factor that can affect likelihood of prolonged use leading to misuse. One study with 568 612 patients in a retrospective cohort study found that, after adjusting for covariates, each additional refill of opioids increased the average rate of misuse by 44% and each additional week of opioid use increased the average rate of misuse by 20%.<sup>93</sup>

There is a chance that treatment for an acute or chronic condition may result in prolonged opioid use, and this may also put a person at risk of developing opioid dependence or addiction.<sup>94</sup> Opioid dependence refers to the body becoming dependent on opioids to function normally, where stopping opioids may cause negative health outcomes. Dependence may also refer to behavioural, cognitive, or physiological issues that arise from their use.<sup>7,95,96</sup> It is important to note that physical dependence may not necessarily result in addiction, although dependence is usually a component of addiction. For some studies, a diagnosis of opioid dependence as listed on the ICD has been sufficient for a label of addiction for the patient.<sup>97–99</sup> This has resulted in some blending of the concepts in the literature where it can be difficult to distinguish the two.<sup>95</sup> In contrast to dependence, addiction refers to the behaviours and circumstances where one obtains and uses the opioid, which include misuse and abuse.<sup>95</sup> Misuse may refer to taking opioids not as prescribed, or obtaining opioids not prescribed to them. Misuse may also refer to taking more at a time than prescribed, or tampering with the opioids.<sup>94</sup> There is also description of misuse pertaining to opioids use via an alternate route of delivery, such as through inhalation.<sup>100</sup>

Although the terms addiction and dependence have been used historically, the new Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-V) has moved from using these terms and has now grouped them into a single disorder known as substance use disorder, with different levels of severity based on use patterns, effect on daily life, and issues with controlling their intake.<sup>101</sup> Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) is defined as "a problematic pattern of opioid use leading to clinically significant impairment or distress".<sup>102</sup> Diagnosing OUD is guided by multiple criteria, such as tolerance, withdrawal, and cravings of opioids, and the number of criteria exhibited by the patient aid in determining the severity of the disorder.<sup>102</sup>

Although many of these harms can be attributed to illicit opioids (including heroin and fentanyl), opioids prescribed by healthcare professionals are also responsible for a share of these harms. A study examining opioid related deaths in Ontario found that between 33% and 38% of people who died from opioid overdose had an active prescription for an opioid.<sup>103</sup> One study followed patients who had lumbar fusion operations and found that an opioid related overdose (whether alone or combined with other drugs) was the most common cause of death in the following three years after surgery.<sup>104</sup> During the pandemic, however, it has been

documented that although opioid related deaths are increasing, the proportion related to heroin and fentanyl has been increasing as compared to opioids related to pain management such as hydromorphone or morphine.<sup>105</sup> Jones et al. examined the defined daily doses of opioids dispensed per 1 000 people per day, and the opioid related hospitalization rates for each province, and found a correlation between opioid dispensing and opioid related hospitalizations; in Nova Scotia, the correlation was r=0.78.<sup>106</sup>

#### Prescribing Practices

There have been attempts in recent years to change prescription practices to safer supplies and doses. Overall, fewer people are being prescribed opioids, and opioids are being prescribed for shorter durations and in smaller doses.<sup>71</sup> Higher pain intensity is associated with a higher likelihood of being prescribed opioids, although prescription of opioids is associated with lower patient satisfaction and greater pain intensity reported later.<sup>107,108</sup> There are currently attempts to further decrease opioid prescribing, as well as attempts to change prescribing practices so that prescriptions align with a lower risk for prolonged use, addiction and subsequent negative consequences of opioids.<sup>13,71,75</sup>

One aspect of prescribing practices that has been changing in recent years is dose. Previously, there were few recommendations for opioid dose, and this was left to the discretion of the physician.<sup>95</sup> By lowering the dose of opioids, there can be a decrease in the risks for opioid misuse or overdose.<sup>13,75,109</sup> As morphine milligram equivalent (MME) increase, the likelihood of prolonged use also increases.<sup>75,84,110</sup> The Canadian Guideline for Opioid Therapy and Chronic Non-Cancer Pain and the Centre for Disease Control (CDC) both recommend avoiding doses above 90 milligram morphine equivalents (MME)/day, while the Canadian guideline further makes a further conservative suggestion to avoid doses above 50 milligram morphine equivalents (MME)/day.<sup>12,13</sup>

Another feature of opioid prescribing is the days' supply of the opioid. Days' supply refers to the number of days that the prescription is provided to the user; if the days' supply is 5, then 5 days worth of opioids has been provided. It has been previously found that as the days' supply of opioids increases, there is a lower likelihood of discontinuation of opioids, leading to unintentional long term use.<sup>75</sup> The CDC states that for acute pain, three days' supply is often sufficient, and seven days' supply should definitely be sufficient, as increasing days'

supply is associated with unnecessary prolonged use.<sup>12</sup> Opioid prescribing practices have been changing in Canada, where the days' supply has been decreasing. Overall, the average duration of supply for people starting opioids was shorter in 2017 (12.8 days) compared with 2013 (13.4 days), although this is still longer than research evidence and guidelines have recommended.<sup>71</sup> Decreasing days' supply of medication has previously been associated with higher transactional costs, and as such, higher pharmaceutical costs, and is, therefore, considered less cost effective.<sup>111</sup>

In adopting changes to prescribing practices, there is potential to avoid cases of prolonged use, and subsequently, opioid harms. Providing education and guidelines on opioid prescribing has been shown to be effective in lowering doses prescribed unnecessarily by doctors.<sup>112</sup> Opioid type, such as long acting or short acting, may also affect likelihood of discontinuation, where long acting opioids have also been observed to decrease chances of opioid discontinuation.<sup>75,113</sup> Changes such as these can prevent many of the harms that result due to misuse and abuse of opioids. Despite progress on some fronts, it is acknowledged, however, that women are more likely to receive prescriptions that do not align with prescribing guidelines.<sup>64</sup>

#### Differences in Opioid Use by Men and Women

In exploring the impact of opioid prescribing and potential harms, the role of patient sex has received limited attention. Differences have been documented in how men and women metabolize opioids, where sex has been observed to modify the likelihood of poor pain control and adverse reactions.<sup>114</sup> Findings on whether women need lower, higher, or similar doses to men have been inconsistent.<sup>115</sup> There may also be genetic and hormonal factors that result in sex-specific differences in males and females. Females may have different reactions to pain during their menstrual cycle, and this may be altered by oral contraceptive medications.<sup>38</sup>

There are estimates that women have higher rates of opioid use compared to men, where 14% of women in Canada reported using an opioid to treat pain compared to 11% of men.<sup>7</sup> Overall, women have been found to have lower daily use of opioids than men, and there is low quality evidence that women receive lower doses for their non-cancer pain.<sup>116</sup> Women are more likely to have chronic conditions, and thus to be prescribed opioids, and the greatest risk for a woman to develop an opioid addiction is receiving a prescription for an opioid medication.<sup>9</sup>

Age is a predictor of opioid use and can intersect with sex. Increasing age has been associated with higher opioid use, and older women have been documented to have higher rates of long-term opioid therapy.<sup>117</sup> A study conducted in the United States examining prescribing to adults from 2008 to 2018 detected that adults aged 65 and older were more than 2.5 times more likely to have filled an opioid prescription and also found that women were more likely to have an opioid prescription filled at all ages than men.<sup>118</sup> Older women have been observed to engage in lower rates of misuse, despite a higher rate of usage.<sup>117</sup>

Evidence on opioid overdose deaths indicate that nearly three-quarters are suffered by men. Notable distinctions exist in how men and women obtain opioids. While most opioids are obtained via a physician's prescription, men are more likely to obtain prescription opioids via an illegitimate source.<sup>8</sup> Notably, men are also more likely to escalate to stronger opioids while on opioid therapy for noncancer pain, and stronger opioids raise the risk of dying due to opioid-related complications.<sup>65</sup>

#### Opioids and Emergency Care

Opioids may be prescribed in multiple settings, such as primary care or specialty clinics, but they are also commonly prescribed in the process of emergency care. There are varying definitions of emergency care, but emergency care is distinct in its acute care for patients who are suffering from acute conditions and who need care that has been not been scheduled.<sup>119</sup> One study examining administration of opioids in emergency care found that patients who received opioids while in emergency care were more likely to develop chronic use of opioids than patients who did not receive opioids while in emergency care.<sup>120</sup> A study conducted in the United States found that prescriptions written in the ED were more likely to follow guidelines recommended by the CDC compared to other clinical settings such as primary care.<sup>121</sup> The prescriptions were shorter, had fewer days' supply and were more likely to be short acting opioids.<sup>121</sup> In contrast, another study conducted in Ontario, Canada, found that emergency physicians were more likely to prescribe higher initial daily dosages, and patients were more likely to experience opioid toxicity compared to family physicians.<sup>15</sup> It is possible then, that opioid prescriptions in Canada's emergency care systems may not be following

prescribing guidelines. One Australian study documented that patients who arrived during working hours (between 8am and 5pm) were less likely to be prescribed opioids, and they also found that for each hour spent in the ED, the odds of being prescribed opioids increased by 1.39 (95% Confidence Interval: 1.31 to 1.48).<sup>16</sup>

#### Low Back Pain

In this section, I will discuss the potential for using the condition of LBP to explore the complexities of sex differences in opioid use and prescription.

LBP is a commonly occurring musculoskeletal condition. It has been defined as pain occurring between the 12th rib and the inferior gluteal folds.<sup>122</sup> Although there are many potential etiologies for LBP, approximately 90% of cases are labeled as 'non-specific' and 8% labelled as due to mechanical causes, such as stenosis or degenerative disc disease.<sup>20,122</sup> There are also nonmechanical causes, such as ankylosing spondylitis or cancer, or visceral disease, such as pelvic inflammatory disease or endometriosis.<sup>20</sup> According to a systematic review by Hoy and colleagues, there is a 39% lifetime prevalence of LBP globally, although this was much lower than expected by researchers and was attributed to much lower documented rates in countries such as China, Cuba, and Nepal.<sup>123</sup> In Canada, LBP has been estimated to have a one week prevalence of 34% and a lifetime prevalence estimate of 84% commonly cited.<sup>21</sup>. Chronic back disorders have been observed to be more prevalent in Nova Scotia than in other provinces.<sup>124</sup> The majority of cases of LBP resolve within four to eight weeks although recurrences are common.<sup>20</sup> Data collected through the Canadian Community Health Survey found that chronic back disorders are more common in women, older people, and people who live in rural communities.<sup>124</sup> LBP has been observed to become more prevalent with age, with a peak prevalence rate at a 85 years old, globally.<sup>125</sup>

#### Sex Differences in Low Back Pain

Previous research has found that women comprise a higher percentage of patients with LBP than men.<sup>47,126</sup> Functional capacity of women presenting with LBP has been observed to be lower than men.<sup>126</sup> Women have been observed to have more depressive symptoms than men when seeking treatment for LBP, however, which may affect their functional capacity.<sup>126,127</sup> Women were also more likely to have recurrent and chronic LBP <sup>126</sup>. In a systematic review of low back prognosis, Hayden et al. reported that review syntheses that

included nonsignificant results found insufficient evidence of sex differences, while review syntheses that excluded nonsignificant results reported that female sex was connected with worse prognosis<sup>128</sup>.

#### Recommended Treatment of Low Back Pain

Treatment of LBP has evolved over the years. Treatments that were previously recommended in practice, such as bed rest, are being now discouraged since evidence emerged that it is not only ineffective, but harmful, with recommendations supported by research now being advised.<sup>20,25</sup> Treatments for LBP can include activity, physical therapy, muscle relaxants, or heat.<sup>25</sup> Education and reassurance are also important management strategies employed by healthcare providers.<sup>129</sup> As the majority of cases of LBP are non-specific, there is more focus on treating pain and the consequences of pain such as low physical activity and interference with employment.<sup>129</sup> A recent clinical practice guideline recommends non-pharmacological treatment with NSAIDS or muscle relaxants as a first line of treatment.<sup>130</sup>

#### Opioid Treatment of Low Back Pain

If non-opioid treatment is optimized, but the patient is still experiencing pain, then guidelines typically recommend attempting opioid treatment.<sup>25,130</sup> Healthcare providers have attempted to reduce opioids as a first line of treatment, due to its addictive properties, as well as unpleasant side effects.<sup>130</sup> A systematic review of opioid prescribing for chronic LBP, found that patients who reported more disability, poorer functioning, greater suffering, more pain radiation and higher functional disability, were more likely to be prescribed opioids instead of NSAIDS or other treatments.<sup>14</sup> The review also found extreme variation in the proportion of patients prescribed opioids for chronic LBP, where between 3% and 66% were prescribed opioids, with primary care centers reporting smaller proportions than specialty care centers.<sup>14</sup> Another study in the United States found that opioids were prescribed to 42% of patients with LBP.<sup>131</sup> A more recent systematic review found that receipt of an opioid prescription was more likely in emergency care than from family practice, with a range of 17% to 61% of LBP patients receiving an opioid prescription in the ED.<sup>132</sup>

#### Prevalence of Low Back Pain in the Emergency Care System

LBP is a frequently occurring condition in the emergency care system. One systematic review pooled data from 21 studies in 12 countries and found that the pooled prevalence estimate was 4.39% (95% CI: 3.67-5.18) of emergency care presentations. LBP is a condition that is frequently treated by Canadian healthcare services and was even the fourth most common reason for presentation at the ED in 2019, accounting for over 200 000 visits.<sup>22</sup> Nova Scotia also has a high prevalence of LBP, with 12 914 visits constituting 3.2% of all ED visits between 2009-2015.<sup>133</sup> Non-specific and mechanical LBP made up the majority of all of these visits.<sup>133</sup>

#### Emergency Care in Nova Scotia

Previously, I have discussed the utility of LBP for studying opioid use and prescription. I have also discussed the ED as a setting for studying this relationship. In this section, I will briefly describe the location of my study, as well as its characteristics.

The Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians defines emergency medicine as "a field of medical practice comprised of a unique set of competencies required for the timely evaluation, diagnosis, treatment and disposition of all patients with injury, illness and/or behavioural disorders requiring expeditious care, 24/7/365 "<sup>134</sup>(p<sup>508</sup>). Physicians who work in emergency care may have received training and certification in emergency medicine, or they may be physicians who are family doctors or have no other certification beyond being a medical doctor, or they may be a family physician who practices within the ED <sup>134</sup>.

In Nova Scotia, since 2018, annual ED visits have ranged from a low of 496 492 to a high of 585 026.<sup>135–137</sup> There are 38 EDs in Nova Scotia, and 31 run on a 24 hours per day, seven days per week (24/7) schedule unless there are extenuating circumstances such as staff shortages.<sup>138</sup> Nova Scotia has tertiary care centers which provide higher level care, such as the Izaak Walton Killam Hospital for Children (IWK Health Centre) and QEII Health Sciences Centre, and several regional hospitals with EDs that provide coverage for the entire province.<sup>138</sup> The largest ED in Nova Scotia is located at the QEII Health Sciences Centre, which has the Charles V. Keating Emergency and Trauma Centre containing 36 emergency

medicine spaces.<sup>139</sup> This ED sees an average of 150 patients per day and 1.5 trauma patients per day.<sup>139</sup>

#### Opioids, Low Back Pain, and the Emergency Care System

Several studies have examined opioid prescriptions for LBP in the emergency care setting. In one study, LBP was one of the most common conditions for which opioids are prescribed.<sup>15</sup> Another study examining opioid use in emergency care found that patients with LBP were more likely to develop chronic use of opioids than those presenting with other conditions, such as migraines or gastroparesis.<sup>120</sup> Treatment within the ED has been documented to reflect treatment guidelines, where acetaminophen and NSAIDS are often prescribed as a first-line treatment for patients with LBP, although one study in Nova Scotia found that 35% of patients presenting to the ED were treated with opioids for their LBP, including hydromorphone, morphine and codeine.<sup>24</sup> While opioids are often given in emergency care, prescriptions are also frequently given to patients when they are discharged from the ED. Patients were slightly more likely to be prescribed opioids at discharge than administered in ED, with 39% prescribed opioids at discharge, including hydromorphone and codeine.<sup>24</sup> Another study noted that approximately 24% of first opioid prescriptions in 2016 did not follow guidelines for prescribing practices in emergency care.<sup>140</sup> Notably, patients who have been given early opioids for LBP while in the ED have been documented to have an increased likelihood of developing prolonged opioid use compared to those who did not, even after controlling for condition severity.<sup>141</sup>

Of the preceding studies of opioid use among LBP patients in the ED, none have focused on sex. One study examining prolonged use after opioid prescription in the ED for LBP found that female patients were more likely to have prolonged use, although differences between treatment for men and women was not highlighted.<sup>140</sup> One study on appendicitis and gallbladder removal found that there was no discrepancy between the sexes in opioid administration in emergency care.<sup>142</sup> Another study on patients undergoing an arthroscopy procedure found that female participants had an increased likelihood of developing prolonged opioid use after receiving an opioid prescription although opioid treatment was not compared between the sexes.<sup>143</sup> Overall, there has been a lack of research focussed on patient sex and gender when examining opioid prescribing in emergency care settings for LBP.

#### Need for Research

There are noteworthy gaps in the research literature outlined above. The opioid crisis in Canada has produced several harms to the population and has helped to propel an increase in opioid related research. Many factors associated with opioid prescribing have been studied; this includes important work on the association of opioid prescribing and the likelihood of prolonged use, and the role played by opioid dose, days' supply and other factors.<sup>13,75,109</sup> At the same time, examination of the role of sex and gender has been argued by multiple studies to be lacking.<sup>2–4,66,144</sup> While gender is lacking in research, this study examines sex due to limitations in health administrative data, where information about gender is not available. The concept of sex and gender entanglement is used so that the impact of gender on outcomes is not neglected. There are sex differences in where men and women receive opioid drugs, their likelihood of developing dependence, and their likelihood of overdose. There has been insufficient investigation of the reasons for these discrepancies. More importantly, there has been a lack of research that focus on sex differences in opioid prescriptions in the ED. Given that LBP is a common reason for presentation, for which opioids are frequently prescribed, this is an appropriate condition to examine to investigate sex differences in opioid prescriptions. As well, as the initial prescription of opioids influences likelihood of developing prolonged and problematic use of opioids, it is crucial to understand how sex influences prescriptions of opioids.84,113

### **STUDY OBJECTIVES**

#### Objective of this Study

This study aimed to investigate sex/gender differences in the experiences of patients presenting to the ED with a pain complaint through the comparison of their presentation, diagnosis, and treatment in and after the ED. The focus was patients experiencing LBP, which is a frequently occurring condition, with a high likelihood of pain management treatment with analgesics, specifically opioids. This study considered sex and gender using the concept of entanglement, as information on gender was not collected in the datasets used in this project, but gender and sex are both likely to impact outcomes. As described above, the concept of entanglement acknowledges that sex and gender, while two different concepts, interact with each other and therefore it can be inaccurate to consider that they are not entwined. By using

sex/gender as a variable, I could acknowledgment that many "sex differences" in health care may be attributed to both gender and sex.

To address my objective, I asked the overall research question: Are there sex differences in men's and women's experiences with the healthcare system when attending the ED for LBP? I split this overall research question into four specific questions pertaining to: presentation, diagnosis, treatment in emergency care, and treatment post emergency care.

These four specific questions are:

#### Presentation

1. What are the demographic and clinical differences between men and women who present to the ED for low back pain?

#### Diagnosis

2. How is patient sex associated with low back pain diagnosis?

#### Treatment in Emergency Care

3. How is patient sex associated with receiving an opioid for the treatment of low back pain?

#### Treatment Post Emergency Care

4. How is patient sex associated with filling an opioid prescription?

### **CHAPTER III: METHODS**

#### Data

For my thesis, I used study data drawn from two existing datasets that respectively include three and four administrative databases. The *first* of these datasets includes: (1) the Emergency Department Information System (EDIS) which contains information on ED visits and patients; (2) the Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation: Atlantic region dataset which contains information on deprivation quintiles for each patient; and (3) the Nova Scotia Drug Information System (DIS) which contains information on prescriptions. The first dataset contained a sample of 4 027 presentations and includes all adults who attended the Queen Elizabeth II (QEII) Emergency Department in Halifax, Nova Scotia with non-specific LBP, between October 28<sup>th</sup>, 2016, and September 30, 2020. The *second* dataset included each of these databases and, in addition, contains the database of the BD Pyxis<sup>TM</sup> MedStation<sup>TM</sup> ES automated medication dispensing system (Pyxis), which has information on opioid administration in emergency care. The second dataset contained data for 548 presentations from April 9, 2020, to September 30, 2020. From here on, the first dataset will be referred to as the 'Non-Pyxis dataset' and second dataset will be referred to as the 'Pyxis dataset' to indicate that one dataset does not include Pyxis data. A previous study collected and used this data for a prior analysis<sup>145</sup> This dataset allowed for an assessment of potential inequalities between men and women in interactions with the emergency care system, diagnosis, and treatment, including opioid prescribing.

#### Population of Study

The population of this study included adult patients who presented to the QEII ED for LBP between October 28<sup>th</sup>, 2016, and September 30, 2020. This population included all presentations to the ED within this time frame. This means that some patients may have attended more than once. LBP was restricted to those who attended the ED with a chief complaint of back pain or traumatic back/spine injury and who were discharged with an International Classification of Diseases (ICD) code that corresponds to a back pain diagnosis. Appendix B presents the table of ICD codes used by the previous study.<sup>145</sup> This study excluded patients who were under the age of 18, who did not have a NS health card number, who died, who were admitted to the ED, or who had a scheduled ED visit.

#### Key Exposure

The exposure for this study was patient sex. While gender would be a relevant variable to include, this administrative data does not collect gender as a variable. For this reason, I used sex as the exposure variable, but I considered gender to be entangled with this sex in my interpretation of sex. As I have discussed in previous sections, Springer et al. proposed the concept of entanglement for sex and gender, where the two are acknowledged to interact with each other, although they are two different concepts.<sup>39</sup> Given that health administrative data usually does not include information on gender, this has led to sex being used more frequently as an exposure in health studies, rather than gender. But it is possible that gender may be influencing the thoughts and behaviours of patients and health care professionals, contributing to differences between men and women. By using sex/gender as a variable, I can allow for the acknowledgment that many "sex differences" in health care may be attributed to both gender and sex.

#### **Key Outcomes**

Differences in experiences with the healthcare system when seeking health care for LBP was the key outcome in this study. To operationalize differences in experiences of the healthcare system, I assessed key phases of the health care pathway for potential discrepancies and decided upon outcomes for each key phase: diagnosis, treatment in the ED, and treatment after the ED. I assessed differences in diagnosis by categorizing the discharge diagnosis as either mechanical or non-mechanical LBP. I also examined potential inequalities in recommended treatment modalities. For the primary outcome of treatment in emergency care, I used the receipt of an opioid in the ED, which was a binary variable. Secondary outcomes included the continuous variable, dose (in MMEs) and the binary outcomes of opioid type and guideline compliance if applicable. I defined guideline compliance as doses under 90 MME per day. To operationalize the primary outcome of treatment after emergency care, I assessed whether or not an opioid prescription from a pharmacy was filled, which was a binary variable. Secondary outcomes included the continuous variables, dose (in MMEs) and cays' supply, and the binary variable, guideline compliance, if applicable. Appendix C describes these key outcome variables.

#### Covariates/Other Measures

From the databases, EDIS and Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation: Atlantic dataset, I included other potentially confounding variables: age, primary care availability, discharge diagnosis (ICD codes) for each patient. Data derived through Statistics Canada had enabled the creation of deprivation quintiles based on postal code.<sup>146</sup> The Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation (CIMD) uses geographic location to predict the level of deprivation of the area, using information on the area to predict residential instability, economic dependency, ethno-cultural composition and situation vulnerability.<sup>147</sup> Each of these four CIMD variables (residential instability, economic dependency, ethno-cultural composition and situation vulnerability) are ordinal variables. They are composed of three to five indicators each, which use data collected by Statistics Canada. Residential instability represents concepts such as the number of people who have moved from an area in the past five years, or the number of apartment buildings, where quintile five has the highest instability. Economic dependency includes concepts such as the ratio of employment to the population, the proportion of the population working, and the amount of people receiving governmental assistance where quintile five has the highest economic dependency. Ethnocultural composition refers to concepts such as the number of people self-identifying as a visible minority, or who do not speak either official language of Canada, or who are recent immigrants, where quintile five has the most diverse ethnocultural composition. Situational vulnerability includes concepts such as the proportion of people who do not have a high school diploma or the proportion of dwellings that need repair.<sup>147</sup>

I also used details of the ED visit as covariates, such as date, time, and length of the visit, which have been noted to influence the likelihood of receiving opioids.<sup>16</sup> I also included the pain intensity scale score, which allowed for controlling for the severity of the LBP. Another useful indication of disease severity is the Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS) score. The CTAS score has five levels: 1 (Resuscitation), 2 (Emergent), 3 (Urgent), 4 (Less Urgent), 5 (Non-Urgent), which is used to assess a patient's need for medical attention and the urgency of the interventions needed.<sup>148</sup> Through controlling for these variables, confounding can be reduced in the statistical analysis. There are variables that were not available from

Health Data Nova Scotia which are discussed below in the Limitations section. Appendix C contains information on variables included in this study.

#### Missingness in the Data

Previous work in this area has reported a relatively low rate of missing data for most of the variables included (<5% of all variables), although the pain intensity score has previously had a higher chance of being missing (36%).<sup>140</sup> Missingness was very high (more than 30%) for pain intensity so a missing category was created for the pain intensity variable so that it could still be included in the analysis. The only other variable that had any missingness was CIMD values, which was likely due to a missing postal code, and given that it was such a small part of the sample, I used a complete case analysis, also known as listwise deletion. Appendix D shows missingness in both datasets for this study.

#### DATA ANALYSES

#### Presentation (Question 1)

What are the demographic and clinical differences between men and women who present to the ED for LBP?

To answer this question, I examined men and women's demographic and clinical characteristics in a descriptive analysis for the Non-Pyxis and Pyxis datasets separately. I also examined demographic characteristics, such as age, CIMD quintiles of deprivation and availability of a primary care provider. I also used clinical differences, including differences in presentation, such as time of day or whether presentation occurred on a weekend or weekday. I also included other clinical characteristics, such as the nature of the diagnosis (mechanical or non-mechanical LBP) and the pain intensity score. I reported and compared details on opioids administered in the ED between the sexes, including the filling of prescription (yes or no), the dose (morphine milligram equivalents (MME)/day) and the days' supply. Next, I used BD Pyxis<sup>TM</sup> MedStation<sup>TM</sup> ES information to investigate details of opioids delivered or dispensed in the ED. I also reported descriptive information for the Pyxis dataset using the same baseline and clinical characteristics, with the additional variables: receipt of an opioid in ED, dose of the opioid, and opioid type (strong or weak, oral, or parenteral). To investigate whether these differences were statistically significant, I ran chi-squared tests on categorical variables, and t-tests on continuous variables and proportion tests on binary variables.

#### Secondary Analyses

What are the demographic and clinical differences by mechanical pain diagnosis, opioid prescription in the ED, and opioid prescription after a visit to the ED?

To answer this question, I first found the most common diagnoses for men and women and conducted proportion tests to find any significant differences. I also described demographic and clinical characteristics on those who received a mechanical pain diagnosis and those who did not. I also described these characteristics for those who received an opioid and those who did not in the ED and for those who filled an opioid prescription from a pharmacy after attending the ED and those who did not.

#### Diagnosis (Question 2)

How is patient sex associated with LBP diagnosis?

Using the Non-Pyxis dataset, I examined the effect of sex on the odds of diagnosis (mechanical/non-mechanical) with an adjusted logistics regression for back pain conditions after controlling for covariates including patient characteristics (age, CIMD-A score, and availability of primary provider), visit characteristics (time of day, weekend/weekday, length of stay), and LBP characteristics (pain intensity, CTAS score) (see the Directed Acyclic Graph in Appendix E that describes diagnosis of LBP). For each logistic regression in my study, I ran an unadjusted model to investigate the role of sex alone. Then, I ran an adjusted model, controlling for: patient characteristics and visit characteristics. I calculated the odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI). To investigate the significance of each of the covariate coefficients, I performed a Wald test. I checked assumptions by examining residuals. For all models, I have accounted for clustering of participants if they had repeated presentations. For the adjusted regression, two of four CIMD variables (situational vulnerability and residential instability) were dropped to prevent an underpowered regression. With my committee, we decided to keep economic dependency and ethnocultural composition, as they were the closest to what I was attempting to capture with this variable. To check the goodness-of-fit, I used the Pearson Goodness-of-fit test and pseudo  $R^2$  and checked the area under the curve.

#### Treatment in Emergency Care (Question 3)

How is patient sex associated with receiving an opioid for the treatment of low back pain?

Using the Pyxis dataset, I conducted unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression analyses as described above to examine the effect of sex on whether opioids were administrated in the ED for LBP conditions (see the Directed Acyclic Graph in Appendix F that describes treatment in the ED). Given that the Pyxis dataset has a smaller sample size, fewer covariates could be used in the adjusted model than in the Non-Pyxis dataset. I considered variable selection with the help of my committee, and I sought to include variables with high confidence of accurate measurement and a high likelihood of confounding the results if not included. For this reason, I did not use pain intensity, CIMD scores or presentation times. CIMD scores were not collected at the individual level and pain intensity had a high degree of missingness so I did not use these variables. I also dropped variables related to presentation times as the literature indicated that they were less likely to confound the result than other variables.

#### Secondary Analyses

I also conducted a secondary analyses to investigate the dosage and opioid type delivered in the ED to further investigate if there were any differences between men and women in the nature of the opioid administered. Using the Pyxis dataset, I conducted linear regression analyses to examine the effect of sex on the opioid dosage (MME) administered in the ED. For a linear regression analysis, I conducted unadjusted and adjusted linear regression analyses to examine the effect of sex on the outcome. I calculated the coefficients 95% confidence intervals (CI). I checked assumptions and residuals to ensure the model was appropriate. For the adjusted regression, I dropped two of four CIMD variables (situational vulnerability and residential instability) to prevent an underpowered regression. With my committee, we decided to keep economic dependency and ethnocultural composition, as they were the closest to what I was attempting to capture with this variable. I checked multicollinearity by examining Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) values. I dropped variables that had multicollinearity. I checked heteroscedasticity by looking at a Quantile-Quantile plot (QQ plot) and conducting a Cook-Weisberg heteroscedasticity test. I attempted transformations to see if this would reduce the heteroscedasticity and improve the model. To examine goodness of fit, I used the adjusted  $R^2$  and the AIC and BIC values.

I examined opioid type (oral or parenteral) to see if there was sufficient data to run an analysis. I then ran logistic regression analyses to see if any variables were statistically significant despite the small sample size and low power.

#### Treatment Post Emergency Care (Question 4)

How is patient sex associated with filling an opioid prescription?

I used the Non-Pyxis dataset to answer this question (see the Directed Acyclic Graph in Appendix G that describes factors affecting treatment after the ED). This data was available from the Drug Information System Database. I examined the odds of filling out an opioid script (yes/no) within one month of discharge and conducted logistic regression analyses as described above to see the effect of sex while controlling for potential confounders. I examined interaction terms through marginal effect plots.

#### Secondary Analyses

I conducted secondary analyses to investigate how the nature of the prescriptions might differ between men and women. These analyses included fewer observations, as it only included the presentations that had later filled a prescription. These analyses, therefore, also dropped pain score as a variable due to the large amount of missingness. I used linear regression analyses as described above to investigate the effect of sex on dose of the prescription after attending the ED. I also conducted linear regression analyses to examine the effect of sex on the opioid days' supply of the prescription filled at a pharmacy after attending the ED.

#### Sample Size and Power

The dataset was already collected, so I conducted power calculations prior to receiving the data to determine the potential scope of this project. There have been arguments for and against using power calculations for existing databases, where focusing on statistical significance could undermine the accumulation of evidence that would approximate an effect, but nonetheless I have conducted calculations so that I could estimate what statistically significant result could be detected by this study.<sup>149,150</sup>
The power calculations were based on previous estimated sample size. The Non-Pyxis dataset was estimated to contain 3 357 opioid naïve individuals, and the Pyxis dataset contains approximately 445 opioid naïve individuals when these calculations were done. Given that the data had already been extracted, I was able to use these numbers to calculate the potential power and potential effect size detected for this study. For this analysis, I am reporting based on Type I error rate ( $\alpha$ ) 95% confidence, with power (1- $\beta$ ) of 80%.

#### Diagnosis (Question 2)

How is patient sex associated with low back pain diagnosis?

Assuming a power of 80% and Type I error rate ( $\alpha$ ) 95% confidence, I calculated the odds ratio that could be viably calculated from this sample size. Deyo et al. found that only 15% of low back presentations to the ED receive a specific diagnosis. <sup>151</sup> With a sample of 3 357, it would have been possible to detect an Odds ratio of 1.3 or higher, if using the Kelsey method of calculation.<sup>152</sup>

For the use of other independent variables, researchers have previously used the idea of having a certain minimum number of events per variable, where for each additional predictor, there is sufficient statistical power for inclusion.<sup>153</sup> The formula for this calculation is: n = 100 + xi where x represents the number of events per predictor and *i* represents the number of independent variables, and 100 is considered the minimum amount required for a logistic regression, and *n* is the total sample size. While some conservative estimates have recommended 10 events per predictor for x, a number of 50 has been found to calculate sizes with sufficient accuracy even for small effect sizes.<sup>153</sup> Using this formula, where eight independent variables were planned to be used, a sample size of 500 would have been sufficient for this analysis.

#### Treatment in Emergency Care (Question 3)

How is sex associated with receiving an opioid for the treatment of low back pain?

Assuming a power of 80% and Type I error rate ( $\alpha$ ) 95% confidence, I calculated the odds ratio that could be viably calculated from this sample size. Nunn et al. found that 35% of QEII ED patients were administered opioids in ED for LBP.<sup>24</sup> With a sample of 445, it would have been possible to detect an Odds ratio of 1.8 or higher, if using the Kelsey method of calculation .<sup>152</sup>

Given this smaller sample, there would be less statistical power if multiple independent variables were used. Using the formula above, there would have been sufficient statistical

28

power for six independent variables. It has been noted, however, that for medium and large effect sizes, samples under 500 are sufficient to support a logistic regression.<sup>153</sup>

#### Treatment Post Emergency Care (Question 4)

How is the sex of a patient associated with filling an opioid script?

Assuming a power of 80% and Type I error rate ( $\alpha$ ) 95% confidence, I calculated the odds ratio that could be viably detected from this sample size. As described above, if only 24% of the 3 357 sample fill a script, this leaves the sample at approximately 806. With a sample of 806, it would have been possible to detect an Odds ratio of 1.6 or higher, if using the Kelsey method of calculation.<sup>152</sup>

Using the formula for events per predictor as above, I found the number of independent variables supported by this sample.<sup>153</sup> For this section, if 12 independent variables were planned to be used, a sample size of 700 would be sufficient for this analysis.

#### Sensitivity Analyses

I only conducted sensitivity analyses for Question 4: "How is patient sex associated with filling an opioid prescription?" due to limitations in the Pyxis database. I conducted sensitivity analyses by changing the continuous opioid dosage variable to a binary variable reflecting on whether opioid dose follows Canadian Opioid Prescribing Guidelines or not. This was done first with the recommendation of less than 90 MME per day, and then the more conservative guideline of 50 MME per day. Similarly, I performed sensitivity analyses recoding days' supply by creating binary variables using the CDC guidelines, first with three days, and then seven days' supply.<sup>12</sup> I also conducted sensitivity analysis by modifying definitions of the prescriptions filled, where I grouped prescriptions into whether or not they aligned with prescribing guidelines, either defined by dose or days' supply to assess whether there are fundamental sex differences as seen in Hayden et al.<sup>140</sup> Finally, I conducted sensitivity analyses by modifying the population definition of opioid naivety. For my other models, opioid naivety was defined by any prescription in the previous 6 months, but for the sensitivity analysis, the effect of a prescription in the previous 6 months, 6 months -1 year, or any record in the database, were considered to see if any record was associated with a recent record of opioid prescription. A sex-stratified analysis was conducted for any statistically significant findings to investigate any potential differences in the effects of the covariates.

# **CHAPTER IV: RESULTS**

After initially linking the databases, the full dataset contained a total of 4 158 presentations. Figure 1 shows the patient flow chart and shows the number of presentations that were excluded due to the exclusion criteria outlined above, as well as exclusions due to removal of duplicated data from the linking process. After these exclusions, I included 4 027 unique ED presentations in this study. During the time that the Pyxis database was available, the QEII ED had 548 presentations for LBP.



Figure 1. Patient flow chart showing exclusions due to study criteria and data checking. The figure shows the Non-Pyxis dataset as well as the Pyxis dataset, and their associated databases.

### Data Analysis

### Presentation (Question 1)

What are the demographic and clinical differences between men and women who present to the ED for LBP?

Table 1 presents demographic and clinical characteristics for all presentations in the Non-Pyxis dataset. 2048 ED presentations (50.9%) were from women, and the mean age of the entire dataset was 47.5 (SD=18.2) years old. I will now describe the demographic and clinical characteristics that differed significantly between men and women. There were statistically significantly greater proportions of women than men in areas with postal codes considered by the CIMD to be: an indicator of high levels of residential instability, economic dependency, situational vulnerability and to have higher levels of ethnocultural diversity, while a lower proportion of men had a primary care provider available. In terms of clinical characteristics, women had a significantly longer average length of stay, waiting 30 minutes more than men, and a higher percentage were assigned more urgent CTAS scores, and a significantly lower percentage received a mechanical pain diagnosis compared to men. When they did fill a prescription, women had a slightly longer days' supply on average than men. Other demographic and clinical characteristics did not differ significantly between the sexes. Appendix D presents information on missing information for variables in this study.

Descriptive statistics (N, %, SD) for demographic and clinical different	nces between men
and women who attended the QEII ED for LBP	

Variable		Total	Men	Women	Significance
Presentation	N (%)	N = 4 027	N =1 979	N = 2 048	
			(49.1%)	(50.9%)	
Age	Mean years(SD)	47.5 (18.2)	47.1 (17.2)	48.0 (19.2)	P = 0.13
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1 (%)	527 (13.0%)	290 (14.7%)	237 (11.6%)	P = 0.02
Residential Instability	Quintile 2 (%)	492(12.2%)	236 (11.9%)	256 (12.5%)	
(5 is highest instability)	Quintile 3 (%)	326(8.1%)	164 (8.3%)	162 (7.9%)	
	Quintile 4 (%)	513(12.7%)	266 (13.4%)	247 (12.1%)	
	Quintile 5 (%)	2138(53.1%)	1010 (51.0%)	1128 (55.1%)	
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1 (%)	1845 (45.8%)	954 (48.2%)	891 (43.5%)	P = 0.04
Economic Dependency	Quintile 2 (%)	879 (21.8%)	421 (21.3%)	458 (22.4%)	
(5 is highest	Quintile 3 (%)	623 (15.5%)	282 (14.3%)	341 (16.7%)	
deprivation)	Quintile 4 (%)	457 (11.4%)	221 (11.2%)	236 (11.5%)	
	Quintile 5 (%)	192 (4.8%)	88 (4.5%)	104 (5.1%)	
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1 (%)	82 (2.0%)	55 (2.8%)	27 (1.3%)	P = 0.01
Ethnocultural	Quintile 2 (%)	149 (3.7%)	79 (4.0%)	70 (3.4%)	
Composition (5 is	Quintile 3 (%)	331 (8.2%)	169 (8.5%)	162 (7.9%)	
highest diversity)	Quintile 4 (%)	/82 (19.4%)	3/5 (19.0%)	407 (19.9%)	
	Quintile 5 (%)	2652 (65.9%)	1288 (65.1%)	1364 (66.6%)	D 0.005
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile I (%)	1664 (41.3%)	823 (41.6%)	841 (41.1%)	P = 0.005
Situational Vuln anability (5 is	Quintile 2 (%) Quintile 2 (9/)	8//(21.8%)	412(20.8%)	465 (22.7%)	
vulnerability (5 is	Quintile $S(\%)$	390(14.7%)	529 (10.0%) 197 (0.59/)	201(12.7%) 207(10.19%)	
nighest vulnerability)	Quintile $4(76)$	394 (9.870) 471 (11 7%)	187(9.3%) 215(10.0%)	207(10.1%) 256(12.5%)	
Availability of Primary	$\frac{\text{Quintine 5 (76)}}{\text{No }(96)}$	$\frac{4/1(11.770)}{565(14.0\%)}$	$\frac{215(10.970)}{365(18.4\%)}$	$\frac{230(12.370)}{200(9.8\%)}$	<b>P</b> <0.001
Care Provider	140 (70)	505 (14.070)	303(18.470)	200 (9.870)	1 <0.001
Opioid Naive	Not prescribed opioids in $(0/2)$	3811 (94.6%)	1872 (94.6%)	1939 (94.7%)	P=0.91
	past 6 months (%)	nical Characteris	tics		
Presentation Time of	Presentation during working	2189 (54.4%)	1085 (54.8%)	1104 (53.9%)	P = 0.59
Day	hours of 9:00-17:00 (%)				
Presentation on day of	Presentation on weekday (%)	2949 (73.2%)	1463 (73.9%)	1486 (72.6%)	P = 0.33
week					
Pain intensity score	Mean (SD)	4.5 (3.4)	4.4 (3.4)	4.5 (3.3)	P = 0.34
Length of Stay	Mean number of hours (SD)	3.62 (3.05)	3.38 (2.82)	3.87 (3.24)	P < 0.001
Canadian Triage and	1 (Resuscitation) (%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	P = 0.003
Acuity Scale	2 (Emergent) (%)	568 (14.1%)	257 (13.0%)	311 (15.2%)	
	3 (Urgent) (%)	2514 (62.4%)	1215 (61.4%)	1299 (63.4%)	
	4 (Less Urgent) (%)	905 (22.5%)	490 (24.7%)	415 (20.3%)	
	5 (Non-Urgent) (%)	40 (1.0%)	17 (0.9%)	23 (1.1%)	<b>D</b> :0.001
Mechanical Pain	Yes (%)	1372 (34.1%)	/33 (3/.0%)	639 (31.2%)	P < 0.001
Received DIS Drug	Ves(%)	710 (17.6%)	372 (18.8%)	338 (16.5%)	P =0.06
Onioid Type	Hydromorphone	<u>/10 (17.070)</u> <u>/14 (58.3%)</u>	222 (60.6%)	192 (56.8%)	P = 0.55
Opiola Type	Morphine	129(18.2%)	67 (18.0%)	62 (18 3%)	1 - 0.55
	Codeine	118 (16.6%)	63 (16.9%)	55 (16.3%)	
	Tramadol	47 (6.6%)	19 (5.1%)	28 (8.3%)	
Opioid Type	Strong (%)	547 (76.8%)	291 (78.0%)	256 (75.5%)	P = 0.43
Dose	Measured as average MMF/	43.2 (28.6)	44.7 (26.0)	41.4 (31.2)	P = 0.13
	Day (SD)	15.2 (20.0)	11.7 (20.0)	(31.2)	1 0.15
Days' Supply	Measured in days Mean (SD)	5.7 (6.4)	5.2 (6.0)	6.2 (6.7)	P = 0.04
Against CDC	Number over 90 MME per	53 (7.5%)	32 (8.6%)	21 (6.2%)	P = 0.22
Guidelines	day		- (*****)	()	*
	•				

\* Data displayed as Mean (SD) represents the mean plus or minus the standard deviation. Data displayed as Number(percentage) denotes the number in the sample and the percentage within that group. Groups under 5 were not reported. Chi square tests conducted to investigate differences between the categorical variables. A proportion test was done for binary variables. A t-test was conducted for continuous variables. The data was checked to ensure the distribution was approximately normal, the sample size was sufficient for the t-test, z-test, and the samples were assumed to be independently collected.

The Pyxis dataset included a total of 548 presentations. Table 2 displays the demographic and clinical features for the Pyxis dataset. 279 presentations (50.9%) were from women, and the mean age was 48.1 (SD=18.0) years old. Fewer characteristics had statistically significant differences between men and women in this data, but I will now discuss the statistically significant variables. A statistically significantly greater proportion of women came from postal codes considered by the CIMD to have higher levels of ethnocultural diversity. A smaller proportion of men had a primary care provider available. Women had a longer length of stay, waiting 46 minutes more on average than men. Table 3 presents more information on second and later doses of opioids. Men had a higher total MME dosage average for all combined opioids given in ED. The number of cases where the opioid dose was over 90 MME, and against CDC guidelines, was small and will not be reported due to privacy restrictions. Although not statistically significant, the time from presentation to receiving an opioid was 40 minutes longer for women than men on average in this sample.

#### Variable Total Men Women Significance N = 548 Presentation Ν N =269 (49.1%) N = 279 (50.9%)Mean years (SD) 48.1 (18.0) 47.6 (17.2) 48.6 (18.7) P = 0.50Age 27 (9.7%) Level of Deprivation: Quintile 1 (%) 56 (10.2%) 29 (10.8%) P = 0.15Quintile 2 (%) 27 (9.7%) Residential Instability 68 (12.4%) 41 (15.2%) (5 is highest Quintile 3 (%) 43 (7.9%) 25 (9.3%) 18 (6.5%) instability) Quintile 4 (%) 76 (13.9%) 37 (13.8%) 39 (14.0%) Quintile 5 (%) 303 (55.3%) 137 (50.9%) 166 (59.5%) Level of Deprivation: Quintile 1 (%) 255 (46.5%) 120 (44.6%) 135 (48.4%) P = 0.55 Quintile 2 (%) 128 (23.4%) 64 (23.8%) 64 (22.9%) Economic Dependency (5 is Quintile 3 (%) 79 (14.4%) 39 (14.5%) 40 (14.3%) Quintile 4 (%) highest deprivation) 56 (10.2%) 28 (10.4%) 28 (10.0%) Quintile 5 (%) 28 (5.1%) 18 (6.7%) 10 (3.6%) Quintile 1 or 2(%) Level of Deprivation: 34 (6.2%) 25 (8.9%) 10 (3.6%) P = 0.05Ethnocultural Quintile 3 (%) 38 (6.9%) 21 (8.2%) 16 (5.7%) Composition (5 is Quintile 4 (%) 101 (18.4%) 49 (18.2%) 52 (18.6%) highest diversity) Quintile 5 (%) 373 (68.1%) 177 (64.7%) 199 (71.3%) Level of Deprivation: Quintile 1 (%) 240 (43.8%) 117 (43.5%) 123 (44.1%) P = 0.68Quintila 2 (0/) 110 (21 50/) 56 (20 80/) 62 (22 20/2)

# Descriptive statistics (N, %, SD) for demographic and clinical differences between men and women who attended the QEII ED for LBP in the Pyxis Set

Situational	Quintile 2 (%)	118 (21.370)	30 (20.8%)	02 (22.270)	
Vulnerability (5 is	Quintile 3 (%)	81 (14.8%)	46 (17.1%)	35 (12.5%)	
highest vulnerability)	Quintile 4 (%)	46 (8.4%)	22 (8.2%)	24 (8.6%)	
0 0	Quintile 5 (%)	61 (11.1%)	28 (10.4%)	33 (11.8%)	
Availability of	No (%)	77 (14.1%)	49(18.2%)	28 (10.1%)	P =0.006
Primary Care					
Provider					
Presentation Time of	Presentation during	301 (54.9%)	146 (54.3%)	155 (55.6%)	P = 0.76
Dav	working hours of 9:00-		- ( )		
5	17:00 (%)				
Opioid Naïve	Not Opioid Naïve (%)	31 (5.7%)	16 (6.0 %)	15 (5.3%)	P=0.77
1	1 ( )				
		<b>Clinical Charact</b>	teristics		
Presentation on day of	Presentation on weekday	398 (72.6%)	192 (71.4%)	206 (73.8%)	P =0.52
week	(%)	· ·	· ·		
Pain intensity score	Mean (SD)	4.6 (3.1)	4.4 (3.3)	5.0 (2.8)	P = 0.36
Length of Stay	Mean number of hours	4.00 (2.82)	3.61 (2.42)	4.37 (3.11)	P = 0.002
	(SD)				
Canadian Triage and	1 (Resuscitation) (%)	0	0	0	P = 0.40
Acuity Scale	2 (Emergent) (%)	55 (10.0%)	24 (8.9%)	31 (11.1%)	
	3 (Urgent) (%)	386 (70.4%)	187 (69.5%)	199 71.3%)	
	4 or 5 (Less Urgent and	107 (19.5%)	58 (21.6%)	49 (17.6%)	
	Non-Urgent) (%)				
Mechanical	Yes (%)	181 (33.0%)	93 (34.6%)	88 (31.5%)	P = 0.45
Received Pyxis Drug	Yes (%)	128 (23.4%)	55 (20.5%)	73 (26.2%)	P = 0.11
Opioid Type (1 <sup>st</sup>	Hydromorphone	72 (56.3%)	36 (65.5%)	36 (49.3%)	P = 0.23
Drug)	Morphine	29 (22.7%)	10 (18.2%)	19 (26.0%)	
	Codeine	25 (19.5%)	9 (16.4%)	16 (21.9%)	
Opioid Type	Parenteral (%)	26 (20.3%)	13 (23.6%)	13 (17.8%)	P = 0.42
Opioid Type	Strong (%)	103 (80.5%)	46 (83.6%)	57 (78.1%)	P = 0.43
Dose	MME total for visit (SD)	21.9 (18.8)	25.9 (21.8)	18.8 (15.6)	P = 0.03
Time to opioid	Hours	3.02 (2.26)	2.64 (1.68)	3.30 (2.60)	P=0.09
Filled DIS Drug	Yes (%)	94 (17.2%)	44 (16.4%)	50 (17.9%)	P=0.69
Received an opioid in	Neither	385 (70.3%)	197 (73.2 %)	188 (67.4%)	P=0.40
ED and an Rx	ED Only	69 (12.6%)	28 (10.4%)	41 (14.7%)	
	Prescription only	35 (6.4%)	17 (6.3%)	18 (6.5%)	
	Both ED and Rx	59 (10.8%)	27 (10.0%)	32 (11.5%))	

\* Data displayed as Mean (SD) represents the mean plus or minus the standard deviation. Data displayed as Number(percentage) denotes the number in the sample and the percentage within that group. Groups under 5 were not reported. Chi square tests conducted to investigate differences between the categorical variables. A proportion test was done for binary variables. A t-test was conducted for continuous variables. The data was checked to ensure the distribution was approximately normal, the sample size was sufficient for the t-test, z-test, and the samples were assumed to be independently collected.

# Table 3

# Drug information on patients receiving multiple drugs who attended the QEII ED for LBP

Variable			Pyxis Set
Number of Drugs received	0	N (%)	420 (76.64%)
-	1		68 (12.41 %)
	2		46 (8.39%)
	3		7 (1.28%)
	4+		7 (1.28%)
1 <sup>st</sup> Opioid Drug	Hydromorphone	N (%)	72 (56.3%)
	Morphine		29 (22.66%)
	Codeine		25 (19.53%)
Later Opioid Drug	Hydromorphone	N (%)	59 (65.6%)
	Morphine		15 (16.7%)
	Codeine		16 (17.8%)
MME for First Drug	MME	Mean (SD)	12.0 (12.0)
MME for Second Drug	MME		14.9 (11.2)
MME for Third Drug	MME		14.4 (11.2)

The discharge diagnoses were very similar between men and women (Table 4). Most diagnoses assigned were general and non-descriptive, making it difficult to draw conclusions with the ICD codes.

### Table 4

# Top five most common discharge diagnoses for men and women who attended the QEII ED for LBP between 2017 - 2020

Men		Wo	P value	
Diagnosis	Number of people	Diagnosis	Number of people with	
	with diagnosis		diagnosis (percentage)	
	(percentage)			
Back Pain	927 (46.8%)	Back Pain	1032 (50.4%)	P = 0.02
Mechanical Low	312 (15.8%)	Mechanical Low Back	281 (13.7%)	P = 0.06
Back Pain		Pain		
Pain – Back NYD	206 (10.4%)	Pain – Back NYD	244 (11.9%)	P = 0.13
Low Back Strain	186 (9.4%)	Low Back Strain	112 (5.5%)	P < 0.0001
Muscle Spasm Back	52 (2.6%)	Musculoskeletal pain	56 (2.7%)	

#### Secondary Analyses

What are the demographic and clinical differences by mechanical pain diagnosis, opioid prescription in the ED, and opioid prescription after a visit to the ED?

After examining the most common discharge diagnoses, I grouped all diagnoses into either a mechanical or non-mechanical category. Appendix H shows a comparison of demographic and clinical differences between people who received mechanical and nonmechanical diagnoses. People diagnosed with mechanical pain were younger on average and men comprised a higher proportion of mechanical pain diagnoses compared to those with nonmechanical pain diagnoses. A significantly lower percentage had a primary care provider available, and a higher proportion were opioid naïve. Clinically, they had a shorter stay on average and a greater proportion were assigned a higher (and less urgent) CTAS score. A lower percentage received an opioid, and a lower percentage of people with a mechanical pain diagnosis received a strong opioid.

Appendix I shows baseline characteristics from the Pyxis dataset of those who received an opioid in the ED and those who did not. A marginally higher percentage of those who received opioids were women than those who did not receive an opioid, though this difference was non-significant. Significantly higher proportions of patients who received an opioid from the ED came from a postal code determined to have less situational vulnerability, had an available primary care provider, stayed (64 minutes on average) longer in the ED, received a CTAS score of Emergent, and filled a prescription after leaving the ED, than those who did not receive an opioid in the ED. There was no statistically significant difference in patient reported pain score for those who received an opioid and those who did not.

Next, I compared the patients who filled an opioid prescription for LBP that they received after attending the ED, and those who did not (Appendix J). The average age of a patient filling a prescription was older (54.5 years), compared to those who did not (46.0 years). A lower proportion of women filled a prescription, although this result was marginally non-significant. A greater percentage of those who filled a prescription came from a postal code with low residential instability and situational vulnerability than those who did not fill a prescription. A greater proportion of patients who filled their prescription were also had an available primary care provider and presented during working hours. Clinically, they had a

longer stay on average, were given a higher urgency CTAS score, and a lower proportion received a diagnosis of mechanical pain. A greater proportion of those who filled a prescription were opioid naïve. There was no statistically significant difference in patient reported pain score for those who filled an opioid and those who did not.

### Diagnosis (Question 2)

How is patient sex associated with LBP diagnosis?

Table 5 shows the results for unadjusted and adjusted logistic regressions of patient diagnosis of mechanical pain on patient sex and other covariates. To ensure sufficient statistical power analysis, I excluded two CIMD variables, situational vulnerability and residential instability as described in Chapter III. For unadjusted models, women had lower odds of receiving a diagnosis of mechanical pain, and this held true for the adjusted model as well. One influential outlier was found during assumption checking. After examination, it did not appear to be an error, and so remained in the model. I conducted the Pearson goodness of fit test, and this model was considered to have poor fit (p = 0.03), and the area under the ROC curve was also low, at 0.5768.

Variable		Unadjusted	Adjusted
0	M	Model	Model
Sex	Men	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
A	Women View	0.00 [0.00, 0.00]***	0.002 [0.09, 0.91]***
Age	Years	0.99 [0.99, 0.99]***	0.993 [0.989, 0.997]***
Level of	Quintile 1 (%)	1.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2 (%)	0.89 [0.69, 1.15]	
Residential	Quintile 3 (%)	0.92 [0.69, 1.23]	
Instability (5 is	Quintile 4 (%)	0.98 [0.76, 1.27]	
highest instability)	Quintile 5 (%)	0.93 [0.76, 1.14]	
ingress instacting)			
Level of	Quintile 1 (%)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Deprivation:	Quintile 2 (%)	0.98 [0.83, 1.17]	1.00 [0.84, 1.20]
Economic	Quintile 3 (%)	1.06 [0.88, 1.28]	1.11 [0.91, 1.36]
Dependency (5 is	Quintile 4 (%)	1.06 [0.86, 1.32]	1.09 [0.87, 1.36]
highest deprivation)	Quintile 5 (%)	0.86 [0.62, 1.19]	0.90 [0.64, 1.26]
Level of	Quintile 1 (%)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Deprivation:	Quintile 2 (%)	0.97 [0.55, 1.71]	1.12 [0.63, 2.00]
Ethnocultural	Quintile 3 (%)	0.95 [0.57, 1.59]	1.04 [0.62, 1.74]
Composition (5 is	Quintile 4 (%)	1.00 [0.62, 1.62]	1.15 [0.70, 1.88]
highest diversity)	Quintile 5 (%)	0.86 [0.55, 1.38]	1.00 [0.62, 1.61]
Level of	Quintile 1 (%)	1.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2 (%)	1.08 [0.91, 1.28]	
Situational	Quintile 3 (%)	1.13 [0.93, 1.38]	
Vulnerability (5 is	Quintile 4 (%)	0.96 [0.76, 1.21]	
highest	Quintile 5 (%)	1.22 [0.99, 1.52]	
Vulnerability)	V	0.70 [0.65 0.02]**	0.04[0.77, 1.15]
Availability of	Yes	0.78 [0.65, 0.93]**	0.94 [0.77, 1.15]
Primary Care Provider			
Presentation Time of	Presentation outisde of working	1 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Day	hours		
Duy	Presentation during working hours of	1.05 [0.92, 1.20]	1.00 [0.95, 1.21]
	9:00-17:00		
Presentation on day	Presentation on weekday	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
of week	Presentation on weekend	0.90 [0.78, 1.05]	0.91 [0.78, 1.06]
Pain intensity score	0	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
-	1	0.93 [0.37, 2.32]	1.00 [0.40, 2.52]
	2	0.69 [0.39, 1.20]	0.73 [0.42, 1.29]
	3	1.01 [0.57, 1.80]	1.04 [0.58, 1.85]
	4	1.42 [0.92, 2.22]	1.50 [0.96, 2.37]
	5	1.67 [1.13, 2.46]**	1.76 [1.18, 2.60]**
	6	1.06 [0.70, 1.61]	1.10 [0.72, 1.68]
	7	1.26 [0.87, 1.82]	1.34 [0.92, 1.95]
	8	1.17 [0.78, 1.74]	1.21 [0.80, 1.82]
	9	1.08 [0.63, 1.88]	1.11 [0.64, 1.93]
	10	1.15 [0.72, 1.82]	1.14 [0.71, 1.81]
T d CC	NIISSINg	1.11[0.88, 1.40]	1.15 [0.91, 1.45]
Length of Stay	Number of hours	0.91 [0.88, 0.94]***	0.93 [0.90, 0.96]*
A cuity Secto	1 (Resuscitation) 2 (Emergent)	- 1 (ref)	- 1.0 (ref)
Acuity scale	2 (Lincigent)	1.0(101) 1 11 [0 02 1 26]	1 11 [0 01 1 26]
	A (Less Urgent)	1.11 [0.92, 1.30]	1.11 [0.71, 1.30] 1 20 [0 95 1 51]
	5 (Non-Urgent)	1.37 [0.70, 2.68]	1.27 [0.65, 2.51]

# Unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression (OR and 95% CI) of mechanical pain diagnosis on patient sex and other covariates among QEII ED LBP patients

Treatment in Emergency Care (Question 3) How is patient sex associated with receiving an opioid for the treatment of LBP?

Table 6 displays the results for unadjusted and adjusted logistic regressions for receiving an opioid in the ED on respondent sex and other covariates. Due to the limited sample size, I, with the help of my committee, selected variables for the adjusted analysis with high confidence of accurate measurement and a high likelihood of confounding the results if not included. For this reason, I did not use pain intensity, CIMD scores and presentation times. Sex was not significantly associated with receiving an opioid in the ED, in either the unadjusted model or adjusted model. I examined model residuals and there were no notable influential outliers. The Pearson goodness of fit test indicated the adjusted model was statistically significant (p = 0.42) and the area under the curve was 0.66. The adjusted model had the lowest Akaike information criterion (AIC). The null model had the lowest Bayesian information criterion (BIC), even compared to the unadjusted model with the lowest BIC, which only included length of stay as an independent variable.

<sup>\*</sup>denotes an odds ratio for which the p value is less than 0.05.\*\* for 0.01 and \*\*\*for 0.001 Odds ratios are derived from the logistic regression. The 95% confidence intervals are expressed as [lower band, upper band]. The reference category is denoted as 1.00 (ref) for each categorical variable.

Variable		Unadjusted	Adjusted
		Model	Model 1
Sex	Men	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
	Women	1.38[0.93, 2.05]	1.19 [0.77, 1.83]
Age	Years	1.01 [ 0.99, 1.02]	0.99 [ 0.98, 1.01]
Level of	Quintile 1	1.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	0.71 [0.32, 1.57]	
Residential	Quintile 3	0.52 [0.20, 1.36]	
Instability (5 is	Quintile 4	0.71 [0.33, 1.55]	
highest instability)	Quintile 5	0.68 [0.36, 1.27]	
Level of	Quintile 1	1.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	1.80 [1.10, 2.92]*	
Economic	Quintile 3	1.30 [0.71, 2.37]	
Dependency (5 is	Quintile 4	1.24 [0.62, 2.48]	
highest deprivation)	Quintile 5	1.37 [0.55, 3.39]	
Level of	Quintile 1	1.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	1.43 [0.28, 7.26]	
Ethnocultural	Quintile 3	0.90 [0.20, 4.08]	
Composition (5 is	Quintile 4	1.32 [0.34, 5.04]	
highest diversity)	Quintile 5	1.24 [0.34, 4.48]	
Level of	Quintile 1	1.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	0.96 [0.59, 1.57]	
Situational	Quintile 3	0.41 [0.20, 0.81]*	
Vulnerability (5 is	Quintile 4	0.54 [0.24, 1.23]	
highest vulnerability)	Quintile 5	0.51 [0.24, 1.05]	
Presentation Time	Presentation outside working	1.0 (ref)	-
of Day	hours		
-	Presentation during working	1.38 [0.92, 2.06]	
	hours of 9:00-17:00		
Presentation on	Presentation on weekday	1.0 (ref)	-
day of week	Presentation on weekend	0.90 [0.57, 1.41]	
Availability of	No	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Primary Care	Yes	2.951.38, 6.31]**	2.55 [1.13, 5.76]*
Pain intensity	0-10	0.97 [0.91, 1.04]	-
score			
Length of Stay	Number of hours	1.13 [1.05, 1.21]***	1.11 [1.03, 1.19]**
Canadian Triage	1 (Resuscitation)	-	-
and Acuity Scale	2 (Emergent)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
5	3 (Urgent)	0.45 [0.25, 0.81]**	0.53 [0.27, 1.02]
	4 (Less Urgent)	0.30 0.14, 0.64 **	0.38 0.14, 0.64
	5 (Non-Urgent)	-	-
Opioid Naivity	Opioid Naïve	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
r	Not Opioid Naive	2.91[1.39, 6.09]**	2.20 [0.84, 5.79]
*1 4 11			0.001.0.11

# Unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression (OR and 95% CI) of receiving opioid in ED on patient sex and other covariates among QEII ED LBP patients for Pyxis set

\*denotes an odds ratio for which the p value is less than 0.05.\*\* for 0.01 and \*\*\*for 0.001 Odds ratios are derived from the logistic regression. The 95% confidence intervals are expressed as [lower band, upper band]. The reference category is denoted as 1.00 (ref) for each categorical variable.

#### Secondary Analyses

I conducted secondary analyses to investigate the effect of sex on the nature of the opioid received in the ED. Table 7 shows the results of a linear regression for the total opioid dose delivered in the ED, as measured in morphine milligram equivalents (MME) per day. As described above, I selected variables for the adjusted analyses with high confidence of accurate measurement and a high likelihood of confounding the results if not included. There were few variables here that remained signifcant in both the unadjusted and adjusted model. Being a woman was associated with receiving approximately 7 MME less opioid than men in the ED in the unadjusted model; however, this finding was attenuated in the adjusted model. Low VIF values indicated that multicollinearity was not an issue. After examining the QQ plot and conducting a Cook-Weisberg heteroscedasticity test, found that at very extreme values, there was slight heteroscedasticity, but overall, most of the model was acceptable. The adjusted R<sup>2</sup> value was 0.21, and while the adjusted model AIC was lower than the null model AIC, the adjusted model BIC was larger than the null model BIC. The smallest BIC value was found to be for the unadjusted model where only drug type was used to predict the total MME.

A logistic regression analysis was planned for examining the odds of receiving a parenteral prescription, but the sample was small and and any analyses would have been underpowered. The only covariate that approached significance was the CTAS, where less urgency was associated with lower odds of receiving a parenteral opioid dose. Compared to an emergent score, an urgent score had an 68% lower odds of receiving a parenteral dose [aOR 0.32 (95 CI%: 0.12, 0.87)] and a less urgent score had 91% lower odds [aOR 0.09 (95% CI: 0.01, 0.81)].

41

Variable		Unadjusted Model	Adjusted Model 1
Sex	Men	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
	Women	-7.06 [-13.60, -0.52]*	-4.24 [-10.59, 2.11]
Age	Years	-0.15 [-0.33, 0.03]	-0.08 [-0.23, 0.07]
Level of	Quintile 1	0.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	8.58 [-4.34, 21.50]	
Residential	Quintile 3	6.71 [-9.19, 22.61]	
Instability (5 is	Quintile 4	9.93 [-2.61, 22.47]	
highest instability)	Quintile 5	2.17 [-7.86, 12.22]	
Level of	Quintile 1	0.0 ref	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	3.37 [-4.42, 11.16]	
Economic	Quintile 3	10.59 [0.76, 21.35]*	
Dependency (5 is	Quintile 4	-3.50 [-14.86, 7.85]	
highest deprivation)	Quintile 5	-9.26 [-23.98, 5.15]	
Level of	Quintile 1	0.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	-2.80 [-28.82, 23.22]	
Ethnocultural	Quintile 3	20.86 [-28.83, 45.44]	
Composition (5 is	Quintile 4	-8.82 [-60.59, 12.95]	
highest diversity)	Quintile 5	-2.11 [ -51.14, 18.81]	
Level of	Quintile 1	0.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	3.35 [-4.55, 11.26]	
Situational	Quintile 3	2.03 [-9.94, 14.01]	
Vulnerability (5 is	Quintile 4	-6.80 [-20.57, 6.97]	
highest	Quintile 5	13.16 [0.68, 25.64]*	
vulnerability)			
Presentation Time of	Presentation during working	0.0 (ref)	-
Day	hours of 8:00-17:00		
	Presentation outside working	2.32 [-4.42, 9.06]	
Durantet's a su des	hours	0.0.(	
Presentation on day	Presentation on weekday	0.0 (ref)	-
	N-	4.12 [-5.54, 11.05]	0.0 (
Availability of	NO Vez	0.0 (rel)	0.0 (ref)
Primary Care	1 es		9.40 [-0.42, 19.55]
Langth of Stay	0-10 Number of hours	-0.02 [-2.14, 2.09]	-
		-0.77 [-1.03, 0.12]	-0.30 [-1.24, 0.12]
Canadian Triage and	1 (Resuscitation)	-	-
Acuity Scale	2 (Emergent)	0.0 (ref)	
	5 (Urgent) 4 (Less Lincent)	1.11[-7.70, 9.98]	
	+ (Less Orgent) 5 (Non-Urgent)	0.20 [ -3.74, 18.30]	
Drug Tune	Hudromorphone		0.0 (ref)
Drug Type	Morphine	10.12 [ 17.62 2.62] **	7 33 [ 14 82 0 16]
	Codeine	$-10.13 [-17.03, -2.02]^{+1}$ 10/2[27.25 11.51]***	-7.55 [-14.62, 0.10] 10 12 [ 25 04 12 22]***
Opioid Naivity	Opioid Naïve	$\frac{-17.43 \left[-27.33, -11.31\right]^{-17}}{0.0 \text{ (ref)}}$	$\frac{-17.15 \left[-23.04, -13.25\right]^{-17}}{0.0 (ref)}$
Opioid matvily	Not Opioid Naive	12 15[1 82 22 40]*	14 62 [1 27 20 60]*
*1		$\frac{12.13[1.02, 22.49]}{12.13[1.02, 22.49]}$	14.02 [1.37, 30.00] <sup>*</sup>

# Unadjusted and adjusted linear regression (Coefficient and 95% CI) of opioid dose (MME) on patient sex and other covariates among QEII ED LBP patients in Pyxis set

\*denotes coefficients for which the p value is less than 0.05. Coefficients were derived from the linear regression. The 95% confidence intervals were expressed as [lower band, upper band]. The reference category was denoted as 1.00 (ref) for each categorical variable.

# Treatment after Emergency Care (Question 4)

How is patient sex associated with filling an opioid prescription?

Table 8 displays the results for unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression models of filling an opioid prescription within one month from an ED visit on patient sex and other covariates. While sex bordered on statistical significance in the unadjusted model, the adjusted model found that women had lower odds of filling a prescription than men. Clinical characteristics, such as a longer length of stay and CTAS score, were associated with an increase in the odds of filling a prescription. In contrast, a patient's reported pain score was not significant. Filling a prescription in the past six months for opioids, or not being opioid naïve, demonstrated a robust association with filling a prescription after this ED visit [aOR: 16.78 (95%CI: 11.18, 25.17)]. The area under the ROC curve was found to be 0.7412 and pseudo R<sup>2</sup> was 0.1586. The Pearson goodness of fit test indicated that the model had a statistically significant fit (p=0.33). Alternative models were considered with fewer variables, removing pain score or CIMD measurements, and the AIC and BIC were not meaningfully smaller (3195 vs 3175 for AIC and 3390 vs 3301 for BIC). Given that there was not a meaningful difference between the AIC and BIC, I used the planned adjusted model.

# Unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression (OR and 95% CI) of filling an opioid prescription after attending the QEII ED for LBP on patient sex and other covariates

Variable		Unadjusted	Adjusted
		Model	Model 1
Sex	Men	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
	Women	0.85 [0.73, 1.00]	0.72 [0.59, 0.88]***
Age	Years	1.02 [1.02, 1.03]***	1.02 [1.01, 1.02]***
Level of	Quintile 1	1.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	0.71 [0.52,0.96]*	
Residential	Quintile 3	0.55 [0.38, 0.80]**	
Instability (5 is	Quintile 4	0.81 [0.60, 1.09]	
highest instability)	Quintile 5	0.66 [0.52, 1.83]**	
Level of	Quintile 1	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	0.99 [0.80, 1.22]	1.01 [0.78, 1.31]
Economic	Quintile 3	1.00 [0.79, 1.27]	1.01 [0.76, 1.35]
Dependency (5 is	Quintile 4	0.85 [0.64, 1.13]	0.81 [0.57, 1.17]
highest deprivation)	Quintile 5	1.21 [ 0.84, 1.76]	1.07 [ 0.67, 1.73]
Level of	Quintile 1	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	1.40 [0.61, 3.21]	1.34 [0.50, 3.62]
Ethnocultural	Quintile 3	1.76 [0.83, 3.72]	1.66 [0.69, 3.98]
Composition (5 is	Quintile 4	1.56 [0.76, 3.19]	1.41 [0.60, 3.28]
highest diversity)	Quintile 5	1.83 [0.91, 3.69]	1.62 [0.71, 3.70]
Level of	Quintile 1	1.0 (ref)	-
Deprivation:	Quintile 2	0.88[0.71, 1.09]	
Situational	Quintile 3	0.71 [0.55 0.92]**	
Vulnerability (5 is	Quintile 4	0.65 [0.48 0.89]**	
highest	Quintile 5	0.61 [0.46, 0.82]**	
vulnerability)		0.01 [0.40, 0.02]	
Presentation Time of	Presentation outside working hours	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Day	Presentation during working hours of 9:00-17:00	1.21 [1.02, 1.42]*	1.11 [0.92, 1.35]
Presentation on day	Presentation on weekday	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
of week	Presentation on weekend	1.06 [0.89, 1.27]	1.08 [0.87, 1.35]
Availability of	No	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
Primary Care	Yes	2.90 [2.09, 4.0]***	1.91 [1.32, 2.79]***
Pain intensity score	0	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
5	1	0.80 [0.27, 2.43]	0.82 [0.26, 2.66]
	2	1.06 [0.59, 1.92]	0.89 [0.41, 1.92]
	3	0.82 [0.41, 1.65]	1.01 [0.47, 2.19]
	4	0.90 [0.52, 1.54]	0.94 [0.48, 1.84]
	5	0.89 0.56, 1.44	1.03 [0.57, 1.90]
	6	0.77 [0.46, 1.28]	0.82 [0.45, 1.49]
	7	0.87 [0.55, 1.35]	0.88 0.50, 1.55
	8	0.95 0.58, 1.52	1.12 [0.63, 1.99]
	9	0.97 [0.51, 1.83]	1.08 [0.51, 2.29]
	10	0.55 0.29, 1.03	0.73 [0.36, 1.50]
	Missing	0.77 [0.59, 1.01]	0.97 [0.69, 1.38]
Length of Stay	Number of hours	1.12 [1.08, 1.14]***	1.08 [ 1.03, 1.12]***
Canadian Triage and	1 (Resuscitation)	-	-
Acuity Scale	2 (Emergent)	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
	3 (Urgent)	0.53 [ 0.43, 0.66]***	0.59 [ 0.45, 0.77]***
	4 (Less Urgent)	0.28 [ 0.21, 0.37]***	0.41 [ 0.30, 0.58]***
	5 (Non-Urgent)	0.06 [ 0.01, 0.46]**	0.07 [ 0.01, 0.74]*
Opioid Naivity	Yes	1.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
	No	21.1 [ 15.12, 29.46]***	16.78 [ 11.18, 25.17]***

\*denotes an odds ratio for which the p value is less than 0.05.\*\* for 0.01 and \*\*\*for 0.001 Odds ratios are derived from the logistic regression. The 95% confidence intervals are expressed as [lower band, upper band]. The reference category is denoted as 1.00 (ref) for each categorical variable.

#### Secondary Analyses

I conducted secondary analyses for this question to examine how sex was associated with the nature of the prescription. To examine this outcome in more depth, I ran a linear regression to examine differences in opioid dose among those filling an opioid prescription within one month of their ED visit. Table 9 has further details on the unadjusted and adjusted models. Sex was not statistically significant in either the unadjusted or the adjusted model. Few variables showed statistical and meaningful differences. As per my analysis plan, economic dependency and ethnocultural composition were included in the adjusted model, but ethnocultural composition had to be dropped after it was found to have high multicollinearity. I plotted and examined Pearson and deviance residuals, and included influential outliers in the model as they did not appear to be errors. The outlying residuals were likely due to smaller lengths of stay than the majority of the sample. It is important to acknowledge, however, that this model was found to have heterscedascity. I examined the QQ plot of residuals and this indicated that residuals were acceptable for the majority of the model, with the exception of very high values. I attempted transformation of the data, but the transformation for this model resulted in a less favourable QQ residual plot. This model, therefore, is best suited to predicting the dose with no transformation, but caution is needed at very low or very high doses.

# Unadjusted and adjusted linear regression (Coefficient and 95% CI) of opioid dose from pharmacy on patient sex and other covariates among QEII ED LBP patients

Variable		Unadjusted	Adjusted
9	M	Model	
Sex	Men	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
	Voors	-3.29 [-7.51, 0.92]	
Age Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1	$-0.51$ $[-0.42, -0.19]^{+++}$	-0.23 [ -0.37, -0.13]
Desidential Instability (5 is	Quintile 1 Quintile 2	8 50 [ 16 40 0 50]*	-
highest instability)	Quintile 2 Quintile 3	-4.03 [-13.75, 5.67]	
ingliest instability)	Quintile 4	-1 19 [-8 76 6 39]	
	Quintile 5	-7.66 [-13.571.76]*	
Level of Deprivation:	Ouintile 1	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
Economic dependency (5	Ouintile 2	-0.61 [-6.10, 4.87]	-1.19 [-6.76, 4.38]
is highest deprivation)	Quintile 3	-1.55 [-7.72, 4.63]	-1.50 [-8.56, 5.55]
	Quintile 4	-6.47 [-13.84, 0.89]	-1.73 [-8.40, 4.94]
	Quintile 5	3.31 [-6.12, 12.74]	5.18 [-5.03, 15.39]
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1	0.0 (ref)	-
Ethnocultural Composition	Quintile 2	26.14 [4.06, 48.23]*	
(5 is highest diversity)	Quintile 3	17.52 [-2.45, 37.49]	
	Quintile 4	13.73 [-5.53, 32.98]	
	Quintile 5	8.23 [ -10.54, 27.00]	
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1	0.0 (ref)	-
Situational Vulnerability	Quintile 2	4.99 [-0.41, 10.38]	
(5 is highest vulnerability)	Quintile 3	5.38 [-1.28, 12.05]	
	Quintile 4	7.33 [-0.78, 15.44]	
	Quintile 5	4.21 [-3.51, 11.92]	0.0.( <b>0</b>
Presentation Time of Day	Presentation outside working hours	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
	Presentation during working hours of 9:00-17:00	-2.91 [ -7.18, 1.36]	-2.76 [ -7.00, 1.49]
Presentation on day of	Presentation on weekday	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
week	Presentation on weekend	-1.94 [-6.65, 2.76]	-0.34 [-4.90, 4.23]
Availability of Primary	No	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
Care	Yes	-12.9/[-21.76, -4.18]**	-12.20 [ -26.41, 2.00]
Pain intensity score	0	0.0 (ref)	-
	1	-22.50 [-51.23, 6.23]	
	2	-5.05 [-20.00, 9.90]	
	3	-11.12 [-29.15, 0.69]	
	4	-1.39 [-13.31, 12.12] 1.60 [ 13.24, 11.00]	
	5	-1.00 [-13.24, 11.00] 0.21 [ 4.02, 22.45]	
	7	-7 33 [-18 78 4 11]	
	8	-7.55 [-10.76, 4.11]	
	9	13 03 [-3 19 29 26]	
	10	-5 48 [-22 24 11 26]	
	Missing	-1.73 [-8.49, 5.02]	
Length of Stav	Number of hours	-0.40 [ -0.89, 0.08]	-0.24 [ -0.72, 0.24]
Canadian Triage and	1 (Resuscitation)	-	-
Acuity Scale	2 (Emergent)	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
J.	3 (Urgent)	-7.29 [-12.38, -2.20]**	-6.00 [-11.97, -0.36]*
	4 (Less Urgent)	-7.27 [-14.51, -0.04]*	-6.04 [-13.10, 1.07]
	5 (Non-Urgent)	-8.77 [-64.90, 47.35]	-15.78 [-23.14, -8.43]***
Opioid Type	Hydromorphone	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
	Morphine	-12.83 [-18.24, -7.42]***	-13.25 [-19.35, -7.14]***
	Codeine	-16.52 [-22.11, -10.93]***	-15.26 [-19.90, -10.61]***
	Tramadol	-27.03 [-35.28, -18.77]***	-27.80 [-32.71, -22.88]***
Opioid Naivity	Yes	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
	INO	2.43 [ -2.33, /.39]	2.35 [ -3.83, 8.48]

\* denotes coefficients for which the p value is less than 0.05. Coefficients derived from the linear regression. The 95% confidence intervals are expressed as [lower band, upper band]. The reference category is denoted as 1.00 (ref) for each categorical variable. An example is placed in the row for the variable of sex.

To examine if there was any difference in days supply, I ran a linear regression to assess the relationship between these variables and the number of days' supply. Table 10 shows the results for the unadjusted and adjusted models. Sex was associated with about one extra days' supply in the unadjusted model, but this was attenuated in the adjusted model. I checked multicollinearity and observed no issues. Residuals were distributed normally in this model. After examining the QQ plot and doing the Cook-Weisberg test, I found no heteroscedascity present in this model. I attempted transformation of the data, but heteroscedascity remained. The adjusted R<sup>2</sup> was found to be 0.17, and the AIC and BIC values were improved for the adjusted model over the null model and unadjusted models. Sensitivity analyses conducted with opioid naivety found that there was no significant difference between opioid naïve patients and patients who had been prescribed opioids between 6 and 12 months prior or longer than 12 months prior. I investigated interaction terms with marginal effect plots and found no significant interactions between sex and any of the variables.

# Unadjusted and adjusted linear regression (Coefficient and 95% CI) of days' supply from pharmacy on patient sex and other covariates among QEII ED LBP patients

Variable		Unadjusted	Adjusted
		Model	Model 1
Sex	Men	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
	Women	0.96 [ 0.02, 1.89]*	0.58 [ -0.46, 1.62]
Age	Years	0.07 [0.05, 0.10]***	0.05 [0.02, 0.08]***
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1	0.0 (ref)	-
Residential Instability	Quintile 2	1.44 [-0.33, 3.21]	
(5 is highest	Quintile 3	1.25 [-0.92, 3.43]	
instability)	Quintile 4	-0.15 [-1.84, 1.55]	
	Quintile 5	1.03 [-0.29, 2.35]	
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
Economic	Quintile 2	0.27 [-0.95, 1.49]	-0.09 [-1.26, 1.08]
Dependency (5 is	Quintile 3	1.71 [0.34, 3.09]*	1.37 [-0.20, 2.95]
highest deprivation)	Quintile 4	2.02 [0.38, 3.66]*	1.09 [-1.10, 3.29]
T 1 (D	Quintile 5	1.00 [-1.10, 3.09]	0.41[-1.81, 3.78]
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile I	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
Ethnocultural	Quintile 2	-2.93 [-7.90, 2.05]	-3.62 [-7.27, 0.03]
Composition (5 is	Quintile 3	-2.21 [-6./1, 2.29]	-3.66 [-/.2/, -0.04]*
highest diversity)	Quintile 4	-1.97 [-6.30, 2.37]	-3.01 [-6.48, 0.45]
	Quintile 5	-1.17[-5.40, 3.05]	-2.97 [-6.31, 0.38]
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile I	0.0  (ref)	-
Situational	Quintile 2	-1.66 [-2.87, -0.46]**	
Vulnerability (5 is	Quintile 3	-0.55 [-2.04, 0.94]	
highest vulnerability)	Quintile 4	-1.09 [-2.90, 0.72]	
		0.07[-1.65, 1.79]	
Presentation Time of	resentation during working hours	0.0  (ref)	0.0 (ref)
Day	of 9:00-17:00	-0.11 [-1.06, 0.85]	-0.23 [-0.47, 1.77]
D ( ( 1 C	Presentation outside working hours		0( 0
Presentation on day of	Presentation on weekend	0.0 (ref)	0(ref)
Avoilability of	No.	$\frac{0.80[-0.25, 1.85]}{0.0 (rof)}$	0.04[-1.20, 0.74]
Availability of Primary Care	NO Ves	1.49[0.48, 3.46]	1 13 [0.52 2.78]
Pain intensity score	0	$\frac{1.49 \left[-0.46, 5.40\right]}{0.0 \text{ (ref)}}$	1.15 [-0.52, 2.78]
I all intensity score	1	16 30 [10 06 22 55]***	-
	2	7 22 [3 97 10 47]***	
	3	1 90 [-2 02 5 81]	
	4	1 18 [-1 79 4 17]	
	5	2 39 [-0 24 5 03]	
	6	0 11 [-2 77 2 99]	
	7	2 62 [0 14 5 11] *	
	8	1.05 [-1.59, 3.68]	
	9	4.59 [1.06, 8.11]	
	10	-0.43 [-4.39, 3.21]	
	Missing	1.28 [-0.19, 2.75]	
Length of Stav	Number of hours	0.11 [0.00, 0.22]*	0.04 [-0.09, 0.17]
Canadian Triage and	1 (Resuscitation)	-	-
Acuity Scale	2 (Emergent)	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
	3 (Urgent)	1.02 [-0.12, 2.16]	0.76 [-0.51, 2.03]
	4 (Less Urgent)	1.01 [-0.61, 2.63]	0.83 [-0.82, 2.48]
	5 (Non-Urgent)	-3.88 [ -16.44, 8.68]	-2.44 [ -4.13, -0.76]*
Opioid Type	Hydromorphone	0.0 (ref)	1.0 (ref)
r, r-	Morphine	-1.14 [-2.36, 0.07]	-1.35 [-2.36, 0.24]
	Codeine	2.55 [1.29, 3.82]***	2.64 [0.94, 4.34]**
	Tramadol	5.60 [3.74, 7.46]***	6.10 [3.46, 8.74]***
Opioid Naivity	Yes	0.0 (ref)	0.0 (ref)
1	No	3.42 [ 2.34, 4 50]***	3.97 [ 2.40, 5.53]***
	1.0	······································	······································

\* denotes coefficients for which the p value is less than 0.05, and\*\* for 0.01 and \*\*\* for 0.001. Coefficients are derived from the linear regression. 95% The confidence intervals are expressed as [lower band, upper band]. The reference category is denoted as 1.00 (ref) for each categorical variable.

I conducted another planned analysis to examine sex differences in the odds of being given a prescription that did not adhere to CDC guidelines. This was a small proportion of the overall sample, where only 53 (7.5%) prescriptions had a dose over 90 MME per day, with 8.6% of men and 6.2% of women receiving a prescription that did not follow CDC guidelines. After running a logistic regression, being a woman was not significantly associated with a dose that did not follow CDC guidelines in either the unadjusted regression [OR: 0.70 (95%CI: 0.40, 1.25)] or the adjusted regression [aOR: 0.77 (95%CI: 0.40, 1.48)]. The only variable significantly associated with being prescribed a dose that followed CDC guidelines was age, where for every ten years gained, a person was 17 percent more likely to be prescribed a dose that followed CDC guidelines [aOR of a dose that did not follow CDC guidelines: 0.982 (95%CI: 0.967, 0.998)].

#### Sensitivity Analyses

Originally, I had planned a logistic regression for determining if sex and gender were associated with filling a prescription above 90 MME, however, this definition only applied to small number of cases in the ED and an analysis was not possible. A sensitivity analysis was conducted with prescriptions above 50 MME instead. For treatment post ED, a total of 188 cases (26.5%) had prescriptions above 50 MME. A total of 77 women (22.8%) and 111 men (29.8%) were prescribed more than 50 MME per day. This analysis found that in an unadjusted model, a woman had 0.69 odds [95% CI: 0.49, 0.97] of being prescribed a prescription over 50 MME, but this did not remain significant in the adjusted model.

I conducted sensitivity analyses to see if sex and gender were associated with having a prescription of three or five days. A total of 324 (45.6%) of the people who filled prescriptions had more than three days supply, and 185 (26.1%) had prescriptions with longer than five days supply. A subset of 162 (47.9%) women had prescriptions longer than three days and 101 (29.9%) had prescriptions over five days. There were 162 (43.6%) men who also had prescriptions longer than three days and 84 (22.6%) had prescriptions over five days. Sex was not significant for predicting who filled a prescription over three days and was not significant in predicting filling more than five days' supply after adjusting for drug type prescribed. Sensitivity analysis conducted with opioid naivety found that being prescribed opioids within

the past 6 months was significantly associated with filling an opioid prescription, but that being prescribed opioid 6-12 months prior, or more than 12 months prior, were not significantly associated with filling a prescription in the adjusted model.

I also conducted a sex-stratified logistic regression to investigate the odds of filling a prescription. There were very few considerable differences between men and women in the analysis, where the same covariates were statistically significant for both models. After examining both models, the confidence intervals for each variable overlapped, indicating that estimates did not differ significantly between the men and women's models. Although not statistically significant, one potentially notable difference between the models was the opioid naivety of the patient. For men, not being opioid naïve had 24 times higher odds of a filling a prescription [aOR: 24.41 (95%CI: 13.92, 42.83)], compared to women where not being opioid naïve had 12 times higher odds [aOR: 12.34 (95%CI: 7.85, 19.39)].

### Summary of Results

Table 11 shows a summary of each of the reported statistical analysis outcomes from the previous sections.

### Summary table of relevant outcomes for men and women from previous sections

Outcome	Analysis Type	Regression Type		Adjusted Model	
How is patient sex associated with low back pain diagnosis? (Question 2)					
Odds of receiving a mechanical pain diagnosis <sup>a</sup>	Primary	Logistic	Men Women	1.00 (ref) 0.79 [0.69, 0.91]***	
How is patient sex associated with receiving an opioid for the treatment of low back pain? (Question 3)					
Odds of receiving an opioid in ED <sup>b</sup>	Primary	Logistic	Men Women	1.00 (ref) 1.19 [0.77, 1.83]	
Total dose received in ED <sup>c</sup>	Secondary	Linear	Men Women	0.00 (ref) -4.24 [-10.59, 2.11]	
How is patient sex associated with filling an opioid prescription? (Question 4)					
Odds of filling an opioid prescription <sup>a</sup>	Primary	Logistic	Men Women	1.00 (ref) 0.72 [0.59, 0.88]***	
Dose of the opioid prescription <sup>d</sup>	Secondary	Linear	Men Women	0.00 (ref) -0.70 [-5.70, 4.30]	
Days' supply of the opioid prescription <sup>e</sup>	Secondary	Linear	Men Women	0.00 (ref) 0.58 [ -0.46, 1.62]	
Odds of a prescription against CDC guidelines <sup>e</sup>	Secondary	Logistic	Men Women	1.00 (ref) 0.77 [0.40, 1.48]	

\* denotes outcomes for which the p value is less than 0.05, and\*\* for 0.01 and \*\*\*for 0.001. For logistic regressions, odds ratios are reported and men as the reference category are denoted as 1.00 (ref). For linear regressions, coefficients are reported and men as the reference category are denoted as 0.00 (ref). Confidence intervals are expressed as [lower band, upper band].

<sup>a</sup> adjusted for age, economic dependency, ethnocultural composition, availability of primary care provider, presentation time of day, presentation on weekend, pain intensity score, length of stay, CTAS score

<sup>b</sup> adjusted for age, availability of primary care provider, length of stay, CTAS score, opioid naiviety

<sup>c</sup> adjusted for age, availability of primary care provider, length of stay, CTAS score, opioid naiviety, drug type

<sup>d</sup> adjusted for age, economic dependency, availability of primary care provider, presentation time of day, presentation on weekend, length of stay, CTAS score

<sup>e</sup> adjusted for age, economic dependency, ethnocultural composition, availability of primary care provider, presentation time of day, presentation on weekend, length of stay, CTAS score

# **CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION**

### Statement of Principal Findings

When examining sex differences in the experience of attending the ED for LBP, the results of this study were mixed, possibly due to the limitations in sample size for the Pyxis database, hindering analysis of opioid administration in the ED. There appeared to be little difference in the proportion of men and women attending the ED for LBP; however, there were significant demographic and clinical differences between the men and women attending the ED. I found sex was associated with the odds of a mechanical pain diagnosis after adjustment for demographic and clinical characteristics, although the model had very poor overall fit. No effect of sex on opioid administration in the ED was detected, although it is likely that this dataset was too underpowered to detect a small effect. Indeed, for the larger dataset, I found that men were more likely to fill an opioid prescription after attending the ED, although there were no detected differences in the dose, days' supply, or odds of adhering to prescribing guidelines after adjustment for demographic and clinical characteristics.

#### Study Findings in Relation to Other studies

The similar proportion of men and women attending the ED in this study was comparable to other studies, which also found little difference in the number of men and women presenting to the ED for LBP. Waterman et al. found that men comprised 51.5% episodes of LBP presentations, while women accounted for 48.5% in the National Electronic Injury Surveillance System (NEISS) database, comprised of more than 52 000 United States ED visits between 2004 and 2008.<sup>154</sup> Another study, examining a single ED in Alberta from 2017 to 2018, found that 50.2% of LBP presentations were men.<sup>155</sup> Drazin et al. used the Nationwide Inpatient Sample (NIS) database to examine LBP admissions to hospitals between 1998 and 2007 in the United States, and found that 62.6% of presentations were women.<sup>156</sup> Another study in three Australian hospitals reported that 60% of patients admitted to the hospital after attending the ED were women, so it is possible that women are more likely to be admitted to the hospital after attending the ED for LBP, something that this study was unable to examine due to insufficient numbers.<sup>157</sup>

When examining treatment in the ED, this study found that 23.4% of LBP patients were given an opioid during presentation. Kamper et al. did a systematic review and reported finding

a range of 17% to 61% of patients receiving opioids in the ED for LBP, so variation in this area has already been documented.<sup>132</sup> One study conducted in Brazil with four EDs found that 22% of patients presenting to the ED between 2014 and 2016 with LBP were administered opioids.<sup>158</sup> Another study examining a single ED in the state of Utah found that 35.9% of patients were given opioids in the ED.<sup>159</sup> When examining the odds of receiving an opioid and the dose, there were no statistically significant differences between men and women. Lau et al. also found no differences in the odds of opioid administration for men and women for most reasons for attending the ED, and this was also the case for back pain.<sup>160</sup> Another study conducted in Colorado examining opioid naïve patients found that both 41% of men attending and 41% of women were administered opioids in the ED after a diagnosis of LBP.<sup>161</sup>

Opioid prescribing after presentation to the ED due to LBP has varied across studies. In our study, 18.8% of men and 16.5% of women filled a prescription after attendance to the ED. One study set also in Nova Scotia found that 24.4% of LBP patients from 2010 - 2017 filled an opioid prescription within 7 days of attending the ED, although it is important to acknowledge that this data may have had some overlap with my own, as it included 2016 and 2017.<sup>140</sup> One study examining opioid prescribing for acute LBP in a workers compensation database in the US found 12% of participants filled an opioid prescription, although they only looked at those who filled within 2 days, which may partly explain why this estimate is lower than the estimate in this study.<sup>141</sup>

After adjusting for potential confounders, our study found that men had 39% higher odds of filling a prescription [aOR of women filling a prescription: 0.72 (95% CI 0.59, 0.88)]. In contrast to my results, a study examining outpatient opioid prescription dispensing found that women had 1.5 higher odds of filling a prescription in 2018.<sup>118</sup> One study examining opioid initiation for pain management in Ontario in 2015-2016 found that women comprised a slightly higher proportion of opioid prescriptions filled for musculoskeletal pain than men (52% vs 48%).<sup>162</sup>

After assessing guideline compliance, a smaller proportion of cases than expected were found not to adhere to the CDC guidelines. Only 7.5% of prescriptions had daily MME values of over 90 MME per day, and only 26.5 % of prescriptions were over the softer guidelines of 50 MME per day. A study conducted in Ontario examining initiations of opioid prescriptions

53

found that 20.6% of opioid prescriptions in 2016 and 13.9% in 2019 for LBP were over 50 MME per day.<sup>163</sup> There were no detected differences in the odds of receiving a prescription against prescribing guidelines for men and women in this study after adjustment for confounding variables.

The CTAS score of a patient was consistently associated with the odds of receiving or filling an opioid prescription as well as opioid dose, days supply, and strength. Previous research that has found that a lower CTAS score, or more urgent score, is associated with a higher chance of receiving opioids.<sup>160,164,165</sup> CTAS scores have been previously documented to be highly associated with the odds of consultation, admission, length of stay, hospital costs, and the likelihood of dying.<sup>166</sup> Although women were slightly more likely to be assigned a lower CTAS score, this did not necessarily translate to an increase in the odds of receiving an opioid prescription. After further investigation, CTAS scores and sex did not appear to interact in this study.

While CTAS was strongly associated with opioid prescriptions in this study, patient reported pain scale did not have any consistent association with opioid prescription. Men and women had similar mean pain scores in this study, as did those who did and did not receive an opioid, either during attendance or after attending the ED. Interestingly, there appeared to be no association between a patient's reported pain score and receiving an opioid in ED or filling an opioid after attending the ED in this study. Other studies have found that higher pain scores are associated with a greater likelihood of receiving opioids.<sup>167,168</sup> Some past literature has found that patient and healthcare provider perceptions' of pain do not always align.<sup>169–171</sup> A large number of pain scale scores were missing in this data, which is associated with both a greater likelihood of analgesic administration in the ED.<sup>168,171–173</sup> There may be several potential reasons why patient pain was less associated with opioid prescription than CTAS score, although potentially the healthcare provider's perception of pain.

Other studies have examined sex with other factors such as race and socioeconomic status. This study used CIMD, which proved to be a variable with inconsistent trends when used in statistical analysis. As CIMD is not collected at the individual level, it is important to

54

consider other studies' findings. Previous studies have found that Non-Hispanic whites have been consistently more likely to receive opioids, compared to Black individuals and Hispanic individuals.<sup>174–177</sup> Lower socioeconomic status has also been found to be associated with a lower likelihood of opioid prescription.<sup>177</sup>

Another aspect of this study is that it included the beginning of the coronavirus pandemic 2019 (COVID-19), which became a national emergency. This may have impacted the results of this study, specifically for 2020. This would have been particularly relevant for the Pyxis dataset, which was only available during this time. During this period of COVID-19, ED visits declined significantly.<sup>178,179</sup> It is possible that the results for 2020, especially for the Pyxis dataset, may represent a sample not representative of non-pandemic times. Given that people were being advised to stay home, it is possible that the study sample is biased to more severe cases, as participants presented to the ED despite a pandemic. A study conducted in the United States found that women were less likely to attend the ED during a state declaration of emergency due to COVID-19 than men, where visits by men decreased by 30 percent from 2019 while visits by women decreased by 40%.<sup>180</sup> If women were less likely than men to attend the ED for low back pain during the pandemic, it is possible that only women with the more severe LBP attended the ED, where there may have been men that presented with less severe cases. This would have been more evident in the Pyxis dataset. While these differences between men and women were not statistically significantly different, women did report a slightly higher pain intensity score and were slightly less likely to be assigned the non-urgent or less urgent CTAS score than men. Despite this, there was no difference in the odds of being administered an opioid in the ED. If the Pyxis data had been available for a period not influenced by the pandemic, it is possible that we may have observed that men had slightly higher odds of being administered an opioid as was observed in the odds of filling a prescription.

### Strengths and weaknesses of the study

This study has several strengths. Most importantly, it addressed a gap in the evidence on the role of sex in a patient's interaction with the healthcare system. Specifically, pain management and substance use were, and continue to be, two areas that require more study. An examination of sex differences on opioid prescribing allowed further insight on how sex can influence one's interactions with the healthcare system, which may result in consequences on overall health. LBP was an effective condition for this research to examine, given its high prevalence in the population, as well as its high rate of opioid prescription, specifically for LBP and emergency care.

Another strength was in the study's capture of several years of administrative data. For the Non-Pyxis dataset for Question 1,2, and 4, I had sufficient statistical power to detect smaller clinical and demographic differences, as well as smaller effect sizes. Given that there were a high number of presentations to the QEII ED, and this study contained one dataset with nearly four years of data, there was a large sample size. Although there was high missingness for a patient's pain score, there was extremely low missingness for all other variables, so most patients had complete data

The use of entanglement was another strength in this study. By using entanglement, I could acknowledge that gender and sex are likely interacting. As I discuss below in my implications section, men had greater odds of filling a prescription than women after attending the ED. Because I have used the concept of entanglement, I could discuss the societal and cultural factors that may lead to these results, such as gender roles and expectations of men and women. If I were to only consider sex, I would be unable to consider how the patients' behaviour, and healthcare providers' perceptions of patients, may play a role in the association with the different outcomes measured in this study. This could lead to potentially erroneous conclusions, or perhaps missing some of the nuances of the implications of my findings. For example, if I had examined sex alone, I may have concluded that men are filling more prescriptions due to biology, perhaps because men's physiology leads to higher pain or that women have a higher pain tolerance than men. But while gender was absent from the administrative data, that does not mean it was absent in the study. It was important, therefore, to use the concept of entanglement for considering the implications of my results.

There are potential limitations to this study. Some of the key limitations are related to the sample size of the Pyxis dataset for Question 3, which investigated opioid administration in the ED, limitations in the scope of health administrative data collection, and the definitions of certain variables. Below, I discuss these limitations.

First, the data for BD Pyxis<sup>TM</sup> MedStation<sup>TM</sup> ES was only available for a section of the study. This limits the sample size for the investigation of opioid administration in the ED. This means that smaller effect sizes could not be detected with this sample. If the effect size was smaller than what was detectable, this study may have concluded that there was no evidence to support sex differences in opioid administration in the ED, even if there was a true sex difference. This study, therefore, was susceptible to Type II error.

Given that the data comes from administrative health data, there are limitations in the variables provided. Some variables that were not included in this dataset may affect the outcome in this study; for example, no other health history was collected for the patients. Substance use disorders have been observed as predictors of more frequent presentations to the ED.<sup>181</sup> Another variable not included was comorbidities such as depression, anxiety or other chronic pain conditions, which have been also documented to increase likelihood of presentation.<sup>181</sup> Given that women are more likely to have chronic conditions, as well as certain mental illnesses such as anxiety and depression, this may have acted as a confounding variable when examining sex and ED presentation.<sup>37,182</sup> Race has previously also been noted to influence likelihood of receiving opioids in the ED, where black patients are less likely to receive pain management.<sup>177,183,184</sup> Physician sex has also been observed to influence the likelihood of the patient receiving an opioid prescription as well as the nature of the prescription.<sup>68–70</sup> Education and income have also been documented to influence likelihood of receiving opioids, where high socioeconomic status patients are more likely to receive opioids and less educated patients are also more likely to receive opioids.<sup>177,185</sup> While the CIMD score was available, CIMD only estimated level of deprivation, and did not provide information on the individual.

The second potential limitation was the disconnect between data on who had filled prescriptions after attending the ED, and confirmation of what prescriptions were written in the ED. This caused two potential issues. The first is that I was unable to be certain that the prescription filled was written by a healthcare provider in the ED and had to assume that this prescription came from the ED. I attempted to mitigate this by limiting the time of the prescription to one month within an ED visit, but it is still possible that I may have included opioid prescriptions that were written for reasons that were unrelated to the ED presentation. The second potential issue is that I was unable to determine if there were sex differences in the patient's odds of being written a prescription in the ED. So while I could observe who has filled the prescriptions, I could not be certain of what proportion of the people who were written a prescription by a healthcare provider then proceeded to go to a pharmacy and fill these prescriptions.

The third potential area of limitation was in the definition of opioid-naïve. Opioid-naïve was defined as no opioid prescriptions in the previous six months. Although sensitivity analyses found no difference between opioid naïve patients and those who had received an opioid more than six months prior, it is possible that there may have been an undetected effect. It is also possible that the participant had been consuming non-prescription opioids. Given that men are more likely to receive opioids from an illegitimate source, this may have affected the results in the study.<sup>8</sup> Additionally, some patients may have received opioids in ambulatory care, which may have impacted the likelihood of receiving opioids in the ED. In another study that used this data, this was found to apply to only a small proportion of patients.<sup>145</sup>

The fourth limitation in this study was the lack of capacity to incorporate gender fully into the analysis. While gender roles may play a role in behaviours and cultural expectations of clients, this study does not have measures for gender, and cannot create a gender index with the information given. I was unable to capture any transgender or non-binary individuals, as health administrative data does not record a patient's gender identity. For this reason, there is a limitation on our ability to interpret any differences for individuals whose gender identity does not align with their sex.

# Meaning of the study: possible mechanisms and implications for clinicians or policymakers

One of the most meaningful study results was that men had 39% higher odds of filling a prescription at a pharmacy after attending the ED than women. There are two potential explanations for this result. First, men and women were equally as likely to receive a prescription from a health care provider at the ED, but men were more likely to fill this prescription. There is some evidence to support this conclusion. A study examining gender differences in analgesic prescribing for LBP in Israel found little difference in the proportion of men and women that received opioids (23% vs 22% respectively).<sup>186</sup> Studies examining other health conditions have found that men and women can be similarly likely to be given a

prescription for opioids.<sup>160,187</sup> If men and women were receiving opioid prescriptions at a similar rate for comparable back pain, then this would mean that these differences were not the result of differential treatment from healthcare providers, but rather that the sex differences in prescriptions filled were the result of differences in behaviour. If this is to be attributed to sex, it could be due sex differences in the experience of LBP, but previous evidence has found that there was no evidence of sex differences in LBP overall prognosis, or even that women with LBP tend to have worse functional capacity than men with LBP.<sup>126,128</sup> I would hypothesize that gendered behaviour, however, would be more likely. One potential explanation could be related to cost. One study examining cost-related adherence to prescription drugs found that women in Canada were more likely to forgo a prescription due to its cost than men, possibly due to having a lower socioeconomic status.<sup>188</sup> Given that the women included in this study were statistically more likely to come from postal codes that had higher levels of economic dependency, it is possible some women in this study did not fill prescriptions due to a lack of funds. Another possible explanation could be in the gender roles as related to occupation, as traditionally masculine occupations with heavy lifting or driving commercially, or with high levels of mechanical low back pain load, can lead to LBP.<sup>189,190</sup> If men's LBP is related to their occupation, they may feel more pressure to address the pain for a faster recovery and return to work, especially if they are the primary source of income for their family. This could lead to more willingness to fill their opioid prescriptions. Additionally, previous studies have indicated that women may feel stigma around using opioids, especially if they are mothers, as this deviates from traditional gender expectations of being responsible and suitable carers, which may have resulted in some women being less likely to fill their prescriptions.<sup>191,192</sup> Given that men and women had no statistically significant differences in the nature of their prescriptions, such as dose or days' supply, this provides potential evidence that there was not differential treatment from healthcare providers.

A second explanation could be that men and women filled prescriptions at the same rate, but men were more likely to receive an opioid prescription when attending the ED. There has been some previous evidence that there is no difference between men and women in the likelihood of filling an opioid prescription after ED discharge.<sup>193</sup> One study that examined receipt of an opioid and filling of an opioid after attendance to the ED contained data that showed that men and women were similarly likely to fill a prescription, where 71% of men and

73% of women filled a prescription if they received one.<sup>194</sup> There is evidence to support that men are more likely to receive opioid prescriptions than women for other non-cancer pain conditions.<sup>176</sup> If this is the case, and men are more likely to receive an opioid prescription than women, this may be the result of differential treatment from healthcare providers. A potential explanation could be related to both sex and gender; men have been historically observed to have a higher pain tolerance, possibly due to biological sex factors such as hormonal fluctuations or gendered factors such as being less willing to report pain.<sup>38,195,196</sup> Given that men historically have had the reputation of being less likely to report pain and to have higher pain tolerances, it is possible that health care providers may have believed that if a man was attending the ED for pain, he was in more pain than he may have indicated in his pain score, and therefore, the health care provider may have been more willing to write a prescription for opioids.

Although not a primary or secondary outcome of this study, it was interesting to see that women had longer lengths of stay than men in both the Pyxis and Non-Pyxis database, waiting 46 and 30 minutes longer respectively on average. Indeed, although marginally significant, they also waited longer for opioid analgesia in the Pyxis dataset. Women have been observed to have longer wait times in other health studies as well.<sup>197,198</sup> Previous studies have also observed longer wait times for women to be treated or to see a doctor.<sup>199,200</sup>. Given that women were observed to have longer wait times, it is possible that there may be differential treatment, although women were also more likely to be assigned lower (and more urgent) CTAS scores which could have also resulted in a longer visit.

This may be an area where future research could be focused. A future study would be useful to investigate whether men and women are receiving prescriptions at the same rate, and men are more likely to fill them, or if there is differential treatment from health care providers. Given that there were similar average pain intensity scores for men and women, and women were statistically more likely to be assigned to more urgent CTAS scores, one would expect that they would be either similarly likely to fill a prescription or women would be more likely to fill a prescription. Without recording both the receipt of a prescription and the filling of the prescription, it is difficult to be certain about the implications of this finding. For future research, another useful addition would be to include variables that were not available in this study. If gender and sex were both collected, transgendered and non-binary individuals could be controlled for in the analysis. To further investigate how sex and gender influence experiences in the health care system, the physician's gender could also be analyzed. Gender may impact the behaviour of the patient, but it also impacts how they are perceived by others. It would be interesting to further investigate how physician gender and patient gender interact. Previous evidence has found that physician sex may impact the care of patients, and given that it may have impacted patient care in this study, it would be good to incorporate in future research.<sup>68,70</sup> Other variables discussed above, such as race, education level or income, could also be incorporated to further investigate how a person's identity influences their experiences in the healthcare system.

While this study reported that men were more likely to fill a prescription, I had insufficient power to make conclusions on the administration of opioids in the ED. For future research, a study with more statistical power could further advance the knowledge of sex differences in treatment within the ED. Data limitations in this study make conclusions about this area tentative.

This study makes several important contributions to the field and can attend to multiple gaps in the literature. To date, there has been a lack of research on how sex may influence one's experiences navigating the healthcare system. From this study, we can examine how interacting with the healthcare system can lead to different treatment for men and women. This study showed that even with a similar condition, men were filling more prescriptions than women after attending the ED, despite attending with a similar pain intensity and a less urgent CTAS score.

In addition, this research adds to the body of evidence examining how sex may impact how people are able to access health care, which can help further research in identifying inherent biases and potential structural inequalities in the healthcare system. It may act as the foundation for later research, which can build on whether men are more likely to receive analgesia, and pain management, than women who present with a similar condition.

61

This study may help to inform how sex impacts opioid prescriptions in ED, which has the potential to impact opioid harms. Future research may focus on how sex differences in opioid prescriptions and uptake may lead to sex differences in opioid harms. Understanding sex differences in prescribing patterns and uptake of opioids may lead to a better understanding of sex differences in the risk of developing prolonged and problematic use of opioids. Given the ongoing opioid crisis in Canada, it is crucial to understand any potential harmful consequences of prescribing in emergency care, which has been noted to influence later opioid habits. This research may contribute to policy when creating sex-specific prescribing practices for opioids in emergency care, leading to improved outcomes in clinical practice. Understanding sex differences in prescribing patterns and uptake of opioids may lead to a better understanding of sex differences in the risk of developing prolonged and problematic use of opioids.

# **CHAPTER VI : CONCLUSION**

In this study, men were found to be more likely than women to fill opioid prescriptions after attending the ED for LBP. The nature of the prescription, including the dose and prescription, did not differ. This may have implications that either men are far more likely to fill a prescription than women are, or perhaps that healthcare providers are more likely to write prescriptions for men. For future steps, it will be essential to determine whether these differences are due to differences in patient behaviour or differential treatment from the health care system, and consequently, whether these differences contribute to opioid harms across Canada.

# **STATEMENT**

#### Data Declaration

Portions of the data used in this report were made available by Health Data Nova Scotia of Dalhousie University. Although this research analysis is based on data obtained from the Nova Scotia Department of Health and Wellness, the observations and opinions expressed are those of the authors and do not represent those of either Health Data Nova Scotia or the Department of Health and Wellness.
#### REFERENCES

- 1. Heidari S. Missing in Action: Sex- and Gender-Based Analysis (SGBA) in Public Health. In: *Sex- and Gender-Based Analysis in Public Health*. ; 2021:11-26. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-71929-6\_2
- 2. Greaves L. Missing in action: Sex and gender in substance use research. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2020;31(17):2352. doi:10.3390/ijerph17072352
- 3. Riley AL, Hempel BJ, Clasen MM. Sex as a biological variable: Drug use and abuse. *Physiol Behav.* 2018;187:79-96. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.10.005
- 4. Becker JB, Hu M. Sex differences in drug abuse. *Front Neuroendocrinol*. 2008;29(1):36-47. doi:10.1016/j.yfrne.2007.07.003
- 5. Hernandez-Avila CA, Rounsaville BJ, Kranzler HR. Opioid-, cannabis- and alcoholdependent women show more rapid progression to substance abuse treatment. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2004;74(3):265-272. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2004.02.001
- 6. Lynch WJ, Roth ME, Carroll ME. Biological basis of sex differences in drug abuse: Preclinical and clinical studies. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2002;162(2):121-137. doi:10.1007/s00213-002-1183-2
- 7. Canadian Centre for Substance Use and Addiction. *Prescription Opioids (Canadian Drug Summary).*; 2020. https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2020-07/CCSA-Canadian-Drug-Summary-Prescription-Opioids-2020-en.pdf
- 8. Gladstone, E. J., Smolina, K., & Morgan SG. Trends and sex differences in prescription opioid deaths in British Columbia, Canada. *Inj Prev.* 2016;22(4):288-290.
- 9. Hachey LM, Gregg JA, Pavlik-Maus TL, Jones JS. Health implications and management of women with opioid use disorder. *J Nurs Educ Pract*. 2017;7(8):57-62.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Opioids and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada. Special Advisory Committee on the Epidemic of Opioid Overdoses. Published 2021. Accessed April 3, 2021. https://health-infobase.canada.ca/substance-relatedharms/opioids-stimulants
- Kahan M, Wilson L, Mailis-Gagnon A, Srivastava A, National Opioid Use Guideline Group. Canadian guideline for safe and effective use of opioids for chronic noncancer pain: clinical summary for family physicians. Part 2: special populations. *Can Fam Physician*. 2011;57(11):1269-1276.

- 12. Dowell D, Haegerich TM, Chou R. CDC guideline for prescribing opioids for chronic pain-United States, 2016. *JAMA J Am Med Assoc*. 2016;65(1):1-49. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.1464
- 13. Busse JW, Craigie S, Juurlink DN, et al. Guideline for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ*. Published online 2017. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170363
- 14. Martell BA, O'Connor PG, Kerns RD, et al. Systematic review: Opioid treatment for chronic back pain: Prevalence, efficacy, and association with addiction. *Ann Intern Med.* 2007;146(2):116-127. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-146-2-200701160-00006
- Borgundvaag B, McLeod S, Khuu W, Varner C, Tadrous M, Gomes T. Opioid prescribing and adverse events in opioid-naive patients treated by emergency physicians versus family physicians: a population-based cohort study. *C Open*. 2018;6(1):E110-E117. doi:10.9778/cmajo.20170151
- Ferreira GE, MacHado GC, Shaheed CA, et al. Management of low back pain in Australian emergency departments. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2019;28(10):826-834. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2019-009383
- Kyu HH, Abate D, Abate KH, et al. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet*. 2018;392(10159):1859-1922. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32335-3
- Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Cross M, et al. Prevalence, Deaths, and Disability-Adjusted Life Years Due to Musculoskeletal Disorders for 195 Countries and Territories 1990–2017. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2021;73(4):702-714. doi:10.1002/art.41571
- Wu A, March L, Zheng X, et al. Global low back pain prevalence and years lived with disability from 1990 to 2017: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Ann Transl Med.* 2020;8(6):299. doi:10.21037/atm.2020.02.175
- 20. Hicks GS, Duddleston DN, Russell LD, Holman HE, Shepherd JM, Brown CA. Low Back Pain. *Am J Med Sci.* 2002;324(4):207-211.
- Gross DP, Ferrari R, Russell AS, et al. A population-based survey of back pain beliefs in Canada. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 2006;31(18):2142-2145. doi:10.1097/01.brs.0000231771.14965.e4
- 22. Canadian Institute for Health Information. NACRS Emergency Department Visits and Length of Stay by Province/Territory, 2019–2020.; 2020.

- 23. Canadian Institute for Health Information. NACRS Emergency Department Visits and Lengths of Stay by Province/Territory, 2020–2021.; 2021.
- 24. Nunn ML, Hayden JA, Magee K. Current management practices for patients presenting with low back pain to a large emergency department in Canada. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2017;18(1):92. doi:10.1186/s12891-017-1452-1
- 25. Toward Optimized Practice. Guideline for the Evidence-Informed Primary Care Management of Low Back Pain. *Prim Care*. Published online 2009:1-37.
- Loignon C, Hudon C, Goulet É, et al. Perceived barriers to healthcare for persons living in poverty in Quebec, Canada: The EQUIhealThY project. *Int J Equity Health*. 2015;14(4). doi:10.1186/s12939-015-0135-5
- 27. Navarro V. What we mean by social determinants of health. *Int J Heal Serv*. 2009;39(3):423-441. doi:10.2190/HS.39.3.a
- 28. Dryden OS, Nnorom O. Time to dismantle systemic anti-Black racism in medicine in Canada. *CMAJ*. 2021;193(2):E55-E57. doi:10.1503/cmaj.201579
- 29. Black Health Alliance, Health Commons Solutions Lab, Sinai Health. Black experiences in health care symposium: bringing together community and health systems for improved health outcomes. Published online 2020:1-66.
- 30. Phillips-beck W, Eni R, Lavoie JG, Kinew KA, Achan GK, Katz A. Confronting racism within the canadian healthcare system: Systemic exclusion of first nations from quality and consistent care. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2020;17(22). doi:10.3390/ijerph17228343
- Gibson BE, Mykitiuk R. Health care access and support for disabled women in canada: Falling short of the UN convention on the rights of persons with disabilities: A qualitative study. *Women's Heal Issues*. 2012;22:E111-E118. doi:10.1016/j.whi.2011.07.011
- 32. Johnson JL, Greaves L, Repta R. Better science with sex and gender: Facilitating the use of a sex and gender-based analysis in health research. *Int J Equity Health*. 2009;8(14). doi:10.1186/1475-9276-8-14
- 33. Sax L. How common is intersex? A response to Anne Fausto-Sterling. J Sex Res. 2002;39(3):174-178. doi:10.1080/00224490209552139
- 34. Wizemann TM, Pardue ML. Every Cell Has a Sex. In Exploring the Biological Contributions to Human Health: Does Sex Matter?; 2001. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK222291/

- 35. Heidari S, Babor TF, De Castro P, Tort S, Curno M. Sex and gender equity in research: rationale for the SAGER guidelines and recommended use. *Gac Sanit*. 2019;1(2):1-9. doi:10.1016/j.gaceta.2018.04.003
- 36. Burnside C, Hudson T, Williams C, Lawson W, Laiyemo AO. Sex differences in the use of healthcare services among us adults with and without a cancer diagnosis. *Turkish J Urol.* 2018;44(4):298-302. doi:10.5152/tud.2018.71205
- Koopmans GT, Lamers LM. Gender and health care utilization: The role of mental distress and help-seeking propensity. *Soc Sci Med.* 2007;64(6):1216-1230. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.11.018
- Samulowitz A, Gremyr I, Eriksson E, Hensing G. "Brave Men" and "Emotional Women": A Theory-Guided Literature Review on Gender Bias in Health Care and Gendered Norms towards Patients with Chronic Pain. *Pain Res Manag.* 2018;2018(6358624). doi:10.1155/2018/6358624
- 39. Springer KW, Mager Stellman J, Jordan-Young RM. Beyond a catalogue of differences: A theoretical frame and good practice guidelines for researching sex/gender in human health. *Soc Sci Med*. 2012;74(11):1817-1824. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.05.033
- 40. Statistics Canada. Canada Is the First Country to Provide Census Data on Transgender and Non-Binary People.; 2022. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dailyquotidien/220427/dq220427b-eng.htm
- 41. Lehnert T, Heider D, Leicht H, et al. Review: Health care utilization and costs of elderly persons with multiple chronic conditions. *Med Care Res Rev.* 2011;68(4):387-420. doi:10.1177/1077558711399580
- 42. Malmusi D, Artazcoz L, Benach J, Borrell C. Perception or real illness? How chronic conditions contribute to gender inequalities in self-rated health. *Eur J Public Health*. 2012;22(6):781-786. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckr184
- 43. Mustard CA, Kaufert P, Kozyrskyj A, Mayer T. Sex Differences in the Use of Health Care Services. *N Engl J Med*. Published online 1998. doi:10.1056/nejm199806043382307
- 44. Peterson MD, Mahmoudi E. Healthcare utilization associated with obesity and physical disabilities. *Am J Prev Med.* 2015;48(4):426-435. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.11.007
- 45. Yong TY, Fok JS, Hakendorf P, Ben-Tovim D, Thompson CH, Li JY. Characteristics and outcomes of discharges against medical advice among hospitalised patients. *Intern Med J.* 2013;43(7):798-802. doi:10.1111/imj.12109

- 46. Berkley KJ. Sex differences in pain. *Behav Brain Sci.* 1997;111(1):52-58. doi:10.1017/S0140525X97221485
- 47. Mogil JS. Sex differences in pain and pain inhibition: Multiple explanations of a controversial phenomenon. *Nat Rev Neurosci*. 2012;13(12):859-866. doi:10.1038/nrn3360
- 48. Cairns BE, Gazerani P. Sex-related differences in pain. *Maturitas*. 2009;63(4):292-296. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2009.06.004
- 49. Smith YR, Stohler CS, Nichols TE, Bueller JA, Koeppe RA, Zubieta JK. Pronociceptive and antinociceptive effects of estradiol through endogenous opioid neurotransmission in women. *J Neurosci*. 2006;26(21):5777-5785. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5223-05.2006
- 50. Bartley EJ, Fillingim RB. Sex differences in pain: A brief review of clinical and experimental findings. *Br J Anaesth*. 2013;111(1):52-58. doi:10.1093/bja/aet127
- 51. Robinson ME, Riley JL, Myers CD, et al. Gender role expectations of pain: Relationship to sex differences in pain. *J Pain*. 2001;2(5):251-257. doi:10.1054/jpai.2001.24551
- 52. Myers CD, Riley III JL, Robinson ME. Psychosocial contributions to sex-correlated differences in pain. *Clin J Pain*. 2003;19(4):225-232.
- Schäfer G, Prkachin KM, Kaseweter KA, Williams ACDC. Health care providers' judgments in chronic pain: The influence of gender and trustworthiness. *Pain*. 2016;157(8):1618-1625. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000000536
- Raftery KA, Smith-Coggins R, Chen AH. Gender-Associated Differences in Emergency Department Pain Management. Ann Emerg Med. 1995;26(4):414-421. doi:10.1016/S0196-0644(95)70107-9
- 55. Tait RC, Chibnall JT, Kalauokalani D. Provider judgments of patients in pain: Seeking symptom certainty. *Pain Med.* 2009;10(1):11-34. doi:10.1111/j.1526-4637.2008.00527.x
- 56. Paller CJ, Campbell CM, Edwards RR, Dobs AS. Sex-based differences in pain perception and treatment. *Pain Med.* 2009;10(2):289-299. doi:10.1111/j.1526-4637.2008.00558.x
- 57. Marquié L, Raufaste E, Lauque D, Mariné C, Ecoiffier M, Sorum P. Pain rating by patients and physicians: Evidence of systematic pain miscalibration. *Pain*. 2003;102(3):289-296. doi:10.1016/S0304-3959(02)00402-5

- 58. Barsky AJ, Peekna HM, Borus JF. Somatic symptom reporting in women and men. J Gen Intern Med. 2001;16(4):266-275. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016004266.x
- 59. Bertakis KD. The influence of gender on the doctor-patient interaction. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2009;76(3):356-360. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2009.07.022
- 60. Roter DL, Hall JA, Aoki Y. Physician gender effects in medical communication: A meta-analytic review. *J Am Med Assoc*. 2002;288(6):756-764. doi:10.1001/jama.288.6.756
- 61. Fink M, Klein K, Sayers K, et al. Objective Data Reveals Gender Preferences for Patients' Primary Care Physician. *J Prim Care Community Heal*. 2020;11:1-4. doi:10.1177/2150132720967221
- 62. Franks P, Bertakis KD. Physician gender, patient gender, and primary care. *J Women's Heal*. 2003;12(1):73-80. doi:10.1089/154099903321154167
- 63. Hall JA, Irish JT, Roter DL, Ehrlich CM, Miller LH. Gender in Medical Encounters: An Analysis of Physician and Patient Communication in a Primary Care Setting. *Heal Psychol.* 1994;13(5):384-392. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.13.5.384
- 64. Manteuffel M, Williams S, Chen W, Verbrugge RR, Pittman DG, Steinkellner A. Influence of patient sex and gender on medication use, adherence, and prescribing alignment with guidelines. *J Women's Heal*. 2014;13(2):112-119. doi:10.1089/jwh.2012.3972
- Kaplovitch E, Gomes T, Camacho X, Dhalla IA, Mamdani MM, Juurlink DN. Sex differences in dose escalation and overdose death during chronic opioid therapy: A population-based cohort study. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(8). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0134550
- McHugh RK. The Importance of Studying Sex and Gender Differences in Opioid Misuse. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(12):e2030676. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.30676
- 67. Baumhäkel M, Müller U, Böhm M. Influence of gender of physicians and patients on guideline-recommended treatment of chronic heart failure in a cross-sectional study. *Eur J Heart Fail*. 2009;11(3):299-303. doi:10.1093/eurjhf/hfn041
- 68. Rochon PA, Gruneir A, Bell CM, et al. Comparison of prescribing practices for older adults treated by female versus male physicians: A retrospective cohort study. *PLoS One*. 2018;13(10):e0205524. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0205524
- 69. Xue H, Liu G, Shi Y, Nie J, Auden E, Sylvia S. How does physician gender influence

primary care quality? evidence from a standardised patient audit study in China. *Lancet*. 2018;392:S66. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(18)32695-3

- Veldhuijzen DS, Karhof S, Leenders MEC, Karsch AM, van Wijck AJM. Impact of Physicians' Sex on Treatment Choices for Low Back Pain. *Pain Pract*. 2013;13(6):451-458. doi:10.1111/papr.12015
- 71. Proulx J. Opioid Prescribing in Canada: How Are Practices Changing? *Value Heal*. 2020;23:S140. doi:10.1016/j.jval.2020.04.346
- 72. Wu T-C, Hsu C-H, Sun W-Z, Chen H-M, Lin C-P, Shao Y-Y. Impact of expanded strong opioid availability on opioid prescription patterns in patients with cancer: A population-wide cohort study in Taiwan. *Lancet Reg Heal - West Pacific*. 2021;16(100255). doi:10.1016/j.lanwpc.2021.100255
- 73. Wertli MM, Reich O, Signorell A, Burgstaller JM, Steurer J, Held U. Changes over time in prescription practices of pain medications in Switzerland between 2006 and 2013: an analysis of insurance claims. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2017;17(1):167. doi:10.1186/s12913-017-2086-6
- 74. Serdarevic M, Striley CW, Cottler LB. Sex differences in prescription opioid use. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2017;30(4):238-246. doi:10.1097/YCO.00000000000337
- 75. Shah A, Hayes CJ, Martin BC. Factors Influencing Long-Term Opioid Use Among Opioid Naive Patients: An Examination of Initial Prescription Characteristics and Pain Etiologies. *J Pain*. 2017;18(11):1374-1383. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2017.06.010
- 76. Barbera L, Sutradhar R, Chu A, et al. Comparison of Opioid Prescribing Among Cancer and Noncancer Patients Aged 18–64: Analysis Using Administrative Data. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. Published online 2018. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2018.03.010
- 77. Mathieson S, Wertheimer G, Maher CG, et al. What proportion of patients with chronic noncancer pain are prescribed an opioid medicine? Systematic review and meta-regression of observational studies. *J Intern Med.* 2020;287(5):458-474. doi:10.1111/joim.13026
- Ladha KS, Neuman MD, Broms G, et al. Opioid Prescribing after Surgery in the United States, Canada, and Sweden. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2019;2(9). doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.10734
- 79. Chaudhary MA, Schoenfeld AJ, Harlow AF, et al. Incidence and predictors of opioid prescription at discharge after traumatic injury. *JAMA Surg.* 2017;152(10):930-936. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2017.1685

- 80. Manchikanti L, Boswell M V., Hirsch JA. Lessons learned in the abuse of pain-relief medication: A focus on healthcare costs. *Expert Rev Neurother*. 2013;13(5):527-543. doi:10.1586/ern.13.33
- 81. Jones, W., Vojtila L, Kurdyak P, Fischer B. Prescription opioid dispensing in Canada: an update on recent developments to 2018. *J Pharm Policy Pract*. 2020;13(1):1-6.
- Statistics Canada. Health Fact Sheets: Pain relief medication containing opioids, 2018. Published 2019. Accessed April 2, 2021. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-625x/2019001/article/00008-eng.htm
- 83. Thiels CA, Habermann EB, Hooten WM, Jeffery MM. Chronic use of tramadol after acute pain episode: Cohort study. *BMJ*. 2019;57(4):595-605. doi:10.1136/bmj.11849
- 84. Deyo RA, Hallvik SE, Hildebran C, et al. Association Between Initial Opioid Prescribing Patterns and Subsequent Long-Term Use Among Opioid-Naïve Patients: A Statewide Retrospective Cohort Study. J Gen Intern Med. 2017;32(1):21-27. doi:10.1007/s11606-016-3810-3
- 85. Friedman BW, Ochoa LA, Naeem F, et al. Opioid Use During the Six Months After an Emergency Department Visit for Acute Pain: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Ann Emerg Med*. 2020;75(5):578-586. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.08.446
- 86. Dobscha SK, Morasco BJ, Duckart JP, MacEy T, Deyo RA. Correlates of prescription opioid initiation and long-term opioid use in veterans with persistent pain. *Clin J Pain*. 2013;29(3):102-108. doi:10.1097/AJP.0b013e3182490bdb
- 87. Leider HL, Dhaliwal J, Davis EJ, Kulakodlu M, Buikema AR. Healthcare costs and nonadherence among chronic opioid users. *Am J Manag Care*. 2011;17(1):32-40.
- 88. Bedard NA, Pugely AJ, Westermann RW, Duchman KR, Glass NA, Callaghan JJ. Opioid Use After Total Knee Arthroplasty: Trends and Risk Factors for Prolonged Use. *J Arthroplasty*. 2017;32(8):2390-2394. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2017.03.014
- Johnson SP, Chung KC, Zhong L, et al. Risk of Prolonged Opioid Use Among Opioid-Naïve Patients Following Common Hand Surgery Procedures. *J Hand Surg Am*. 2016;41(10):947-957. doi:10.1016/j.jhsa.2016.07.113
- Clarke H, Soneji N, Ko DT, Yun L, Wijeysundera DN. Rates and risk factors for prolonged opioid use after major surgery: Population based cohort study. *BMJ*. 2014;348(g1251):1-10. doi:10.1136/bmj.g1251

- 91. Martin BC, Fan MY, Edlund MJ, Devries A, Braden JB, Sullivan MD. Long-term chronic opioid therapy discontinuation rates from the TROUP study. *J Gen Intern Med*. 2011;26(12):1450-1457. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1771-0
- 92. Azad TD, Vail D, Bentley J, et al. Initial Provider Specialty Is Associated with Longterm Opiate Use in Patients with Newly Diagnosed Low Back and Lower Extremity Pain. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 2019;44(3):211-218. doi:10.1097/BRS.00000000002840
- 93. Brat GA, Agniel D, Beam A, et al. Postsurgical prescriptions for opioid naive patients and association with overdose and misuse: Retrospective cohort study. *BMJ*. 2018;360. doi:10.1136/bmj.j5790
- 94. Canadian Centre for Substance Use and Addiction. Opioids. Canadian Centre for Substance Use and Addiction. Published 2021. Accessed April 2, 2021. https://www.ccsa.ca/opioids
- 95. Ballantyne JC, LaForge KS. Opioid dependence and addiction during opioid treatment of chronic pain. *Pain*. 2007;129(3):235-255. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2007.03.028
- Højsted J, Nielsen PR, Guldstrand SK, Frich L, Sjøgren P. Classification and identification of opioid addiction in chronic pain patients. *Eur J Pain*. 2010;14(10):1014-1020. doi:10.1016/j.ejpain.2010.04.006
- 97. Moe J, Camargo CA, Jelinski S, Erdelyi S, Brubacher J, Rowe BH. Epidemiologic trends in substance and opioid misuse-related emergency department visits in Alberta: a cross-sectional time-series analysis. *Can J Public Heal*. 2018;109(2):164-173. doi:10.17269/s41997-018-0053-6
- 98. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Hospitalizations and emergency department visits due to opioid poisoning in Canada. *Heal Promot Chronic Dis Prev Canada*. Published online 2018. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.38.6.04
- 99. Oderda GM, Lake J, Rüdell K, Roland CL, Masters ET. Economic burden of prescription opioid misuse and abuse: A systematic review. *J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother*. 2015;29(4):388-400. doi:10.3109/15360288.2015.1101641
- 100. Skinner BJ. Societal cost savings from abuse deterrent formulations for prescription opioids in Canada. *Can Heal Policy*. Published online 2017.
- 101. National Institute on Alcohol Abuse And Alcoholism. Alcohol Use Disorder: A Comparison Between DSM IV and DSM 5. *NIH Publ*. Published online 2016.
- 102. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Assessing and Addressing Opioid Use Disorder (OUD). CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain United

States, 2016. Published 2016. https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/training/oud/accessible/index.html

- 103. Gomes T, Khuu W, Martins D, et al. Contributions of prescribed and non-prescribed opioids to opioid related deaths: Population based cohort study in Ontario, Canada. *BMJ*. Published online 2018. doi:10.1136/bmj.k3207
- 104. Juratli SM, Mirza SK, Fulton-Kehoe D, Wickizer TM, Franklin GM. Mortality after lumbar fusion surgery. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 2009;34(7):740-747. doi:10.1097/BRS.0b013e31819b2176
- 105. Gomes T, Murray R, Kolla G, et al. Changing circumstances surrounding Opioid-Related deaths in Ontario during the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMJ*. 2021;362:1-32.
- 106. Jones W, Kurdyak P, Fischer B. Examining correlations between opioid dispensing and opioid-related hospitalizations in Canada, 2007-2016. BMC Health Serv Res. 2020;20(677). doi:10.1186/s12913-020-05530-w
- 107. Cheng M, Thiese MS, Wood EM, et al. Relationship between Opioid Use and Pain Severity Ratings in Workers with Low Back Pain. J Occup Environ Med. 2019;61(10):836-840. doi:10.1097/JOM.00000000001673
- Bot AGJ, Bekkers S, Arnstein PM, Smith RM, Ring D. Opioid use after fracture surgery correlates with pain intensity and satisfaction with pain relief. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2014;472(8):2542-2549. doi:10.1007/s11999-014-3660-4
- 109. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Annual Surveillance Report of Drug-Related Risks and Outcomes — United States Surveillance Special Report. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.; 2019.
- 110. Delgado MK, Huang Y, Meisel Z, et al. National Variation in Opioid Prescribing and Risk of Prolonged Use for Opioid-Naive Patients Treated in the Emergency Department for Ankle Sprains. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2018;72(4):389-400. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2018.06.003
- 111. Martin A, Payne R, Wilson EC. Long-Term Costs and Health Consequences of Issuing Shorter Duration Prescriptions for Patients with Chronic Health Conditions in the English NHS. *Appl Health Econ Health Policy*. 2018;16(3):317-330. doi:10.1007/s40258-018-0383-9
- 112. Young LS, Crausman RS, Fulton JP. Suboptimal Opioid Prescribing: A Practice Change Project. *R I Med J (2013)*. 2018;102(2):41-44.

- 113. Shah A, Hayes CJ, Martin BC. Characteristics of Initial Prescription Episodes and Likelihood of Long-Term Opioid Use — United States, 2006–2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017;66(10):265-269. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6610a1
- 114. Lopes GS, Bielinski SJ, Moyer AM, et al. Sex differences in associations between CYP2D6 phenotypes and response to opioid analgesics. *Pharmgenomics Pers Med.* 2020;13(13):71-79. doi:10.2147/PGPM.S239222
- 115. Fullerton EF, Doyle HH, Murphy AZ. Impact of sex on pain and opioid analgesia: a review. *Curr Opin Behav Sci.* 2018;23:183-190. doi:10.1016/j.cobeha.2018.08.001
- 116. Pisanu C, Franconi F, Gessa GL, et al. Sex differences in the response to opioids for pain relief: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pharmacol Res.* 2019;148(104447). doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104447
- 117. Campbell CI, Weisner C, LeResche L, et al. Age and gender trends in long-term opioid analgesic use for noncancer pain. *Am J Public Health*. 2010;100(12):2541-2547. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.180646
- 118. Schieber LZ, Guy GP, Seth P, Losby JL. Variation in Adult Outpatient Opioid Prescription Dispensing by Age and Sex — United States, 2008–2018. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020;69(11):298-302. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6911a5
- 119. McNeeley S. Urgent Care Centers: An Overview. Am J Clin Med. 2012;9(2):80-81.
- 120. Calcaterra SL, Lou Y, Everhart RM, Fish LE, Hanratty R. Association Between In-Clinic Opioid Administration and Discharge Opioid Prescription in Urgent Care: a Retrospective Cohort Study. J Gen Intern Med. 2021;36(1):43-50. doi:10.1007/s11606-020-06059-8
- 121. Jeffery MM, Hooten WM, Hess EP, et al. Opioid Prescribing for Opioid-Naive Patients in Emergency Departments and Other Settings: Characteristics of Prescriptions and Association With Long-Term Use. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2018;71(3):326-336. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2017.08.042
- 122. Krismer M, van Tulder M. Low back pain (non-specific). Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2007;21(1):77-91. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2006.08.004
- 123. Hoy D, Bain C, Williams G, et al. A systematic review of the global prevalence of low back pain. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2012;64(6):2028-2037. doi:10.1002/art.34347

- 124. Angarita-Fonseca A, Trask C, Shah T, Bath B. Stable prevalence of chronic back disorders across gender, age, residence, and physical activity in Canadian adults from 2007 to 2014. *BMC Public Health*. 2019;19(1121):1-11. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-7395-8
- 125. Ferreira ML, de Luca K, Haile LM, et al. Articles Global, regional, and national burden of low back pain, 1990 – 2020, its attributable risk factors, and projections to 2050: a systematic analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2021. *Lancet Rheumatol*. 2023;5(6):316-329. doi:10.1016/S2665-9913(23)00098-X
- 126. Chenot JF, Becker A, Leonhardt C, et al. Sex differences in presentation, course, and management of low back pain in primary care. *Clin J Pain*. 2008;24(7):578-584. doi:10.1097/AJP.0b013e31816ed948
- 127. Sheffer CE, Cassisi JE, Ferraresi LM, Lofland KR, McCracken LM. Sex differences in the presentation of chronic low back pain. *Psychol Women Q*. 2002;26(4). doi:10.1111/1471-6402.00072
- 128. Hayden JA, Chou R, Hogg-Johnson S, Bombardier C. Systematic reviews of low back pain prognosis had variable methods and results-guidance for future prognosis reviews. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2009;62(8):781-796. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2008.09.004
- 129. Maher C, Underwood M, Buchbinder R. Non-specific low back pain. *Lancet*. 2017;389(10070):736-747. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30970-9
- 130. Qaseem A, Wilt TJ, McLean RM, Forciea MA. Noninvasive treatments for acute, subacute, and chronic low back pain: A clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. *Ann Intern Med.* 2017;166(7):514-530. doi:10.7326/M16-2367
- 131. Ivanova JI, Birnbaum HG, Schiller M, Kantor E, Johnstone BM, Swindle RW. Realworld practice patterns, health-care utilization, and costs in patients with low back pain: The long road to guideline-concordant care. *Spine J.* 2011;11(7):622-632. doi:10.1016/j.spinee.2011.03.017
- 132. Kamper SJ, Logan G, Copsey B, et al. What is usual care for low back pain? A systematic review of health care provided to patients with low back pain in family practice and emergency departments. *Pain*. 2020;161(4):694-702. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001751
- 133. Edwards J, Hayden J, Asbridge M, Magee K. The prevalence of low back pain in the emergency department: A descriptive study set in the Charles V. Keating Emergency and Trauma Centre, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2018;19(306):1-10. doi:10.1186/s12891-018-2237-x

- McEwen J, Borreman S, Caudle J, et al. Position statement on emergency medicine definitions from the canadian association of emergency physicians. *Can J Emerg Med.* 2018;20(4):501-506. doi:10.1017/cem.2018.376
- 135. Nova Scotia Health Authority. Nova Scotia Health by the Numbers 2018-19. Nova Scotia Health 2018-2019 Annual Report. Published 2019. Accessed January 25, 2022. https://www.nshealth.ca/AnnualReport2018-19/numbers.html
- 136. Nova Scotia Health Authority. Nova Scotia Health by the Numbers 2020-21. Nova Scotia Health 2020-2021 Annual Report. Published 2021. Accessed January 25, 2022. https://www.nshealth.ca/AnnualReport2020-21/numbers.html
- 137. Nova Scotia Health Authority. Nova Scotia Health by the Numbers 2019-20. Nova Scotia Health 2019-2020 Annual Report. Published 2020. Accessed January 25, 2022. https://www.nshealth.ca/AnnualReport2019-20/numbers.html
- 138. Government of Nova Scotia. Annual Accountability Report on Emergency Departments April 1, 2019 – March 31, 2020.; 2020. https://novascotia.ca/dhw/publications/Emergency\_Departments\_Report\_2020.pdf
- 139. Capital Health. Frequently Asked Questions Charles V. Keating Emergency and Trauma Centre, QEII Health Sciences Centre. Published 2022. Accessed January 25, 2022. http://www.cdha.nshealth.ca/emergencymedicine/charles-v-keating-emergency-traumacentre.
- 140. Hayden JA, Ellis J, Asbridge M, et al. Prolonged opioid use among opioid-naive individuals after prescription for nonspecific low back pain in the emergency department. *Pain*. 2021;162(3):740-748. https://journals.lww.com/pain/Fulltext/2021/03000/Prolonged\_opioid\_use\_among\_opioid\_naive.10.aspx
- 141. Lee SS, Choi Y, Pransky GS. Extent and Impact of Opioid Prescribing for Acute Occupational Low Back Pain in the Emergency Department. *J Emerg Med.* 2016;50(3):376-384. doi:10.1016/j.jemermed.2015.10.015
- 142. Rosenbloom JM, Burns SM, Kim E, August DA, Ortiz VE, Houle TT. Race/Ethnicity and Sex and Opioid Administration in the Emergency Room. *Anesth Analg.* 2019;128(5):1005-1012. doi:10.1213/ANE.00000000003517
- 143. Gil JA, Gunaseelan V, DeFroda SF, Brummett CM, Bedi A, Waljee JF. Risk of Prolonged Opioid Use Among Opioid-Naïve Patients After Common Shoulder Arthroscopy Procedures. Am J Sports Med. 2019;47(5):1043-1050. doi:10.1177/0363546518819780

- 144. Manubay J, Davidson J, Vosburg S, Jones J, Comer S, Sullivan M. Sex differences among opioid-abusing patients with chronic pain in a clinical trial. J Addict Med. 2015;9(1):46-52. doi:10.1097/ADM.00000000000086
- 145. Singh S. Patterns Of Opioid Exposure In The Emergency Care System And Prolonged Opioid Use Among Opioid-Naïve Adults With Low Back Pain. 2022;(July). https://dalspace.library.dal.ca/bitstream/handle/10222/81768/SareenSingh2022.pdf?sequ ence=1
- 146. Statistics Canada. Postal Code Conversion File Plus (PCCF+) Version 6D, August 2015 Postal Codes. ABACUS Licensed Data Collection Dataverse.
- 147. Statistics Canada. The Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation User Guide. *Stat Canada Cat no 45-20-0001*. Published online 2019.
- 148. Emergency Health Services Branch. *Prehospital Canadian Triage & Acuity Scale Prehospital CTAS Paramedic Guide.*; 2016. https://www.lhsc.on.ca/media/2904/download
- 149. Hernán MA. Causal analyses of existing databases: no power calculations required. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2022;144:203-205. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2021.08.028
- 150. Morris TP, van Smeden M. Causal analyses of existing databases: the importance of understanding what can be achieved with your data before analysis (commentary on Hernán). *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2022;142:261-263. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2021.09.026
- 151. Deyo RA, Weinstein JN. Low Back Pain. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(5).
- 152. Dean AG, Arner TG, Sunki G, et al. *Epi Info<sup>TM</sup>, a Database and Statistics Program for Public Health Professionals.*; 2011.
- 153. Bujang MA, Sa'At N, Tg Abu Bakar Sidik TMI, Lim CJ. Sample size guidelines for logistic regression from observational studies with large population: Emphasis on the accuracy between statistics and parameters based on real life clinical data. *Malaysian J Med Sci.* 2018;25(4):122-130. doi:10.21315/mjms2018.25.4.12
- 154. Waterman BR, Belmont PJ, Schoenfeld AJ. Low back pain in the United States: Incidence and risk factors for presentation in the emergency setting. *Spine J*. 2012;12(1):63-70. doi:10.1016/j.spinee.2011.09.002
- 155. Kawchuk GN, Aaskov J, Mohler M, et al. A prospective study of patients with low back pain attending a Canadian emergency department: Why they came and what happened? *PLoS One*. 2022;17(5). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0268123

- 156. Drazin D, Nuño M, Patil CG, Yan K, Liu JC, Acosta FL. Emergency room resource utilization by patients with low-back pain. *J Neurosurg Spine*. 2016;24(5):686-693. doi:10.3171/2015.7.SPINE14133
- 157. Melman A, Maher CG, Needs C, et al. Management of patients with low back pain admitted to hospital: An observational study of usual care. *Int J Rheum Dis*. 2023;26(1):60-68. doi:10.1111/1756-185X.14449
- 158. Oliveira IS, Tomazoni SS, Vanin AA, et al. Management of acute low back pain in emergency departments in São Paulo, Brazil: a descriptive, cross-sectional analysis of baseline data from a prospective cohort study. *BMJ Open*. 2022;12(4):e059605. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-059605
- 159. Magel J, Suslavich K, Roper K, Fritz J, Madsen T. Emergency department evaluation, treatment, and functional outcomes among patients presenting with low back pain. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2022;59:37-41. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2022.06.048
- 160. Lau T, Hayward J, Vatanpour S, Innes G. Sex-related differences in opioid administration in the emergency department: A population-based study. *Emerg Med J*. 2021;38(6):467-473. doi:10.1136/emermed-2020-210215
- 161. Heard K, Ledbetter CM, Hoppe JA. Association of Emergency Department Opioid Administration With Ongoing Opioid Use: A Retrospective Cohort Study of Patients With Back Pain. Acad Emerg Med. 2020;27(11):1158-1165. doi:10.1111/acem.14071
- 162. Pasricha S V., Tadrous M, Khuu W, et al. Clinical indications associated with opioid initiation for pain management in Ontario, Canada: A population-based cohort study. *Pain*. 2018;159(8):1562-1568. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001242
- 163. Gomes T, Men S, Campbell TJ, et al. Changing patterns of opioid initiation for pain management in Ontario, Canada: A population-based cross-sectional study. *PLoS One*. 2022;17(12):1-13. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0278508
- 164. Lau T, Hayward J, Innes G. MP15: Predictors of emergency department opioid use and variability of prescribing practices in a large multicenter Canadian cohort. *CJEM*. 2020;22(S1):S47-S48. doi:10.1017/cem.2020.163
- 165. Mok G, Newton H, Thurgur L, Nemnom MJ, Stiell IG. Opioid prescription practices for patients discharged from the emergency department with acute musculoskeletal fractures. *Can J Emerg Med.* 2020;22(4):486-493. doi:10.1017/cem.2020.50
- 166. Dong SL, Bullard MJ, Meurer DP, et al. Predictive Validity of a Computerized Emergency Triage Tool. Acad Emerg Med. 2007;14(1):16-21. doi:10.1197/j.aem.2006.08.021

- 167. Todd KH, Ducharme J, Choiniere M, et al. Pain in the Emergency Department: Results of the Pain and Emergency Medicine Initiative (PEMI) Multicenter Study. *J Pain*. 2007;8(6):460-466. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2006.12.005
- 168. Nelson BP, Cohen D, Lander O, Crawford N, Viccellio AW, Singer AJ. Mandated pain scales improve frequency of ED analgesic administration. *Am J Emerg Med*. 2004;22(7):582-585. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2004.09.003
- 169. Guru V, Dubinsky I. The patient vs. caregiver perception of acute pain in the emergency department. *J Emerg Med.* 2000;18(1):7-12. doi:10.1016/S0736-4679(99)00153-5
- Vuille M, Foerster M, Foucault E, Hugli O. Pain assessment by emergency nurses at triage in the emergency department: A qualitative study. *J Clin Nurs*. 2018;27(3-4):669-676. doi:10.1111/jocn.13992
- Prkachin KM, Solomon PE, Ross J. Underestimation of pain by health-care providers: towards a model of the process of inferring pain in others. *Can J Nurs Res.* 2007;39(2):88-106.
- 172. Hatherley C, Jennings N, Cross R. Time to analgesia and pain score documentation best practice standards for the Emergency Department A literature review. *Australas Emerg Nurs J*. 2016;19(1):26-36. doi:10.1016/j.aenj.2015.11.001
- 173. Pierik JGJ, Berben SA, IJzerman MJ, et al. A nurse-initiated pain protocol in the ED improves pain treatment in patients with acute musculoskeletal pain. *Int Emerg Nurs*. 2016;27:3-10. doi:10.1016/j.ienj.2016.02.001
- 174. Janakiram C, Chalmers NI, Fontelo P, et al. Sex and race or ethnicity disparities in opioid prescriptions for dental diagnoses among patients receiving Medicaid. *J Am Dent Assoc.* 2018;149(4):246-255. doi:10.1016/j.adaj.2018.02.010
- 175. Heins JK, Heins A, Grammas M, Costello M, Huang K, Mishra S. Disparities in Analgesia and Opioid Prescribing Practices for Patients With Musculoskeletal Pain in the Emergency Department. *J Emerg Nurs*. 2006;32(3):219-224. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2006.01.010
- 176. Ringwalt C, Gugelmann H, Garrettson M, et al. Differential prescribing of opioid analgesics according to physician specialty for Medicaid patients with chronic noncancer pain diagnoses. *Pain Res Manag.* 2014;19(4):179-185. doi:10.1155/2014/857952
- 177. Joynt M, Train MK, Robbins BW, Halterman JS, Caiola E, Fortuna RJ. The impact of neighborhood socioeconomic status and race on the prescribing of opioids in emergency departments throughout the United States. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2013;28(12):1604-1610. doi:10.1007/s11606-013-2516-z

- 178. Rennert-May E, Leal J, Thanh NX, et al. The impact of COVID-19 on hospital admissions and emergency department visits: A population-based study. *PLoS One*. 2021;16(6):e0252441. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0252441
- 179. Hartnett KP, Kite-Powell A, DeVies J, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Emergency Department Visits — United States, January 1, 2019–May 30, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020;69(23):699-704. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6923e1
- 180. Westgard BC, Morgan MW, Vazquez-Benitez G, Erickson LO, Zwank MD. An Analysis of Changes in Emergency Department Visits After a State Declaration During the Time of COVID-19. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2020;76(5):595-601. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2020.06.019
- 181. Huynh C, Ferland F, Blanchette-Martin N, Ménard JM, Fleury MJ. Factors Influencing the Frequency of Emergency Department Utilization by Individuals with Substance Use Disorders. *Psychiatr Q.* 2016;87(4):713-728. doi:10.1007/s11126-016-9422-6
- 182. Zender R, Olshansky E. Women's Mental Health: Depression and Anxiety. *Nurs Clin North Am.* 2009;44(3):355-364. doi:10.1016/j.cnur.2009.06.002
- 183. Singhal A, Tien YY, Hsia RY. Racial-ethnic disparities in opioid prescriptions at emergency department visits for conditions commonly associated with prescription drug abuse. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(8):e0159224. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0159224
- 184. Tamayo-Sarver JH, Hinze SW, Cydulka RK, Baker DW. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Emergency Department Analgesic Prescription. *Am J Public Health*. 2003;93(12):2067-2073. doi:10.2105/AJPH.93.12.2067
- 185. Platts-Mills TF, Hunold KM, Bortsov A V., et al. More educated emergency department patients are less likely to receive opioids for acute pain. *Pain*. 2012;153(5):967-973. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2012.01.013
- 186. Barr A, Eilat-Tsanani S. Prescribing Analgesics for Low Back Pain: Is There a Gender Difference? *J Women's Heal*. 2022;31(1):79-83. doi:10.1089/jwh.2021.0039
- 187. Madsen TE, McLean S, Zhai W, et al. Gender Differences in Pain Experience and Treatment after Motor Vehicle Collisions: A Secondary Analysis of the CRASH Injury Study. *Clin Ther*. 2018;40(2):204-213. doi:10.1016/j.clinthera.2017.12.014
- 188. Daw JR, Law MR. Compared with other countries, women in the US are more likely than men to forgo medicines because of cost. *Health Aff.* 2020;39(8):1334-1342. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2019.01554

- Coenen P, Kingma I, Boot CRL, Bongers PM, Van Dieën JH. Cumulative mechanical low-back load at work is a determinant of low-back pain. *Occup Environ Med*. 2014;71(5). doi:10.1136/oemed-2013-101862
- 190. Walsh K, Varnes N, Osmond C, Styles R, Coggon D. Occupational causes of low-back pain. *Scand J Work Environ Heal*. 1989;15(1):54-59. doi:10.5271/sjweh.1891
- 191. Toner P, Hardy E, Mistral W. A specialized maternity drug service: Examples of good practice. *Drugs Educ Prev Policy*. 2008;15(1):93-105. doi:10.1080/09687630601157816
- 192. Hecksher D, Hesse M. Women and substance use disorders. *Mens Sana Monogr*. 2009;7(1):50-62. doi:10.4103/0973-1229.42585
- 193. Kim HS, Heard KJ, Heard S, Hoppe JA. Opioid prescription fill rates after emergency department discharge. *Am J Heal Pharm*. 2016;73(12):902-907. doi:10.2146/ajhp150528
- 194. Hoppe JA, Kim H, Heard K. Association of Emergency Department Opioid Initiation with Recurrent Opioid Use. Ann Emerg Med. 2015;65(5):493-499. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2014.11.015
- 195. Wise EA, Price DD, Myers CD, Heft MW, Robinson ME. Gender role expectations of pain: Relationship to experimental pain perception. *Pain*. 2002;96(3):335-342. doi:10.1016/S0304-3959(01)00473-0
- 196. Dao TTT, LeResche L. Gender Differences in Pain. *J Orofac Pain*. 2000;14(3):169-184. doi:10.1016/s1082-3174(11)80026-7
- 197. Chen EH, Shofer FS, Dean AJ, et al. Gender disparity in analgesic treatment of emergency department patients with acute abdominal pain. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2008;15(5):414-418. doi:10.1111/j.1553-2712.2008.00100.x
- 198. Banco D, Chang J, Talmor N, et al. Sex and Race Differences in the Evaluation and Treatment of Young Adults Presenting to the Emergency Department With Chest Pain. J Am Heart Assoc. 2022;11(10):1-24. doi:10.1161/JAHA.121.024199
- 199. Ataman MG, Sarıyer G. Predicting waiting and treatment times in emergency departments using ordinal logistic regression models. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2021;46:45-50. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2021.02.061
- 200. Robertson J. Waiting Time at the Emergency Department from a Gender Equality Perspective. Published online 2014.

201. Best Practice Advocacy Centre New Zealand. WHO Analgesic Ladder: Which weak opioid to use at step two? *Best Pract J*. 2008;(18):20-23. https://bpac.org.nz/BPJ/2008/December/docs/bpj18\_who\_ladder\_pages\_20-23.pdf

#### APPENDICES

Appendix A :Types of opioids as recommended in Canadian guideline for safe and effective use of opioids for chronic noncancer pain

<b>Opioid Name</b>	Hydromorphone	Codeine	Morphine	Tramadol	Oxycodone
Common names /	Dilaudid	Tylenol	Kadian®,	Ralivia®,	OxyNeo®,
brands		3	M-	Tridural®,	Percocet®
			Eslon®,	Zytram®	
			MS-		
			Contin®,		
			Statex®		
Classification Weak/strong <sup>12,73</sup>	Strong	Weak	Strong	Weak	Strong
Addictiveness	Higher	Lower	Medium	Lowest	Higher
Potency Relative to Morphine 12,13	4-5	0.10	1.0	0.10-0.15	1.5

#### Appendix B : ICD Code classification taken from the previous study that collected this data

Step 1: QEII ED chief complaint of 'back pain' or 'traumatic back/spine injury'
Step 2: ICD code indicating non-specific low back pain or mechanical/radicular low back pain at discharge

Non-specific low back pain (previous published studies)				
724.2	Recurrent low back pain	ICD9		
724.5	Back pain	ICD9		
724.5	Chronic back pain	ICD9		
724.5	Pain - back nyd	ICD9		
724.6	Pain sacrum	ICD9		
724.79	Pain coccyx	ICD9		
724.8	Facet joint syndrome	ICD9		
729.1	Musculoskeletal pain	ICD9		
729.82	Muscle cramp	ICD9		
729.9	Other msk	ICD9		
	Non-specific low back pain (consensus process)			
715.9	Osteoarthritis	ICD9		
719.45	Pain - hip nyd	ICD9		
719.49	Polyarthralgia	ICD9		
720.2	Sacroiliitis	ICD9		
721.3	Sacroiliac arthritis	ICD9		
724	Unspecified back disorder	ICD9		
724.6	Disorders of sacrum (ankylosis or instability of lumbosacral/ sacroiliac	ICD9		
	joint)			
724.6	Pain buttock	ICD9		
724.7	Disorders of coccyx	ICD9		
729	Other disorders of soft tissues	ICD9		
729.9	Other msk	ICD9		
780.9	Chronic pain (misc)	ICD9		
843.8	Strain gluteal muscle	ICD9		
843.9	Sprain hip	ICD9		
844.8	Strain hamstring	ICD9		
846.9	Unspecified	ICD9		
847	Sprain/strain back	ICD9		
847.2	Lumbar	ICD9		
847.3	Sacrum	ICD9		
847.4	Соссух	ICD9		
847.9	Unspecified	ICD9		
848	Other and ill-defined sprains and strains	ICD9		
848.8	Other sprain/strain trunk	ICD9		
848.9	Unspecified site	ICD9		
959	Injury, other and unspecified	ICD9		
959.1	Trunk injury	ICD9		
959.19	Other site on trunk	ICD9		
959.8	Other specified sites, including multiple	ICD9		
998.1	Bruising (po)	ICD9		

M13.9	Arthritis, unspecified	ICD10
M25.5	Joint pain	ICD10
M54.5	Back pain	ICD10
M62.6	Muscle strain	ICD10
M79.1	Myalgia	ICD10
M81.9	Osteoporosis	ICD10
S30.8	Superficial inj low back/pelvis	ICD10
S31.0	Ow lower back/pelvis, uncomplicated	ICD10
V71.8	Normal exam	ICD10
Z71.9	Counselling/medical advice	ICD10
	Mechanical/radicular low back pain (previous published studies)	
721.3	Spondylosis lumbar spine	ICD9
721.9	Arthritis back	ICD9
721.9	Osteoarthritis back	ICD9
722.1	Herniated lumbar disc	ICD9
722.2	Herniated disc (neuro)	ICD9
722.6	Degenerative disc disease	ICD9
724.2	Mechanical low back pain	ICD9
724.2	Recurrent low back pain	ICD9
724.3	Sciatica	ICD9
724.8	Muscle spasm back	ICD9
724.9	Ankylosis spine	ICD9
729.1	Musculoskeletal pain	ICD9
729.1	Myalgia	ICD9
729.2	Neuralgia	ICD9
729.2	Radiculopathy	ICD9
729.2	Radiculopathy leg	ICD9
846	Lumbosacral strain	ICD9
846.1	Sprain sacroiliac jnt/ligament	ICD9
847.2	Low back strain	ICD9
	Mechanical/radicular low back pain (consensus process)	
722	Intervertebral disc disorder	ICD9
722.52	Degenerative disc disease	ICD9
722.93	Other and unspecified disc disorder (lumbar)	ICD9
724.0	Spinal stenosis	ICD9
728.9	Weakness leg	ICD9
733.13	Compression fracture, not due to trauma	ICD9
782.0	Paresthesia, nyd	ICD9
846.0	Lumbosacral joint or ligament	ICD9
846.2	Sacrospinatus (ligament)	ICD9
846.3	Sacrotuberous (ligament)	ICD9
846.8	Other specified sites of sacroiliac region	ICD9
M48.0	Spinal stenosis	ICD10
R20.8	Paresthesias - numbness	ICD10

		,				
Source	Variable	Measurement Given	Variable Type			
Visit characteristics						
EDIS	Time of	Working or nonworking	Binary			
	presentation	hours (8:00-17:00)				
EDIS	Time of	Weekend or Weekday	Binary			
	presentation					
EDIS	Pain intensity	Rating of 0-10 where 0 is no	Ordinal			
	score	pain and 10 is severe pain				
EDIS	Length of stay	Hours from triage to	Continuous			
		diagnosis code				
EDIS	Low back pain	Non-specific or Radicular /	Binary			
	diagnosis	Mechanical				
EDIS	Canadian Triage	1 (Resuscitation) (%)	Categorical			
	and Acuity Scale	2 (Emergent) (%)				
	Score	3 (Urgent) (%)				
		4 (Less Urgent) (%)				
		5 (Non-Urgent) (%)				
	Pa	atient Characteristics				
EDIS	Age	Measured in years from birth	Continuous			
		to visit				
EDIS	Sex	Male or Female	Binary			
EDIS	Availability of	Either has one or does not	Binary			
	primary care	have				
	provider					
CIMD derived	Economic	Rated as 1-5 where 1 is the	Ordinal			
from Statistics	Dependency	least deprived and 5 is the				
Canada method		most				
CIMD derived	Situational	Rated as 1-5 where 1 is the	Ordinal			
from Statistics	Vulnerability	least deprived and 5 is the				
Canada method		most				
CIMD derived	Ethnocultural	Rated as 1-5 where 1 is the	Ordinal			
from Statistics	Composition	least deprived and 5 is the				
Canada method	<b>D</b> 11 11	most				
CIMD derived	Residential	Rated as 1-5 where 1 is the	Ordinal			
from Statistics	Instability	least deprived and 5 is the				
Canada method		most				
	ED Dispensed Opioid Characteristics					
Pyx1s	Opioid Type	Hydromorphone, Morphine,	Categorical			
		Codeme or Tramadol				
Pyx1s	Dose	Measured in MME	Continuous			
Pyxis	Delivery Method	Oral or Parenteral	Binary			
Pyxis	Time to Opioid	Hours	Continuous			
	Pharmacy D	ispensed Opioid Characteristics				

#### Appendix C : Variables included in this study

DIS	Opioid Type	Hydromorphone, Morphine, Codeine or Tramadol	Ordinal
DIS	Dose	Measured as average MME/ Day	Continuous
DIS	Days' Supply	Measured in days	Continuous

## Apprendix D : Missingness in the both the full dataset and Pyxis dataset for QEII ED LBP patients attending from 2017-2020

Variable	Number Missing (%) Total	Number Missing (%) Pvxis
Pain Score	2568 (64%)	434 (79.2 %)
Level of Deprivation: Residential Instability (5 is highest instability)	31 (0.8%)	<5
Level of Deprivation: Economic Dependency (5 is highest	31 (0.8%)	<5
deprivation)		
Level of Deprivation: Ethnocultural Composition (5 is highest	31 (0.8%)	<5
diversity)		
Level of Deprivation: Situational Vulnerability (5 is highest	31 (0.8%)	<5
vulnerability)		

# Appendix E : DAG showing previously conceptualized relationships between sex and diagnosis of low back pain, and other variables



Appendix F : DAG showing previously conceptualized relationships between sex and receiving an opioid in the ED, and other variables



Appendix G : DAG showing previously conceptualized relationships between sex and filling an opioid after attending the ED, and other variables



#### Appendix H : Descriptive statistics (N, %, SD) for demographic and clinical differences between people who received a diagnosis of mechanical pain vs non-mechanical pain

Presentation Sex Age Level of Deprivation: Residential Instability (5 is highest instability) Level of Deprivation:	N (%) Women (%) Mean years (SD) Quintile 1 (%) Quintile 2 (%) Quintile 3 (%) Quintile 4 (%) Quintile 5 (%)	N = 4 027 2 048 (50.9%) 47.5 (18.2) 527 (13.0%) 492(12.2%) 326(8.1%)	1 373 (34.1%) 640 (46.6%) 45.5 (17.1) 187 (13.6%) 162 (11.8%)	2 651 (65.9%)           1 408 (53.1%)           48.6 (18.7)	P <0.001
Sex Age Level of Deprivation: Residential Instability (5 is highest instability) Level of Deprivation:	Women (%) Mean years (SD) Quintile 1 (%) Quintile 2 (%) Quintile 3 (%) Quintile 4 (%) Quintile 5 (%)	2 048 (50.9%) 47.5 (18.2) 527 (13.0%) 492(12.2%) 326(8.1%)	640 (46.6%) 45.5 (17.1) 187 (13.6%) 162 (11.8%)	1 408 (53.1%) 48.6 (18.7)	P <0.001
Age Level of Deprivation: Residential Instability (5 is highest instability) Level of Deprivation:	Mean years (SD) Quintile 1 (%) Quintile 2 (%) Quintile 3 (%) Quintile 4 (%) Quintile 5 (%)	47.5 (18.2) 527 (13.0%) 492(12.2%) 326(8.1%)	45.5 (17.1) 187 (13.6%) 162 (11.8%)	48.6 (18.7)	P<0.001
Level of Deprivation: Residential Instability (5 is highest instability) Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1 (%) Quintile 2 (%) Quintile 3 (%) Quintile 4 (%) Quintile 5 (%)	527 (13.0%) 492(12.2%) 326(8.1%)	187 (13.6%)		1 \0.001
Residential Instability (5 is highest instability) Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 2 (%) Quintile 3 (%) Quintile 4 (%) Quintile 5 (%)	492(12.2%) 326(8.1%)	162 (11 00/)	340 (12.8%)	P=0.91
(5 is highest instability) Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 3 (%) Quintile 4 (%) Quintile 5 (%)	326(8.1%)	102 (11.8%)	330 (12.5%)	
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 4 (%) Quintile 5 (%)		110 (8.0%)	215 (8.1%)	
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 5 (%)	513(12.7%)	179 (13.0%)	333 (12.6%)	
Level of Deprivation:		2138(53.1%)	724 (52.7%)	1413 (53.3%)	
1	Quintile 1 (%)	1845 (45.8%)	626 (45.6%)	1218 (45.9%)	P=0.81
Economic Dependency	Quintile 2 (%)	879 (21.8%)	297 (21.6%)	580 (21.9%)	
(5 is highest	Quintile 3 (%)	623 (15.5%)	219 (16.0%)	404 (15.2%)	
deprivation)	Quintile 4 (%)	457 (11.4%)	161 (11.7%)	296 (11.2%)	
_	Quintile 5 (%)	192 (4.8%)	59 (4.3%)	133 (5.0%)	
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1 (%)	82 (2.0%)	29 (2.1%)	53 (2.0%)	P=0.55
Ethnocultural	Quintile 2 (%)	149 (3.7%)	53 (3.9%)	96 (3.6%)	
Composition (5 is	Quintile 3 (%)	331 (8.2%)	116 (8.5%)	215 (8.1%)	
highest diversity)	Quintile 4 (%)	782 (19.4%)	284 (20.7%)	497 (18.8%)	
	Quintile 5 (%)	2652 (65.9%)	880 (64.1%)	1770 (66.8%)	
Level of Deprivation:	Quintile 1 (%)	1664 (41.3%)	548 (39.9%)	1116 (42.1%)	P=0.34
Situational	Quintile 2 (%)	877 (21.8%)	303 (22.1%)	573 (21.6%)	
Vulnerability (5 is	Quintile 3 (%)	590 (14.7%)	209 (15.2%)	380 (14.3%)	
highest vulnerability)	Quintile 4 (%)	394 (9.8%)	126 (9.2%)	267 (10.1%)	
	Quintile 5 (%)	471 (11.7%)	176 (12.8%)	295 (11.1%)	
Availability of Primary Care Provider	No (%)	565 (14.0%)	220 (16.0%)	344 (13.0)	P=0.008
Opioid Naive	Not prescribed opioids in past 6 months (%)	3811 (94.6%)	1327 (96.7%)	2484 (93.6%)	P<0.001
	Clinic	al Characteristics			
Presentation Time of Day	Presentation during working hours of 9:00-17:00 (%)	2189 (54.4%)	756 (55.1%)	1431 (54.0%)	P=0.51
Presentation on day of week	Presentation on weekday (%)	2949 (73.2%)	350 (25.5%)	728 (27.4%)	P=0.19
Pain intensity score	Mean (SD)	4.5 (3.4)	4.6 (3.3)	4.4 (3.4)	P=0.17
Length of Stav	Mean number of hours (SD)	3.62 (3.05)	3.20 (2.37)	3.85 (3.32)	P<0.001
Canadian Triage and	1 (Resuscitation) (%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	P=0.04
Acuity Scale	2  (Emergent) (%)	568 (14.1%)	177 (12.9%)	391 (14.7%)	
	3 (Urgent) (%)	2514 (62.4%)	840 (61.2%)	1674 (63.1%)	
	4 (Less Urgent) (%)	905 (22.5%)	341 (24.8%)	564 (21.3%)	
	5 (Non-Urgent) (%)	40 (1.0%)	15 (1.1%)	25 (0.9%)	
Filled DIS Drug	Yes (%)	710 (17.6%)	208 (15.2%)	502 (18.9%)	P=0.003
Opioid Type	Hydromorphone	414 (58 3%)	122 (58 7%)	292 (58 2%)	P=0.01
opiola Type	Morphine	129 (18 2%)	24 (11 5%)	105(20.9%)	1 0.01
	Codeine	118 (16.6%)	41 (19.7%)	77 (15.3%)	
	Tramadol	47 (6.6%)	20 (9.6%)	27 (5.4%)	
Onioid Type	Strong (%)	547 (76.8%)	148 (71.2%)	399 (79 2%)	P=0.02
Dose	Measured as average MME/	43.2 (28.6)	43.3 (28.2)	42.8 (29.7)	P=0.83
Davs' Supply	Measured in days Mean (SD)	57(64)	54(62)	58(65)	P=0.50
*denotes on Odd- Det	$\frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1} \frac{1}$	$\frac{J_{1}}{J_{1}}$	3.4 (0.2) **for 0.001 0.11	$\frac{1}{100}$	1 = 0.50

uppe cpr egory LI IJ. each categorical variable.

# Appendix I : Descriptive statistics (N, %, SD) for demographic and clinical differences between those who received an opioid in ED and those who did not who attended the QEII ED for LBP in the Pyxis Set

Predictor		Total	No Opioid	Opioid	Significance
Presentation	N	N = 548	420 (76.6%)	128 (23.4%)	
Sex	Women (%)	279 (50.9%)	206 (49.1%)	73 (57.0%)	P=0.11
Age	Mean years (SD)	48.1 (18.0)	47.7 (17.9)	49.6 (18.5)	P =0.32
Level of Deprivation: Residential Instability (5 is highest instability)	Quintile 1 (%) Quintile 2 (%) Quintile 3 (%) Quintile 4 (%) Quintile 5 (%)	56 (10.2%) 68 (12.4%) 43 (7.9%) 76 (13.9%) 303 (55.3%)	39 (9.3%) 52 (12.4%) 35 (8.3%) 58 (13.8%) 234 (55.7%)	17 (13.3%) 16 (12.5%) 8 (6.3%) 18 (14.1%) 69 (53.9%)	P = 0.71
Level of Deprivation: Economic Dependency (5 is highest deprivation)	Quintile 1 (%) Quintile 2 (%) Quintile 3 (%) Quintile 4 (%) Quintile 5 (%)	255 (46.5%) 128 (23.4%) 79 (14.4%) 56 (10.2%) 28 (5.1%)	205 (48.8%) 89 (21.2%) 60 (14.3%) 43 (10.3%) 21 (5.0%)	50 (39.1%) 39 (30.5%) 19 (14.8%) 13 (10.2%) 7 (5.5%)	P =0.22
Level of Deprivation: Ethnocultural Composition (5 is highest diversity)	Quintile 1 or 2(%) Quintile 3 (%) Quintile 4 (%) Quintile 5 (%)	34 (6.2%) 38 (6.9%) 101 (18.4%) 373 (68.1%)	26 (6.2%) 31 (7.4%) 76 (18.1%) 285 (67.9%)	8 (6.3%) 7 (5.5%) 25 (19.5%) 88 (68.8%)	P = 0.93
Level of Deprivation: Situational Vulnerability (5 is highest vulnerability)	Quintile 1 (%) Quintile 2 (%) Quintile 3 (%) Quintile 4 (%) Ouintile 5 (%)	240 (43.8%) 118 (21.5%) 81 (14.8%) 46 (8.4%) 61 (11.1%)	173 (41.2%) 86 (20.5%) 70 (16.7%) 38 (9.1%) 51 (12.1%)	67 (52.3%) 32 (25.0%) 11 (8.6%) 8 (6.3%) 10 (7.8%)	P = 0.03
Availability of Primary Care Provider	No (%)	77 (14.1%)	69 (16.4%)	8 (6.3%)	P = 0.003
Opioid Naïve	Not Opioid Naïve (%)	31 (5.7%)	17 (4.1 %)	14 (10.9%)	P=0.003
Presentation Time of Day	Presentation during working hours of 9:00- 17:00 (%)	Clinical Characteris 301 (54.9%)	stics 223 (53.1%)	78 (60.9%)	P = 0.12
Presentation on day of week	Presentation on weekday (%)	398 (72.6%)	303 (72.1%)	95 (74.2%)	P = 0.64
Pain intensity score	Mean (SD)	4.6 (3.1)	4.5 (3.3)	5.1 (2.6)	P = 0.30
Length of Stay	Mean number of hours (SD)	4.00 (2.82)	3.75 (2.44)	4.82 (3.70)	P <0.001
Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale	1 (Resuscitation) (%) 2 (Emergent) (%) 3 (Urgent) (%) 4 or 5 (Less Urgent and Non-Urgent) (%)	0 55 (10.0%) 386 (70.4%) 107 (19.5%)	- 33 (7.9%) 297 (70.7%) 90 (21.4%)	- 22 (17.2%) 89 (69.5%) 17 (13.3%)	P = 0.005
Mechanical Filled DIS Drug	Yes (%) Yes (%)	181 (33.0%) 94 (17.2%)	141 (33.6%) 35 (8.3%)	40 (31.3%) 59 (46.1%)	P = 0.60 P < 0.001

\* Data displayed as Mean (SD) represents the mean plus or minus the standard deviation. Data displayed as Number(percentage) denotes the number in the sample and the percentage within that group. Groups under 5 were not reported. Chi square tests conducted to investigate difference between the categorical variables. A proportion test was done for binary variables. A t-test was conducted for continuous variables. The data was checked to ensure the distribution was approximately normal, the sample size sufficient for the t-test, z-test, and the samples were assumed to be independently collected.

Predictor		Total	No Prescription	Prescription	P-value
Presentation	N (%)	N = 4 027	N =3 317 (81.5%)	N = 710 (17.4%)	
Sex	Women (%)	N = 2 048	1 710 (51.6%)	338 (47.6%)	P = 0.06
Age	Mean years (SD)	47.5 (18.2)	46.0 (17.9)	54.5 (18.1)	P <0.001
Level of	Quintile 1 (%)	527 (13.0%)	406 (12.2%)	121 (17.0%)	P =0.03
Deprivation:	Ouintile 2 (%)	492(12.2%)	406 (12.2%)	86 (12.1%)	
Residential	Quintile 3 (%)	326(8.1%)	280 (8.4%)	46 (6.5%)	
Instability (5 is	Quintile 4 (%)	513(12.7%)	413 (12.5%)	100 (14.1%)	
highest	Quintile 5 (%)	2138(53.1%)	1786 (53.8%)	352 (49.6%)	
instability)		· · · ·			
Level of	Quintile 1 (%)	1845 (45.8%)	1517 (45.7%)	328 (46.2%)	P=0.59
Deprivation:	Quintile 2 (%)	879 (21.8%)	724 (21.8%)	155 (21.8%)	
Economic	Quintile 3 (%)	623 (15.5%)	512 (15.4%)	111 (15.6%)	
Dependency (5 is	Ouintile 4 (%)	457 (11.4%)	386 (11.6%)	71 (10.0%)	
highest	Quintile 5 (%)	192 (4.8%)	152 (4.6%)	40 (5.6%)	
deprivation)			( )		
Level of	Quintile 1 (%)	82 (2.0%)	73 (2.2%)	9 (1.3%)	P=0.21
Deprivation:	Quintile 2 (%)	149 (3.7%)	127 (3.8%)	22 (3.1%)	
Ethnocultural	Quintile 3 (%)	331 (8.2%)	272 (8.2%)	59 (8.3%)	
Composition (5 is	Quintile 4 (%)	782 (19.4%)	656 (19.8%)	126 (17.8%)	
highest diversity)	Quintile 5 (%)	2652 (65.9%)	2163 (65.2%)	489 (68.9%)	
Level of	Quintile 1 (%)	1664 (41.3%)	1328 (40.4%)	336 (47.3%)	P = 0.001
Deprivation:	Quintile 2 (%)	877 (21.8%)	717 (21.6%)	160 (22.5%)	
Situational	Quintile 3 (%)	590 (14.7%)	500 (15.1%)	90 (12.7%)	
Vulnerability (5	Quintile 4 (%)	394 (9.8%)	338 (10.2%)	56 (7.9%)	
is highest	Quintile 5 (%)	471 (11.7%)	408 (12.3%)	63 (8.9%)	
vulnerability)					
Availability of	No (%)	565 (14.0%)	522 (15.7%)	43 (6.1%)	P < 0.001
Primary Care		· · · ·	. ,		
Provider					
Presentation	Presentation during	2189 (54.4%)	1776 (46.4%)	413 (58.2 %)	P = 0.02
Time of Day	working hours of 9:00-	· · · ·		. ,	
-	17:00 (%)				
Presentation on	Presentation on weekday	2949 (73.2%)	881 (26.6%)	197 (27.7%)	P = 0.51
day of week	(%)				
Pain intensity	Mean (SD)	4.5 (3.4)	4.5 (3.4)	4.2 (3.6)	P=0.17
score					
Length of Stay	Mean number of hours	3.62 (3.05)	3.40 (2.65)	4.67 (4.33)	P < 0.001
	(SD)	· ·			
Canadian Triage	1 (Resuscitation) (%)	0 (0%)	-	-	P < 0.001
and Acuity Scale	2 (Emergent) (%)	568 (14.1%)	403 (12.2%)	165 (23.2%)	
-	3 (Urgent) (%)	2514 (62.4%)	2064 (62.2%)	450 (63.4%)	
	4 or 5 (Less Urgent orNon-	945 (23.5%)	850 (25.6%)	95 (13.4%)	
	Urgent) (%)				
Mechanical Pain	Yes (%)	1372 (34.1%)	1164 (35.1%)	208 (29.3%)	P=002
Diagnosis			. ,	. /	
Opioid Naive	Not prescribed opioids in	3811 (94.6%)	3269 (98.6%)	542 (76.3%)	P < 0.001
	past 6 months (%)				

### Appendix J : Descriptive statistics (N, %, SD) for demographic and clinical differences between those who filled a prescription after attending the OFILED for LBP

\* Data displayed as Mean (SD) represents the mean plus or minus the standard deviation. Data displayed as Number(percentage) denotes the number in the sample and the percentage within that group. Groups under 5 were not reported. Chi square tests conducted to investigate difference between the categorical variables. A proportion test was done for binary variables. A t-test was conducted for continuous variables. The data was checked to ensure the distribution was approximately normal, the sample size sufficient for the t-test, z-test, and the samples was assumed to be independently collected.

#### Appendix K : Knowledge Translation

The findings from this study will be submitted to a peer reviewed journal in the fields of epidemiology and health services research, and to a journal focusing on substance use or pain medicine. I will present my findings at the Canadian Biostatistics and Epidemiology Conference in June.

#### Appendix L : Funding

This study was funded by the Canadian Institute of Health Research graduate scholarship.